Palaeoenvironmental constraints on the diversity of eutherian terrestrial mammals through the Cenozoic of South America, and the emergence of the modern-day latitudinal biodiversity gradient on the continent

Miranta Kouvari



Submitted for examination for the degree of Master of Philosophy (MPhil) at UCL

I, Miranta Kouvari confirm that the work presented in this thesis is my own. Where information has been derived from other sources, I confirm that this has been indicated in the thesis.

Abstract

South America has a unique geobiological history that is at heightened risk from the current climate emergency. Its fossil record provides empirical evidence of long-term interactions between biodiversity and climate, but our understanding of South America's faunal evolution is still in its infancy. Applying subsampling and Bayesian approaches to a comprehensive dataset of South American terrestrial eutherian mammal fossil occurrences, I demonstrate increases in diversity throughout the Paleogene, resulting from several intervals of high speciation rate. The remainder of the Cenozoic is characterized by greater variability, including a diversity peak in the late Miocene and pulses of heightened extinction rate in the Plio-Pleistocene. These results suggest that the present-day latitudinal biodiversity gradient first appeared in South America in the Plio-Pleistocene, at a similar time as proposed for North American mammals. This appears to have been driven by a decline in mean annual temperatures at higher latitudes in South America, in tandem with an increase in precipitation at lower latitudes that might have been accentuated by Andean uplift in the Pleistocene. Although the Great American Biotic Interchange played a role, Andean uplift appears to have been the primary underlying mechanism driving eutherian diversity patterns in the Cenozoic, radically reshaping the continent's climate and habitats.

Impact Statement

South America is one of the most affected continents from the ongoing climate crisis and biodiversity loss. It also has a unique geobiological history, with the evolution of the Andes greatly influencing regional climate and reshaping habitats, as well as a 55 million-year-long isolation from all neighbouring landmasses, until the formation of the Isthmus of Panama in the Neogene. The continent's mammalian fauna, one of the most diverse today, also mirrors its unique geological and climatic history. It is composed of endemic groups that evolved during its long isolation (including xenarthrans: armadillos, anteaters and sloths), groups that arrived in the

Paleogene (caviomorph rodents, including capybaras, and platyrrhine monkeys), as well as North American emigrants, including mammoths (proboscideans), alpacas, and llamas (artiodactyls), which reached the continent with the formation of the Isthmus of Panama during the Great American Biotic Interchange in the Neogene. South America is an amazing case study of the long-term interactions of biodiversity with climate and habitat changes. However, only a few studies focus on that, especially compared to other continents like North America, that are well studied. Major knowledge gaps still exist, including the impact of geologically long-term climatic change on the continent's mammals.

This thesis aims to fill some of those knowledge gaps and sheds light on the interaction of biodiversity and environment in the last 66 million years. This is done using one of the most comprehensive, and highly curated datasets, that includes the majority of published fossil eutherian mammal occurrences from across South America, and updated geological formation and South American Land Mammal ages, at the time of the analyses. I also utilised palaeoenvironmental data produced by some of the latest versions of the HadCM3 climate models, developed by the UK Meteorological Office. A combination of novel analyses is used to explore the macroevolutionary patters through time and space. The results provide points of comparison with biodiversity patterns of other continents, and can reinforce notions I already had formed regionally, like the appearance of the present-day latitudinal biodiversity pattern that was found likely taking place almost parallel in South America and the neighbouring North America. This thesis also highlights the importance of South American eutherian mammals, that, while representing important stages of eutherian evolution, are not well known to the public, even on that continent (often overshadowed by the popularity of dinosaurs). This thesis provides a narrative of their evolution, that can prove useful for scientific outreach, and public engagement on topics such as evolution, and past climate crises.

The fossil record provides the only empirical evidence of the biodiversityclimate link, and thus these results are relevant not only inside, but outside the academic world. This thesis provides context for the current climate and biodiversity crisis, something that is important for better informed decision-

3

making, and policy-designing to tackle the current and future climate crisis and biodiversity loss. Something that cannot be done without the collaboration between the academic and non-academic world.

Acknowledgments

I am grateful to all those that have generated and published on South American fossil mammal data, as well as those that have contributed to incorporating these data into the Paleobiology Database. I thank Lewis Jones for his constructive feedback on the scripts, and his non-stop support, Juan Carrillo for his understanding, patience, and for sharing his expertise on South American mammals and his comments and suggestions on the text. I also thank Grace Varnham for her contribution to data entering South American mammal data in the Paleobiology Database, and Alex Farnsworth, for giving me access to the HadCM3BL-M2.1aD modelproduced palaeoenvironmental and topographical data. I thank all the PhD students and post-docs that have been around me and supporting me at Imperial, UCL, the NHM, and outside, and especially Cecily Nicholl, for always being there for me. Finally, I thank my supervisors, Phil Mannion and Anjali Goswami, especially the former, for the support, guidance, and opportunities that they offered me throughout my degree.

Table of contents

Abstract	2
Impact Statement	2
Acknowledgments	4
Table of contents	5
Introduction	7
Eutherian mammals	9
The end of the Mesozoic era	13
The onset of the Cenozoic	15
The Paleocene/Eocene Thermal Maximum (PETM)	16
The formation of the Drake Passage separating South Ame Antarctica	erica and
The end of the Paleogene and "the Patagonian Hinge"	18
South American eutherian mammals	20
South American Native Ungulates (SANUs)	21
Xenarthra	22
Paleogene arrival of Caviomorpha and Plattyrhini	25
South American Land Mammal Ages (SALMA)	25
Neogene climate cooling and aridification	27
Habitat shift towards grasslands	
The reconnection with North America, and the arrival of North America, and the arrival of North A	American 30
The Great American Biotic Interchange (GABI)	
The effect of the Andean orogeny on South American climate and	d habitats 41
The Latitudinal Biodiversity Gradient (LBG)	43
Fossil record bias	

Aims of this thesis5	1
Material and Methods5	2
Occurrence dataset5	2
Collection stratigraphic ages and time binning5	3
Latitudinal binning5	4
Palaeoenvironmental and topographic datasets5	4
Raw taxonomic counts, sampling, and alpha diversity5	6
Sampling-corrected diversity and diversification rates5	8
Coverage-based rarefaction5	8
PyRate6	0
Correlation tests6	1
Results and Discussion	2
Observed diversity patterns6	2
Sampling-corrected diversity patterns6	3
Tectonic, environmental, and biotic drivers6	7
The emergence of the present-day latitudinal biodiversity gradient7	1
Conclusion7	5
References7	6
Supplementary Information15	7

Introduction

We are in the midst of a human-induced global climate and environmental emergency, in which many species are experiencing substantial population declines (Almond et al., 2020; Ceballos et al., 2017) with extinction rates notably higher than those of the past (Barnosky et al., 2011; Ceballos et al., 2015; Pimm et al., 2014).

Species are threatened to extinction, or have already gone extinct locally or worldwide (IUCN, 2020; Wiens, 2016). The impact of global change can also be seen in shifts in the distribution and phenotypes of living organisms in land and water (Blois & Hadly, 2009; Kannan & James, 2009; Parmesan, 2006; Parmesan & Yohe, 2003). In Antarctica, one of the fastest warming places on Earth, ice sheet decrease has led to a chain reaction: a decrease of ocean ice algae led to a decline in krill populations which in turn radically affected the modern distribution of their larger predators (like whales) (Atkinson et al., 2019). In the lower latitudes, the shift of tropical habitats towards more temperate regions (Rajaud & Noblet-Ducoudré, 2017) has led to migrations of tropical insects and birds towards more temperate regions (Paulson, 2001) or to higher elevations respectively (Freeman et al., 2018) in the expense of the faunas already occupying those regions.

Predicted temperature increases of 2–5°C over the next 100 years (IPCC (Intergovernmental Panel Climate Change) Core Writing Team, 2021) reinforces the importance of understanding how biodiversity will respond to climatic changes in order to take appropriate conservation measures. Although these long-term biodiversity responses can be modelled, only the fossil record provides empirical evidence of this relationship between biodiversity and climate (Blois & Hadly, 2009). Climate change is common in Earth's history and some periods are potentially analogous to those of today e.g. the early Eocene (~50 millions ago; Ma) and the middle Pliocene warm period (~3.3-3 Ma) (Burke et al., 2018). The fossil record is thus especially pertinent given that the accelerating present-day biodiversity crisis will have an impact that extends millions of years into the future (Davis et al., 2018).

Mammals are a taxonomically and morphologically diverse group, with a wide range of sizes, from the Etruscan shrew (weighing only 1.8gr) (Jürgens, 2002) to the largest mammal, the blue whale (~30m in length and weighting ~136,000 kg) (Sears & Calambokidis, 2002). They also take up various important ecological roles in ecosystems (predators, scavengers, seed dispersers etc.) all around the world (Archibald & Rose, 2005; Blois & Hadly, 2009).

Mammals occupy essential roles in ecosystems worldwide but 32% of the 5969 species are in population decline, with 30% identified as at risk of extinction (IUCN, 2020). In particular, ecologically specialised (Brodie et al., 2021) and large-bodied mammalian species (Tilman et al., 2017) are thought to be at highest risk. Climate is thought to have played an important role in the 150 million year (Myr) evolutionary history of eutherian mammals, the group that includes extant placentals, as documented by their remarkable fossil record (Blois & Hadly, 2009; Brodie, 2018; Figueirido et al., 2012; Madden, 1995; Theodoridis et al., 2020).

Of all the continents today, the ongoing climate emergency has the largest documented impact on Central and South American vertebrates, with 94% of species showing population declines over the last five decades (Almond et al., 2020). South America has an exceptional geobiological history, which includes the formation and uplift of the Andes, the longest mountain chain on Earth today, affecting the entire continent's climate, habitats, and likely driving numerous diversification events over the last 80 Myr (Boschman, 2021; Boschman & Condamine, 2022; Hoorn, Wesselingh, ter Steege, et al., 2010). The continent's ~55 Myr-long isolation from all neighbouring landmasses (Livermore et al., 2005; Wilf et al., 2013) has led to the evolution an endemic fauna consisting of xenarthrans (sloths, armadillos, anteaters etc.), the now extinct South American Native Ungulates (SANUs), as well as the Paleogene introduction of caviomorph rodents and platyrrhine monkeys, potentially through transoceanic rafting (Antoine et al., 2012; Bond et al., 2015). Isolation ended with the formation of the Isthmus of Panama and the invasion of North American emigrants (including species that are now considered characteristic to the continent, like alpacas and llamas), during the Great American Biotic Interchange (GABI) in the Pliocene (Carrillo et al., 2020; Cione et al., 2015a; Domingo et al., 2020; Marshall et al., 1982; Morgan, 2008; Soibelzon et al., 2019; Webb, 1976; Woodburne et al., 2006).

Despite South America's grave present-day situation and exceptional geobiological history, our knowledge of the continent's faunal evolution is still in its infancy, limiting our understanding of how the present-day distribution of biodiversity was assembled. Major knowledge gaps still exist, including the impact of geologically long-term climatic change on the continent's mammals.

Most groups of South American mammals are characterized by a latitudinal biodiversity gradient (LBG), in which species richness increases towards the Equator (Fergnani and Ruggiero, 2015; Kaufman, 1995; Stevens et al., 2019; this thesis [Supplementary Information or SI section 14]). Understanding what drives this global, first-order pattern remains one of the great challenges of macroecology. However, a modern-type gradient has not always been present in geological time (e.g. Mannion et al., 2014; Marcot et al., 2016), and it remains unclear when the LBG formed in South America. Consequently, the relative roles of climate, Andean uplift, and the GABI on shaping South America's LBG have never been tested, but could illuminate our understanding of its emergence. These will be the points of focus of this thesis.

Eutherian mammals

Eutheria (including Placentalia) is the most abundant mammalian group today, the others being Metatheria (including Marsupialia) and Prototheria (including Monotremata) (McKenna & Bell, 1997; Novacek, 1992) (Figure 2 and 3). The definitions of these names have been modified through time but more recently, authors consider Placentalia to include all extant placentals and their most recent common ancestor, whereas Eutheria includes Placentalia and the rest of the extinct mammals sharing a more common ancestor with placentals than with metatherians (Novacek, 1992; Archibald, 2001; Ji et al., 2002; Luo et al., 2011; O'Leary et al., 2013)). Eutherians differ from the other groups with their relatively long gestation periods and birth of their offspring in a late stage of development (Archibald, 2001). Archibald & Rose (2005) noted that: "Although evolutionary success is a difficult if not impossible concept to define, we believe we know it when we see it. This is the case with the placentals, the clade of mammals to which we belong." In order to understand how climate influences faunas worldwide, eutherians are a great case to study.



Figure 1: Mammaliaform topology and stratigraphic distribution (bars) of mammals based on figure 1 of (Luo, 2007) except for the first appearance of eutherians and metatherians where the later discovery of *Juramaia sinensis* pushed the groups back to the Jurassic (Luo et al., 2011). L = Late, M = Middle, E = Early

Today's diversity is just a small part of the group's evolutionary history. The origin of eutherians and placentals has been pushed back in time with new fossil discoveries (Figure 1 and 2). It was previously thought that the first eutherians dated to the Late Cretaceous with, for example, the discovery of an eutherian-dominated fauna in Uzbekistan (Archibald et al., 1998). However, the first appearance of eutherians has been pushed further back with the discovery of eutherian mammal remains from the Early Cretaceous of China (e.g. Bi et al., 2018; Hu et al., 2010; Ji et al., 2002)) and Mongolia (Rougier et al., 1998). Finally, the discovery of the eutherian *Juramaia*

sinensis, a fossil specimen dating to 160 Ma from China, pushed back the first appearance of the group to the Late Jurassic (Luo et al., 2011) (Figure 1). Molecular studies showed older divergence times between metatherians and eutherians (e.g. van Rheede et al. (2006), but more recent studies show that Eutheria first appeared 168–178 Ma (dos Reis et al., 2012), thus making molecular results in closer accordance with fossil data. We might still have a long way to go about learning about the first appearance of eutherians; however, we know that eutherian mammals had reached the whole world by the K/Pg boundary, 66 Ma (except Australasia and Antarctica, although these might represent sampling failures, rather than true absences) (Archibald & Rose, 2005).

Similarly, the age of the first placental eutherians has also been a subject to debate. Beck and Lee (2014) put the appearance of placentals in the Late Jurassic to Early Cretaceous, an age considerably earlier than that proposed by other molecular or fossil-based studies. Kumar and Hedges (1998) and Murphy et al. (2001) also put the origin of placentals before 100 Ma. On the other side of the spectrum, O'Leary et al. (2013) propose a post K/Pg origination of placentals (Figure 1 and 2). However, most studies propose a Late Cretaceous origin for placentals, more or less close to the K/Pg boundary (examples Archibald (1996), Springer et al. (2007), dos Reis et al. (2012) and Upham et al. (2019)). In any case, at 65-45 Ma most placental orders appeared and by the early Eocene all modern placental orders (along with their various functional adaptations) were already established (dos Reis et al., 2012; Rose, 2006).

In South America in particular, we have fossil remains of mammaliaforms and mammals from Chubut, like the ichnofauna from Santa Cruz, dating back to the Middle Jurassic (Casamiquela, 1961), as well as *Asfaltomylos* and *Henosferus* (Martin & Rauhut, 2005; Rauhut et al., 2002; Rougier et al., 2007) and *Condorodon* (Gaetano & Rougier, 2012) dating back to the Late Jurassic. Numerous other similar fossils from the Jurassic and Cretaceous have been located around the continent (see Rougier et al. (2021) for a comprehensive review), like the non-therian mammal *Vincelestes neuquenianus* (advanced pre-tribosphenic mammal) from the Early Cretaceous (Bonaparte, 1986), and some dryolestoids endemic to the continent (Pascual & Ortiz-Jaureguizar, 2007).



Figure 2: Phylogenetic relationships between Eutheria, and their stratigraphic ranges (bars). The topology of extant placentals follows the molecular analysis of O'Leary et al.

(2013), except for the placental root that was taken from Halliday et al. (2017). According to the latter (morphological analyses with molecular constraints), the early placental split between Atlantogenata and Boreaotheria is supported (instead of an Epitheria/Exafroplacentalia split with a xenarthran root, supported by O'Leary et al. (2013)). The position of the extinct placental clades follows Halliday et al. (2017) except for South American ungulates (grouping Notoungulata, Litopterna and Astrapotheria, sister group of Perissodactyla), the position and topology of which comes from Welker et al. (2015). Stratigraphic ranges of eutherian mammals: For extant groups, the first appearance in the fossil record comes from O'Leary et al. (2013) (for those, black and grey indicate the stratigraphic range of the crown and stem of the group). Stem eutherians last appearance takes place in the Paleogene (Paleobiology Database) but their stratigraphic range might have also extended in the Neogene. The stratigraphic range of Arctostylopidae comes from Cifelli et al. (1989). Apheliscidae have a Paleocene to Eocene distribution Zack et al. (2005) and others. Creodonta (including Oxyaenidae and Hyaenodontidae) have a Paleocene to late Miocene distribution (Gunnell, 1998). Mioclanidae is considered a synonym of Hyopsontidae according to Rose et al. (2012) and the latter have a Paleocene to Eocene distribution (Paleobiology Database). Pleuraspidotheriidae, Phenacodontidae, Palaeanodonta (Paleobiology Database), Pantodonta (Halliday et al., 2017) and Mesonychia (Morlo et al., 2013) also have a Paleocene-Eocene distribution. Triisodontidae and Periptychidae have a Paleocene distribution (Paleobiology database and McKenna and Bell (1997)).

The end of the Mesozoic era

The end of the Mesozoic era, 66 Ma (Renne et al., 2015; Schulte et al., 2010) was marked with the fifth mass extinction (Alroy, 2010c; Benton, 1985; Foote, 2000; Raup & Sepkoski, 1982). Prior to the event, there were no universal diversity patterns: a small decline in diversity was found in pterosaurs (Butler et al., 2013; Longrich et al., 2018), lissamphibians (Close et al., 2020a) and crocodylomorphs (de Celis et al., 2019; Mannion et al., 2015, 2019); however, no similar pattern was found for dinosaurs (Chiarenza et al., 2019; Fastovsky et al., 2004; Mannion et al., 2011; Upchurch et al., 2011). The fossil record of other groups, such as lepidosaurs, is not good enough to permit robust inferences of diversity shifts (Cleary et al., 2018).

During this extinction event, non-avian dinosaurs, pterosaurs, plesiosaurs and mosasaurs went extinct, along with ammonoids, belemnites and other important invertebrate groups (Archibald, 1996; Bambach, 2006; Macleod et al., 1997; Novacek, 1999). As for the groups that persisted into the Cenozoic, some declined in diversity – for example squamates (Longrich et al., 2012), insects (Labandeira et al., 2002) and plants (Vajda & Bercovici, 2014; Wilf & Johnson, 2004). Others seem to have been less affected – for example turtles (Ferreira et al., 2018; Lyson et al., 2011) and crocodylomorphs (Brochu, 2003; Mannion et al., 2015).

Eutherians and metatherians increased in diversity worldwide, relative to other mammalian groups, in the last stages of the Cretaceous (Bennett et al., 2018; Grossnickle & Newham, 2016; Grossnickle & Polly, 2013; Halliday & Goswami, 2016; Williamson et al., 2014; Wilson, 2013; Wilson et al., 2012). This seems to have been followed by a decline in mammalian diversity through the K/Pg boundary (Alroy, 1999; Longrich et al., 2016; Wilson, 2013).

That time was characterised by Pangean breakup, and a series of land bridges connected some of the continents during the Late Cretaceous (Figure 3). South America was still connected to North America (as well as Antarctica and Australia) (Wilf et al. (2013) and references therein). Two migration episodes took place in the continent, with a ~9 million year (Myr) gap in between, during the latest Cretaceous and earliest Paleogene: the "Gondwanan episode" including very brief non therian radiations, and the following "South American episode" (Pascual & Ortiz-Jaureguizar, 2007).

Although there has been some older evidence of therian and tribosphenic mammals in the continent (*Ameghinichnus paragonicus* from the Late Jurassic, found along with fossils of the oldest found tribosphenic mammal in the continent (Rauhut et al., 2002), it is considered that the first therian mammals reached South America during the latter event, reaching the continent through North America. This event has also been called the 'First American Biotic Interchange' (FABI) (Goin, et al., 2012a) (Figure 6), and probably included multiple immigration events and a subsequent radiation (Gelfo et al., 2009) that resulted in the decline of all non-therian mammals present there (Goin, et al., 2012a), although some survived until later, e.g., *Greniodon* from the early-middle Eocene of Chubut (Goin, et al., 2012b) and

Necrolestes from the early-middle Miocene (Averianov et al., 2013; Chimento et al., 2012; Rougier et al., 2012)

South America became isolated from North America swiftly after the event, while it remained connected to Antarctica (and Australia) until the formation of the Drake Passage in the Eocene (see dedicated section). The South American faunas evolved in this isolation until the reconnection with North America via the Isthmus of Panama, when the Great American Biotic Interchange (GABI) took place ~ 5 Ma (see dedicated section).

The onset of the Cenozoic

The Cenozoic has also been considered as the "age of mammals" because of the explosive radiation and diversification of mammals characterising that era (Marshall, 1982; Rose, 2006; Simpson, 1937). More specifically, a very important eutherian diversification took place during the early Cenozoic, with the occupation of niches previously taken by dinosaurs, but recently vacated following the K/Pg mass extinction event (Kemp, 2005; Luo, 2007). An exceptional increase in eutherian diversity, body size and functional adaptations of eutherians took place during the Paleocene (Alroy, 1999; Archibald & Deutschman, 2001; Benson et al., 2016; Close et al., 2017; Emerling et al., 2018; Grossnickle & Newham, 2016; Halliday et al., 2016, 2019; Halliday & Goswami, 2016; O'Leary et al., 2013).

While the Cretaceous had higher concentrations of CO₂, a warmer climate (Beerling et al., 2002; Royer, 2006) and a weak latitudinal temperature gradient (Huber et al., 2002; Wolfe & Upchurch, 1987), the Cenozoic (~66 Ma till today) is characterised by climate cooling that followed the Paleocene-Eocene Thermal Maximum (PETM; see dedicated section), and the transition from a greenhouse world to an icehouse world that started during the Eocene-Oligocene (~33.9 Ma) with the formation of permanent ice-sheets in both poles (Westerhold et al., 2020; Zachos et al., 2008) (Figure 3).

The Paleocene/Eocene Thermal Maximum (PETM)

At the Paleocene/Eocene boundary, 56 Ma, a negative excursion of δ^{18} O, shifts in Mg/Ca ratios recorded in benthic and planktonic foraminifera and biomarkers (e.g. leaf margins and oxygen isotopes on fish scales and mammal teeth) show a rapid global warming event of ~5-8 °C leading to a temperature maximum (of the whole Cenozoic, worldwide). This event is called the Paleocene-Eocene Thermal Maximum (PETM) (Fricke & Wing, 2004; Sluijs et al., 2006; Tripati & Elderfield, 2005; Weijers et al., 2007; Westerhold et al., 2020; Zachos et al., 2003, 2006, 2008) (Figure 3). This was coupled with a carbon cycle perturbation (McInerney & Wing, 2011) and with the lowest equator-to-poles temperature gradient of the past 55 Myr (Moran et al., 2006; Westerhold et al., 2020). This event was relatively short (Jaramillo et al., 2010; Westerhold et al., 2009), ~150-170 kyrs warming event. A longer 5 Myr max warm period – sometimes called Early Eocene Climatic Optimum or EECO followed (Kennett & Stott, 1991; Mudelsee et al., 2014; Stott et al., 1990).

A gradual global cooling followed the EECO event (Passchier et al., 2013; Westerhold et al., 2020; Zachos et al., 2008) and was marked with the replacement of early Cenozoic mammal faunas with "modern" ones, from the Paleocene to the Eocene transition (Janis, 1993; Prothero, 1994) (Figure 3). The Eocene is characterised by two phases of cooling separated by the Middle Eocene Climatic Optimum (MECO) that took place ~ 40 Ma (Miller et al., 1987; Mudelsee et al., 2014; Tripati et al., 2005) (Figure 3).

Intense global cooling continued at the Eocene/Oligocene boundary (see examples of local studies: Schouten et al. (2008); Hren et al., 2013)), in parallel to the forming of the Drake Passage 41 (Scher & Martin (2006); see dedicated section and Figure 3), but also the Tasmanian Passage 33.5 Ma (Kuhnt et al., 2004), resulting in formerly isolated deep cold Arctic waters entering the Atlantic (Potter & Szatmari, 2009). The continuing global cooling is also linked with the appearance of permanent ice-sheets in Antarctica (Miller et al., 1987; Mudelsee et al., 2014; Prothero et al., 2003). This event includes the Early Oligocene Glacial Maximum (EOGM) that took place ~33.7 Ma and was followed by a partial recovery period of relative warm conditions (Zachos et al., 1996).

The fossil record shows evidence that this abrupt and short global warming event, as well as the following cooling, had an impact on the faunas and floras of that time globally (e.g. Wing et al. (2005) for plants, and Currano et al. (2008) for insects). Unfortunately, while the fossil record indicates the appearance of modern mammalian clades like Artiodactyla, Perissodactyla, and Primata, and important dispersions during that time (Blois & Hadly, 2009; Gingerich, 2006), our knowledge is mostly restricted to the northern hemisphere, as the southern hemisphere fossil record is scarce (Gingerich, 2006; Rose, 2006).

The formation of the Drake Passage separating South America and Antarctica

The terrestrial fossil record is scarce in Antarctica; however, there is evidence that South America and Antarctica were linked landmasses (Lawver et al., 1992) through the Weddelian isthmus (Reguero et al., 2014) and that it served as an evolutionary centre as well as a stepping stone towards Australia, until its disconnection (Vizcaíno et al., 1998).

Ice-sheets were not present in all of Antarctica either (Dingle et al., 1998; Dutton et al., 2002) and especially the lower latitudes were mostly ice-free till the middle Eocene (Ehrmann & Mackensen, 1992). Barreda and Palazzesi (2007) and Francis et al. (2007), studying the palaeoflora found evidence of a climatic deterioration of Antarctica through the Paleogene and Vizcaíno et al. (1997) show that by the middle Eocene and until the Oligocene, the habitat should have still been suitable for mammals.

All this permitted the dispersion of mammals from South America to Antarctica (and some to Australia as well) (Olivero et al., 1991; Reguero et al., 2002; Reguero & Marenssi, 2010). Most terrestrial mammal fossil remains are found in the La Meseta Formation on Seymour Island and come from the early Eocene (see Carlini et al. (1990); Reguero et al. (2002); Bond et al. (2011) for the first placentals) – the oldest mammal fossil dating from ~55.3 Ma (Gelfo et al., 2015). This fauna is found closely related to that of Patagonia (Reguero et al., 2002; Reguero & Marenssi, 2010) but shows high endemicity (Vizcaíno et al., 1998). Marsupials reached Australia via Antarctica during the time these continents were linked (Woodburne & Case, 1996) and there is evidence of the South American origin of Australian marsupials (see for example Kirsch et al. (1991); Arnason et al. (2002); Meredith et al. (2008)).

Patagonia (southern South America) transformed from a shallow sea, due to an Atlantic transgression (Scasso et al., 2012; Spalletti & Franzese, 2007), to a series of caldera-lakes, due to the intensified volcanism linked to the later formation of the Drake Passage. The formation of the Drake passage resulted in the separation of South America and Antarctica – the sea floor extension begun ~55 Ma with the gradual transformation of land to a shallow sea, an increase in separation rate ~50 Ma (Livermore et al., 2005) and the complete formation happened ~36 Ma (Barker & Burrell, 1977; Dalziel & Elliot, 1982; Diester-Haass & Zahn, 1996; Ehrmann & Mackensen, 1992; Lawver et al., 1992; Woodburne & Zinsmeister, 1984) (Figure 4 and 5). The Drake Passage led to the development of the Circumpolar current (Livermore et al., 2004) that enhanced the existing cooling, aridification and the rapid expansion of ice-sheets on Antarctica (Goin, et al., 2012a; Passchier et al., 2013). The halt of mammalian dispersion should have followed the early stages of the Drake passage formation (Requero et al., 2014). On the other side, Antarctica and Australia were separated ~30 Ma (Veevers, 1991) (Figure 4 and 5).

The end of the Paleogene and "the Patagonian Hinge"

The Paleogene/Eocene cooling has been linked to a faunal turnover event called the Terminal Eocene Event or TEE (Blois & Hadly, 2009) that is more traditionally known from Europe and Asia, with studies referring to it as the "Grande Coupure" ("Great Cut") in Europe (Agusti & Antón, 2002; Kemp, 2005; Prothero, 1994; Rose, 2006) as well as the "Mongolian Remodelling" (Meng & McKenna, 1998). There is evidence of this event also taking place in South America, and it is named "the Patagonian Hinge" (bisagra patagonica, hinge referring to the fauna shift) (Goin et al., 2010) (Figure 4). This is mostly known from the South American marsupial fossil record, from localities such as Gran Barranca in Patagonia (Abello et al., 2018; Goin et al., 2018)

al., 2016; Goin, et al., 2012b), where faunas shifted from an omnivorous, insectivorous, frugivorous diet towards herbivory, especially granivory (Goin et al., 2010).





the Andean region 55Ma). Key palaeogeographic events of the Cenozoic are shown: the Beringia and Thulean route is shown on the map of 55 Ma, the opening of the Drake passage on the map of 40 Ma, the opening of the Tasmania passage on the map of 30 Ma, the Indonesian gateway restriction on the map of 25 Ma, the closure of the South-East Mediterranean seaway at 10 Ma and the formation of the Panama Isthmus possibly around (or after) 5 Ma. Blue hues represent bodies of water (with colour getting darker with depth) and orange/red hues represent land (with red representing higher altitudes). Brikiatis (2014) reviewed the multiple hypotheses on the presence and timing of land bridges and suggested that two land bridges were present during the PETM: the Thulean route (connecting Europe with North America via Greenland) and the Beringia route (connecting East Asia and North America) and the presence of which is also accepted by (Prothero, 1994; Ting, 1998; Agusti and Antón, 2002; Kemp, 2005) and others. The De Geer route linking Greenland with Fennoscandia during the Late Cretaceous, and at the K/Pg boundary the Beringia linking East Asia and North America (Brikiatis, 2014)) between Laurasian palaeocontinents and the beginning of collision of India to Eurasia (Seton et al., 2012). (B) International chronostratigraphy (ICS, 2020) in Ma. (C) A summary of the climatic changes (Zachos et al. 2008; Westerhold et al., 2020) that took place worldwide during the Cenozoic. All are mentioned throughout the text along with their citations.

The Paleogene ended with the ongoing climate cooling in the Oligocene (Lear et al., 2004; Lyle et al., 2008; Miller et al., 1987; Westerhold et al., 2020; Zachos et al., 2001) and a second glaciation step (or strong glaciation) at the Oligocene/Miocene boundary where the Antarctic ice-cap has already fully formed (Miller et al., 1991; Mudelsee et al., 2014; Shevenell & Kennett, 2007) (Figure 4). The restriction of the Indonesian Gateway (between Borneo and New Guinea connecting Pacific to Indian ocean) took place 25 Ma (Kuhnt et al., 2004) (Figure 5). Now that there is some context on the South American landmass geological and climatic past, it is time to mention more about the actual South American eutherian mammals that are the focus of this thesis.

South American eutherian mammals

The continent's extended isolation led to the evolution of an endemic fauna. The fossil record in scarce on the continent at the beginning of the Cenozoic, it includes, however, key representatives for placental evolution, like the basal pantodont *Alcidedorbignya inopinata* from the early Paleocene of Bolivia (de Muizon et al., 2015). There were two main endemic placental mammal groups, that existed along marsupials that were also endemic to South America throughout the Cenozoic. Those two placental groups were Xenarthra and Meridiungulata or South American Native Ungulates or SANUs (Figure 4).

South American Native Ungulates (SANUs)

Meridiungulata groups all South American ungulates (hooved mammals), of which no representative survives today (Figure 4). This group has been initially thought of as monophyletic (McKenna, 1975; McKenna & Bell, 1997), including the groups Notoungulata, Litopterna, Astrapotheria, Pyrotheria and Xenungulata. However, it is now considered most probably polyphyletic (O'Leary et al., 2013). This group was diverse, comprising a variety of forms such as hippo-like taxa (Toxodontidae (Notoungulata)), animals with a proboscis (Astrapotherium (Astrapotheria)) and animals adapted to cursoriality (Macrauchenia (Litopterna) (Bond et al., 2001)). However, most groups go extinct in the first half of the Cenozoic. Xenungulates are less known from the fossil record, some of the oldest remains coming from the middle Paleocene (Simpson, 1935), and some of the last in the early Eocene (Villaroel, 1987). Astrapothere fossils come from localities dating from the early Eocene (Kramarz & Bond, 2013; Kramarz et al., 2017; Soria, 1987; Soria & Powell, 1981; Woodburne, Goin, Bond, et al., 2014; Woodburne, Goin, Raigemborn, et al., 2014) to the middle Miocene (Goillot et al., 2011; Johnson, 1984; Johnson & Madden, 1997; Vallejo-Pareja et al., 2015). Astrapotheres (as well as pyrotheres) show adaptations towards large body sizes during that time (Goin, et al., 2012a).

On the other hand, litopterns and notoungulates reach the late Pleistocene, when they go extinct during the megafaunal extinctions of that time (Croft et al., 2020; Goin, et al., 2012a). Litopterns are found in the fossil record from the early Paleocene (de Muizon & Cifelli, 2000; Gelfo et al., 2009), similarly to notoungulates (de Muizon & Cifelli, 2000; Gelfo et al., 2009; Woodburne, Goin, Bond, et al., 2014). Both groups become more abundant in later stages, with last forms like the litoptern *Macrauchenia* (Bond et al., 2001) and the notoungulate *Toxodon* (Barnosky & Lindsey, 2010; Cione et al., 2003) getting extinct in the Late Pleistocene.

Xenarthra

Xenarthra, as the name suggests (strange joints in Greek), differs from the other groups by having more articulated vertebral joints and a very low metabolism (Elgar & Harvey, 1987; Lovegrove, 2000) as well as the presence of osteoderms in some groups (Fernicola et al., 2021). It is one of the earliest diverging placental groups (Meredith et al., 2011), with first representatives dating back to the latest Cretaceous (Delsuc et al., 2016; Gibb et al., 2016; Meredith et al., 2011). Xenarthrans include three main groups: Vermilingua (including extant anteaters), Folivora (including extant sloths), and Cingulata (including extant armadillos). However, today's representatives are just the remnants of a once more diversified group (Figure 4).

Vermilingua are poorly known from the fossil record, with some of the oldest fossils coming from the early Miocene (Carlini et al., 1992), with fossil families Adiastaltidae and Anathitidae represented by very few and fragmentary fossils and so are considered junior synonyms of Myrmecophagidae by McDonald et al. (2008).

Folivora includes arboreal and terrestrial sloths. Today, only two genera survive, *Bradypus* (three-fingered sloth) and *Choloepus* (two-fingered sloths), all small and arboreal. Their fossil record is much more diverse, with fossils dating back to the Oligocene (McKenna et al., 2006). However, their largest diversity comes from the Pliocene and Pleistocene, including giant and small terrestrial forms like *Megatherium* (including *Megatherium americanum* that was weighing >4 tonnes) (Ameghino, 1889; Pujos, 2006; Pujos & Salas, 2004; Saint-André & de Iuliis, 2001).

Cingulata are characterized by having a dorsal carapace made by osteoderms that are usually characteristic of the genus or species (Fernicola & Porpino, 2012). They date back to the early Eocene, with fossils like *Riostegotherium yanei* from Brazil (Oliveira & Bergqvist, 1998) and *Noatherium emilioi* from Argentina (Fernicola et al., 2021). However, as with folivores, the group is mostly known from the Neogene and Quaternary, showing a vast diversity of sizes and specialisations like the heavily armoured glyptodonts, that have been the focus of studies for over two centuries (Ameghino, 1889; McKenna & Bell, 1997).



Figure 4: (A) Phylogenetic relationships of Xenarthra, South American Native Ungulates (SANUs), Caviomorpha and Platyrrhini. **Xenarthra**: The general distinction of xenarthrans in Cingulata and Pilosa (including Folivora and Vermilingua) as well as the internal topology

of Cingulata comes from Engelmann (1985); Gaudin (2003); Hill (2005). Topology within Folivora (else called Tardigrada or Phyllophaga) comes from molecular analyses of extinct and extant sloths (Delsuc et al., 2019). Vermilingua (anteaters) are poorly known from the fossil record; fossil families Adiastaltidae and Anathitidae are represented by few and fragmentary fossils and so are considered junior synonyms of Myrmecophagidae by McDonald et al. (2008). South American native ungulates: the relative position of Astrapotheria, Litopterna and Notoungulata comes from the molecular analyses of Welker et al. (2015). However, this excludes the Astrapotheria group. De Muizon et al. (2015) support a position of Astrapotheria in closed relation to Notoungulata. Astrapothere internal topology comes from Cifelli (1993), according to which Trigonostylopidae with the addition of Eoastrapostylopidae was the stem group of Astrapotheriidae. Only litoptern monophyletic families were included (Carrillo et al., 2018; Cifelli, 1983; Cifelli, 1993; Forasiepi et al., 2016; Schmidt, 2015). The topology within Notoungulata and the inclusion of Pyrotheria follows Billet (2011). Xenungulata is a poorly known group and only the families Cardodniidae (Simpson, 1935) and Etayoidae (Villaroel, 1987) are known. Platyrrhini: The topology of the extant families comes from Wang et al. (2019) molecular analyses. The position of the extinct families was inferred from Kay (2015). Caviomorpha: the topology of extant clades comes from the molecular (Bayesian) analyses of Alvarez et al. (2017). The position of Eocardiidae (stem group of Caviidae crown group) comes from Pérez (2010) and the other extinct clades from Arnal & Vucetich (2015). (B) Stratigraphic ranges (bars) of South American endemic eutherian mammals: The stratigraphic ranges are based on first and last appearances of the group. The oldest Folivora fossil is a sloth from the early Oligocene (Tinguirirican) (McKenna et al., 2006). The earliest Vermilingua fossil comes from the late Oligocene to early Miocene (Colhuehapian) (Carlini et al., 1992). The oldest cingulate fossils are from the late Paleocene - early Eocene (Itaboraian) (Oliveira & Bergqvist, 1998). Astrapotheres are found from the early Eocene (Itaboraian)(Goillot et al., 2011; Johnson & Madden, 1997; Soria & Powell, 1981; Vallejo-Pareja et al., 2015) to the middle Miocene (Laventan) (Goillot et al., 2011; Johnson, 1984; Johnson & Madden, 1997; Vallejo-Pareja et al., 2015). Litopterns are found in the fossil record from the late Paleocene (Peligran) (Gelfo et al., 2009), but most probably being present from the Tiupampan (de Muizon & Cifelli, 2000) whereas their last appearance takes place in the late Pleistocene (Bond et al., 2001). Notoungulates are recorded from the early Paleocene (Tiupampan) (de Muizon & Cifelli, 2000; Gelfo et al., 2009; Woodburne, Goin, Raigemborn, et al., 2014) until the late Pleistocene (Barnosky & Lindsey, 2010; Cione et al., 2003). The oldest xenungulate fossil comes from the middle Paleocene (Simpson, 1935) and the last known fossil is from the early Eocene (Villarroel, 1987). The oldest age of caviomorph rodents in South America comes from Cachiyacuy contamanensis from the middle Eocene (~41 Ma) (Antoine et al., 2012). Finally, the oldest platyrrhine fossil comes from the late Eocene (Perupithecus at ~35-36 Ma) (Bond et al., 2015).

Paleogene arrival of Caviomorpha and Plattyrhini

Caviomorph rodents (including extant guinea pigs, chinchillas and capybara) as well as platyrrhine monkeys (including extant capuchins, marmosets and spidermonkeys) are an important part of South America's fauna today. However, these two groups were later introductions to the continent (Campbell et al., 2021; Seiffert et al., 2020) (Figure 4 and 5), presumably reaching South America by rafting across the Atlantic Ocean from Africa (Antoine et al., 2012; Bond et al., 2015; Goin, et al., 2012a).

The introduction of these two groups had been thought to have taken place either as a two-wave radiation with rodents arriving around 34 Ma and primates (Platyrhini) around 28.5 Ma, or as one radiation event (Goin, et al., 2012a; Poux et al., 2006). However, new discoveries have pushed back the first appearance of those groups in South America, with fossils like the caviomorph *Cachiyacuy contamanensis* from ~41 Ma (middle Eocene) from Peru (Antoine et al., 2012), and the platyrrhine *Perupithecus ucayaliensis* from ~35 Ma (late Eocene) from Peru, making the dispersion parallel to the MECO (Bond et al., 2015).

South American Land Mammal Ages (SALMA)

The long isolation and unique geological history of South America, as well as the unique evolution of endemic faunas and floras throughout most of the Cenozoic era, has made it difficult to correlate South American biostratigraphy with that of the rest of the world (Flynn & Swisher III, 1995). However, the high endemicity of those faunas, especially those of placental and marsupial mammals, has been proven useful for biostratigraphic correlations within the continent (Flynn & Swisher III, 1995). These are called South American Land Mammal Ages (SALMAs), are local stratigraphic units that cover most of the Cenozoic era, and that are defined using changes in mammalian faunas (Figure 5B and C). Most of these Ages are informal biochronological units, dated by direct dating of fossils or sediments, and with relating chronostratigraphic sequences in different parts of South America. Their dates have been changed, some more considerably than others, with new studies and methods, allowing updated datings. A more extended literature review of the most up-to-date SALMA limits is found in the SI section 1 of this thesis, and is shown in Figure 5C. In order to make the results of this thesis more comparable to macroevolutionary patterns taking place in other continents, I have "translated" the ages in my dataset, to international chronostratigraphic stages (ICS; see Material and Methods section).



26

Figure 5: (A) International Chronostratigraphic stages (B) older datings of the South American Land Mammal Ages (SALMA) based on (Flynn & Swisher III, 1995), and currently still in use in the Paleobiology Database (C) updated datings of the SALMA (see SI section 1 of this thesis for the extended bibliography for these dates) (D) A summary of the climatic changes (Zachos et al. 2008; Westerhold et al., 2020) during the Cenozoic along with palaeogeographic and biotic events relevant to South America. All are mentioned throughout the text along with their citations.

Neogene climate cooling and aridification

The Neogene spans from 23 to 2.6 Ma and includes the Miocene (23–5.3 Ma) and the Pliocene epochs (5.3–2.6 Ma; Figure 3 and 5). The increased relative concentration of continents in higher latitudes during the Neogene cooling, coupled with the ongoing climate cooling, assisted the global already present from the Eocene (for example Miller et al. (1987); Wright & Miller (1992); Zachos et al. (2001) and Potter & Szatmari (2009)). Subsequently, the intensification of glaciation followed with the forming of glaciers in Greenland (Thiede et al., 1998) and the westward expansion of the East Antarctic ice sheet (Mercer, 1983). For example, Passchier et al. (2013) found that the inferred mean temperature and precipitation changes in Antarctica coincided with those inferred by vegetation indices and showed a >8 °C cooling from the Eocene till the middle Miocene.

Notable climatic changes took place in the middle Miocene (Flower & Kennett, 1994; Westerhold et al., 2020; Zachos et al., 2001) and, most importantly, a relatively warm period 17-15 Ma called the Middle Miocene Climatic Optimum (MMCO) (Westerhold et al., 2020; Zachos et al., 2001, 2008) and its subsequent cooling event, the Middle Miocene Climatic Transition (Flower & Kennett, 1994; Mudelsee et al., 2014) (Figure 3 and 5). During the MMCO there is evidence of a less prominent latitudinal temperature gradient (Bruch et al., 2004, 2007). The MMCO signalled an intermediate time of climatic change that was followed by faunal changes worldwide (Blois & Hadly, 2009).

The second half of the Neogene is characterised by the restart of the global cooling trend (Costeur et al., 2007; Legendre et al., 2005; Miller et al., 1991) and Antarctic ice expansion (Shevenell & Kennett, 2007), leading to drier

climates (e.g. van Dam (2006); Potter & Szatmari (2009)) (Figure 3 and 5). The closing of the Mediterranean seaway from the collision of Arabia and Asia took place 10 Ma (Rogl, 1999) (Figure 3).

The last stage of the Miocene, the Messinian (7.2–5.3 Ma), is characterised by the intensification of climate cooling and aridification continued and the Mediterranean salinity or Messinian crisis took place, in which the Mediterranean lost contact with the Atlantic 5.6-5.3 Ma because of the brief closing of the Gibraltar passage, thus becoming a hypersaline 'lake' (Hsü et al., 1973, 1977; Krijgsman et al., 1999) (Figure 3). The Pliocene (5–3 Ma) had a relative warm period (Maslin et al., 1998; Shackleton et al., 1988) until the onset of the Northern Hemisphere Glaciation (NHG) ~3.2 Ma (Poore & Sloan, 1996) or earlier, ~3.6 Ma (Mudelsee & Raymo, 2005) (Figure 3). Further cooling led to a period with successive glacial and inter-glacial periods (that went on and became the main characteristic of the Pleistocene and Holocene periods) (de Schepper et al., 2014; Hepp et al., 2006). The formation of the Isthmus of Panama resulted in the disappearance of the Equatorial flow that further intensified the global cooling trend (Potter & Szatmari, 2009). By the end of the Neogene, the final environmental, climatic and tectonic changes took place that shaped the world to what we see today – with the exception of the glacial and interglacial iteration of the Pleistocene (Potter & Szatmari, 2009) (Figure 3 and 5).

Habitat shift towards grasslands

Due to the ongoing climate cooling, and potentially the emergence of land during low sea levels (MacFadden et al., 1992), there has been a worldwide expansion of grasslands over tropical and temperate forests (Medeanic, 2002; Retallack, 2001; Velichko, 2005). This has been evidenced by the gradual diet shift in mammal herbivores, containing more and more C₄ grasses, and less C₃ type forest plants ~8–6 Ma, as shown by mostly tooth enamel studies (Cerling et al., 1997; MacFadden et al., 1992). In other words, the gradual replacement of browsers with grazers (i.e. herbivores whose diet includes more than 60% monocotyledonous grasses (Gagnon & Chew, 2000)) takes place, and this was coupled with herbivore immigrations

on most continents like Eurasia (Badgley et al., 2005; Fortelius et al., 2006; van Dam, 2006), North America (Barnosky, 2001; Barnosky & Carrasco, 2002; Hopkins, 2007; Janis et al., 2004), Africa (Bobe, 2006), and South America (Flynn et al. (2003); Pascual (2006); see also the Great American Biotic Interchange section, and Figure 3 and 5).

Further increased aridity and continuation of the expansion of grasslands affected Eurasian faunas in the late Neogene (Cano et al., 2014; Cerling et al., 1998; Fortelius et al., 2006; Janis, 1993; van der Made et al., 2006), sometimes in the form of diversity losses (Costeur & Legendre, 2008; van Valkenburgh, 1999), but also dispersions such as the immigration of hippopotamoids, cercopithecoid monkeys and gerbils from Africa to Europe (Agusti, 1999; Agustí et al., 2006; Azzaroli & Guazzone, 1979; García-Alix et al., 2016).

The aforementioned diet shift towards grazing was also coupled with a trend towards hypsodonty (i.e. the presence of high-crowned teeth), that provided increased resistance to dental wear during consumption of more abrasive food, like grasses (Billet et al., 2009; Madden, 2015). Hypsodonty appeared in various placental groups worldwide, like equids and proboscideans in North America, antelopes, hippos, giraffids in Africa, hypsodont deer, hippos and giraffids in Eurasia (Damuth & Janis, 2011; Jernvall & Fortelius, 2002; Kemp, 2005; MacFadden & Ceding, 1994; Strömberg, 2006), as well as notoungulates and rodents in South America (Carlini et al., 2006; Cifelli & Villarroel, 1997). In fact, hypsodonty appeared in South America around 10 Myrs earlier than in the rest of the world, among notoungulate groups of the Paleocene (Gomez Rodrigues et al., 2016; Jardine et al., 2012; MacFadden, 2000: Madden, 2015; Pascual & Ortiz-Jaureguizar, 1990; Stebbins, 1981). It has also been hypothesized that the presence of hypsodonty in South American groups is also linked with the evolution of the Andes, and the increased presence and deposition of detritic particles on plants consumed by these animals (Dunn et al., 2015; Kohn et al., 2015; Strömberg et al., 2013).

While the Plio-Pleistocene also includes further diet shifts (DeSantis et al., 2009), faunal turnovers (Bobe & Behrensmeyer, 2004; Vrba, 1995; Wesselman, 1995) and migrations between continents (Kemp, 2005), the

most notable event of this time was the "Great American Biotic Interchange" (GABI), the exchange of mammalian faunas between South and North America with the formation of the Isthmus of Panama (see dedicated section) (Figure 5).

The reconnection with North America, and the arrival of North American emigrants

The South American isolation ended when North and South America were joined by the formation of the isthmus of Panama and the "Great American Biotic Interchange" (GABI) took place (Simpson, 1980; Stehli & Webb, 1985). There have been numerous studies trying to understand the timing and forming of the Panama isthmus. Jaramillo (2017) summarized the main stages in the evolution of the Panama isthmus, starting by the emergence of an "island" in the late Eocene, the product of intraplate Pacific volcanoes in the southern part of the Caribbean plate (Buchs et al., 2011). This was followed by a second terrestrial landscape development in the early Miocene, product of the collision between Panama and South America (Farris et al., 2011) and this region seemed to be connected with North America (Kirby & Macfadden, 2005; MacFadden, 2006; MacFadden et al., 2014) and dominated by tropical rainforest, its presence continuing through the Miocene (Jaramillo et al 2014). In the late Miocene (12–10 Ma) the full closure of the Central America Seaway (CAS) took place (Montes et al 2015) but while the deep water exchange ceased, the shallow sea water exchange continued until the end of the Pliocene (Coates et al., 2004). The last stage that followed consisted of the cessation of shallow sea water exchange and the full and continuous emersion of the isthmus of Panama. Most studies seem to accept this sequence of events, however the timing and importance of those – and especially that of the complete forming of the Panama isthmus – are in debate. Some studies show evidence of a "late" complete formation of the Panama isthmus in the late Pliocene at 2.8 Ma (O'Dea et al., 2016), ~2.5-3.0 Ma (Bartoli et al., 2005), 3 Ma (Jackson & O'Dea, 2013), 3.1 Ma (Keigwin, 1978), 3.1-3.5 Ma (Coates & Obando, 1996), 3.5 Ma (Jaramillo, 2017) and 3.5-4.2 Ma (Jaramillo et al., 2017). Other studies show an earlier formation of the isthmus in the Miocene at 6-10 Ma (Bacon et al., 2015), 13-15 Ma (Bacon et al., 2016; Montes et al., 2015) and from at least 17.5 Ma (Bacon et al., 2013). Finally, Montes et al. (2012) argue for the initial formation of the isthmus in the middle Eocene/Oligocene.

These researchers debate over the different methods used, but also (maybe more importantly) two key issues exist: the first has to do with the definition of an isthmus and the second about how essential an isthmus is for a faunal exchange to happen. The definition of an isthmus states that it is a continuous strip of land surrounded by water connecting two larger areas of land (Cambridge Academic Content Team, 2020). The problem is that the fossil record does not preserve the whole geological history and does not provide a good temporal and spatial resolution of the events. Because of this. it is very difficult to see the difference between an uninterrupted/continuous strip of land or its occasional interruption by shallow sea water through geologic time. For example, Jaramillo (2017) and Jaramillo et al. (2017) argue that there have been periods of complete absence of shallow sea water in the Panama region and thus argue for an early isthmus formation whereas (O'Dea et al., 2016, 2018) argue that there was a continuous interruption of land by shallow seas until the end Pliocene when the isthmus properly emerged.

The other important point of discussion is that a completely emerged strip of land is not a prerequisite for a faunal dispersal to happen. There are numerous examples of animals and plants colonising close regions separated by water, islands being one example. Consequently, evidence of animals crossing between North and South America is not necessarily evidence for a completely formed isthmus (continuous uninterrupted land) (Bacon et al., 2016; O'Dea et al., 2018), as some studies (e.g., Bacon et al. (2013, 2015)) seem to imply. In any case, the above studies seem to accept the presence of terrestrial animal immigrations before ~3 Ma (with or without the presence of a fully formed isthmus) and the intensification of the interchange after that point in time (Figure 5).

The Great American Biotic Interchange (GABI)

Isolation ended with the formation of the Isthmus of Panama and the invasion of North American groups in South America during the Great American Biotic Interchange (GABI) in the Neogene (Carrillo et al., 2020; Cione et al., 2015a; Domingo et al., 2020; Marshall et al., 1982; Morgan, 2008; Soibelzon et al., 2019; Webb, 1976; Woodburne et al., 2006). The GABI has been considered the most important biogeographic link between South and North America by many and has been studied for a long time (Marshall, 1988; Marshall et al., 1982; Morgan, 2008; Simpson, 2005; Simpson, 1953; Stehli & Webb, 1985; Webb, 1976, 1985; Woodburne et al., 2006). More recent works have tried to offer a more reliable and better resolution by dating important layers containing the different stages of the GABI. During the GABI, North American groups moved into South America and South American groups moved into North America - however it was an asymmetric event. The majority of endemic South American groups that reached Central America became extinct (although few radiated towards North America surviving till the Pleistocene period (2.6-0.01 Ma, Prado et al. (2015)). On the contrary, most North American groups that reached South America survived and diversified. Additionally, the interchange was found to be asynchronous for mammals and plants – with floral exchanges predating the mammalian ones (Cody et al., 2010).

Marshall et al. (1982) distinguished two groups of mammalian immigrants, the first one being late Miocene immigrants that dispersed sporadically – via island arcs or non-continuous land bridge in time – as there are gaps with no arrivals at all, the number of concurrent arrivals is very limited and finally the immigrants seem to be good swimmers/floaters (Webb, 1985, 2006). However, this interpretation depends on how complete we take the fossil record of that time to be (Webb, 2006). The second group of immigrations comprised the main GABI event and was more intense than the first one (GABI 1-4; see section "GABI immigration waves").

Pre-GABI sporadic immigrations

Cione et al. (2015b) summarizes the climatic cooling taking place in South America, based on information from Tonni et al. (2008); Madden et al. (2010a). South and Central America developed drier, colder and more fragmented habitats through the Miocene and into the Pliocene (Ortiz-Jaureguizar, 1998). It also provided a variety of ecological opportunities, especially with the diverse topography of the evolved Andes (Burnham & Graham, 1999; Flynn & Swisher III, 1995). In the early Miocene, Patagonia accommodated a variety of habitats like wet forests, palm-tree habitats, flooded areas and restricted grasslands and the Andes were not blocking the wet winds from the Pacific (Madden et al., 2010). In the early Miocene, Central American habitats were tropical (Graham & Dilcher, 1998). In the middle Miocene, Patagonia went through an aridification phase - for which the formation of the Andes is considered the main driver (Pascual & Odreman-Rivas, 1973). Open habitats expanded (hosting more cursorial animals) while forests would be found in valleys of the rising Andes (hosting primates and erethizontes) (Cione et al., 2015a). The habitat and climatic changes affected some groups more than others (for example Folivora were more sensitive than Cingulata) (Cione et al., 2015a). Carrillo et al. (2015) showed an important distinction of mid and late Miocene faunas between temperate and tropical ones.

The earliest South American groups reaching North America seem to be *Pliometanastes* and *Thinobadistes* (megalonychid and mylodontid sloths) 8.5-9.0 Ma (Morgan, 2008). Additionally, the earliest record of Megatheriidae in Central America took place 5.8 Ma (Rincón et al., 2020). This seems consistent with the fact that most GABI South American groups were xenarthrans (Woodburne, 2010). The earliest North American group to South America were of the genera *Cyonasua* (procyonid carnivorans) at 7.3 Ma and sigmodontine or cricetid rodents around 6 Ma (Cione et al., 2007). Mustelids have been considered to have also entered South America by (Verzi and Montalvo, 2008) but the taxonomic classification of the fossil remains was criticised by Prevosti and Pardiñas (2009).

In the late Miocene and the boundary with the Pliocene, cooling continued, rainforests got disrupted (Lourens et al., 2004) by the extension of open

environments (including savannas) and dry seasons (Cione et al., 2015a). In the Pliocene, palynological studies also show climatic cooling and further Andean uplift (Andriessen et al., 1993; Quattrocchio et al., 1988). South American xenarthran (Scillato-Yané et al., 1993) and octodontid rodent diversity shifts (Montalvo & Verzi, 2004) also showed a change in habitats that confirmed this cooling and showed that the habitat deterioration was gradual.

The next grouping of sporadic emigrations was at 5.0-4.7 Ma with *Titanis* (terror bird – otherwise endemic to South America) crossing northward (MacFadden et al., 2007) and *Plaina* and *Glossotherium* (a pampatheriid and mylodontid sloth) crossing northward to Central America (Flynn et al., 2005). The sporadic immigrations at 3.9-3.1 Ma include the northward crossing of *Glyptotherium* (glyptodont sloth), *Neochoerus* (hydrochoerid rodent) (Flynn et al., 2005) and *Pampatherium* (pampatheriid xenathran) (Woodburne et al., 2006) along with the southward crossing of Tayassuidae (artiodactyl peccaries) (Cione et al., 2007). Lastly, *Lama* (camelid artiodactyls) reached South America (Cione et al., 2007; Cione & Tonni, 1995, 2005). The timing of the first arrival of murid rodents in South America has been proposed to be late Pliocene (Marshall, 1979) but others argue for a later arrival because of the dubious stratigraphic provenance and age of the remains in question (Webb, 2006).

It is important to note that some South American groups that reached Central America dispersed further North later on: *Glossotherium* passes to the US significantly later (Flynn et al., 2005) and persists in the US for longer (McDonald & Naples, 2008). Also, *Neochoerus* reaches South Carolina at ~3 Ma (Sanders, 2002) and persisted in Florida and Arizona at least until 2.6 Ma (Bell et al., 2004; Morgan, 2005) and even more in coastal areas of North America (Morgan, 2008). These are good examples of what (Woodburne, 2010) calls "holding pen" groups, groups that occur earlier in a given location only to be significantly later in an adjacent location.

GABI immigration waves

The second group of immigrations (as distinguished by Marshall et al. (1982)) that followed comprised the main GABI event and was more intense than the first one. According to Woodburne et al. (2006), Cione et al. (2007),

Woodburne (2010) and Goin, Gelfo, et al. (2012), it consisted of multiple immigration waves (GABI 1-4) during which intensified exchanges took place. Arrivals still took place during the intervals between the waves but these were significantly less frequent.

GABI 1 took place 2.6-2.4 Ma with the southward dispersal of *Erethizon* (porcupine) (Reguero et al., 2007), mustelids, perissodactyls and gomphotheriid proboscideans (López et al., 2001) and the northward dispersal of *Dasypus*, *Pachyarmatherium* (glyptodontid) and *Eremotherium* (Bell et al., 2004; Morgan, 2005) along with the "holding pen" groups *Pampatherium* and *Holmesina* (pampathere edentates) and *Neochoerus* reaching even more northern areas into the US via Mexico (Flynn et al., 2005; Morgan & Hulbert, 1995).

GABI 2 took place ~1.8 Ma and includes mostly southward dispersals of ursides, felid cats (*Felis, Puma, Panthera*), peccaries (*Catagonus*), camels, cervids, tapirs and gomphotheriid proboscideans (*Stegomastodon* and *Cuvieronius*) (Cione & Tonni, 1995, 2005; MacFadden, 2000; Pomi & Prevosti, 2005; Soibelzon et al., 2005). However, it is important to note that *Paramylodon* (Morgan, 2005) and Myrmecophaga (Morgan, 2008; Shaw & McDonald, 1987) reached the US during that interval.

In the beginning of the Pleistocene, high altitude plants are reported to have descended in lower altitudes (Andriessen et al., 1993) and precipitation is evidenced to have declined substantially (Piperno, 2006). Some also argue for a total expansion of savanna-like habitats from Central America to Argentina by the time the GABI 2 wave happened (in addition to noting the absence of tropical-adapted northward immigrants) (Webb, 1991; Woodburne, 2010). The first participation in the GABI of animals adapted to colder habitats also took place (probably because they were previously blocked by the prevalent rainforest (Webb & Perrigo, 1984). However, Colinvaux (1997) argues for the presence of sporadic rainforests in Central America during the Pleistocene. Additionally, from the Early Pleistocene, frequent glacial advance (McCulloch et al., 2000) is thought to have shaped habitats to accommodate megaherbivores and their predators (Cione et al., 2015a; Tonni et al., 2003).

GABI 3 takes place at 1.0-0.8 Ma and is more of a symmetrical exchange than GABI 2. It includes the southward dispersal of carnivores and artiodactyles and the northward dispersal of the opossum *Didelphis* (Bell et al., 2004; Morgan, 2005). The modern Central American lowlands must have formed by the end of the Pleistocene and the Holocene (10.5 ka BP) (Leyden, 1984). Savanna-type habitats were not wide-spread (Behling et al., 2010) but South American coasts must have kept a savanna-type habitat similar to those in Central America (Graham & Dilcher, 1998). This has been hypothesized to have permitted the next immigration wave (Woodburne, 2010). GABI 4 takes place 0.125 Ma and is characterized by only southward dispersals of carnivores (including *Canis, Leopardus*) and equids (Carlini et al., 2008; Cione & Tonni, 1995, 2005; Hulbert & Pratt, 1998; Prevosti, 2006).

Post-GABI

There has been some evidence of an increased diversity in South America right after the GABI, taking into account the fossil record at face value (Cody et al., 2010; Marshall et al., 1982; Webb, 1976), and Carrillo et al. (2015) found an important increase of North American first appearances in South American faunas around 4-5 Ma with a peak in the Pleistocene. Webb (2006) calculated that diversification rates of procyonids, felids, tayassuids and camelids were moderate whereas those of canids, mustelids, cervids and murids were significantly high. North American immigrants were found to occupy a variety of South American habitats like temperate grasslands, cold winter deserts and mountain systems (Marquet & Cofre, 1999).

However, Domingo et al. (2020) found that in time, rodents, notoungulates and pilosanes switched from a C_3 to a C_4 -plant dominated diet whereas litopterns and cingulates remained in a C_3 diet. This could indicate that the expansion of C_4 grasslands resulted in the presence of new niches and thus the decrease in competition (Domingo et al., 2020). On the other hand, they found gomphotheres, equids and camelids (North American groups) to show a variable diet including both C_3 and C_4 plants – an adaptation that might have helped them establish themselves in the newly found South American habitats. Finally, in carnivoran mammals, sparassodonts seemed
to prefer preying on C_3 eating herbivores while carnivores preferred herbivores of a mixed $C_3 - C_4$ diet.

In any case, the GABI left South America changed, as the continent's faunal composition postdating the GABI resembled more that of North America than that of South American predating the GABI (Simpson, 1950; Vrba, 1992; Webb, 2006). Half of today's South America's fauna consists of North American descendants (Webb, 2006). On the other hand, diversity in North America seems to have only slightly increased after the GABI (Stigall et al., 2017). Webb (1991) comparing the diet of immigrants from Central and South American, noted that they both had grazers, browsers or mixed feeders.

Symmetricity of GABI

While the more sporadic immigrations predating 6 Ma were found to be symmetrical between continents (Bacon et al., 2015), the later and main phase of the GABI was asymmetrical, with North American groups dominating South America, compared to the low number of South American groups in North America (Bacon et al., 2015; Carrillo et al., 2020; Faurby & Svenning, 2016; Marshall et al., 1982; Webb, 2006; Webb & Marshall, 1982). This asymmetry has been a key characteristic of the GABI and has been noted from the first studies on the interchange where, e.g. Marshall et al. (1982) noted the apparent symmetrical exchange (the number of families existing before and after the GABI was very similar) but the number of North American immigrants was double that of South American immigrants.

Carrillo et al. (2020) summarized the potential causes of this phenomenon. The asymmetry could be the result of a higher dispersal rate from North to South America, higher speciation rates of North American groups in South America, higher extinction rates of South American native mammals, or equal dispersal rates but larger number of North American groups reaching South America. Testing these hypotheses, they concluded that there were no significant differences in diversification and dispersal rates of South American versus North American immigrants. However, South American native mammals in South America had significantly higher extinction rates during the GABI. This has led to fewer potential South American immigrants towards North America, and thus led to the asymmetry of the GABI. Different theories exist that try to decipher this asymmetry. The high number of Northern immigrants to South America could have been linked to the larger area from which they originated (Webb, 1991), as well as the fact that North America was not isolated, unlike South America. North America was also linked with Europe and Asia at different points in the Cenozoic while South America was isolated, and multiple interchanges took place between Asia and North America via the Bering Strait (Tedford et al., 2004; Woodburne & Swisher III, 1995); for example, the middle Miocene arrival of gomphotherids or the late Miocene arrival of felid cats, mustelids etc. to North America. Most North American immigrants reaching South America had previous evolutionary records of long-distance dispersals and this could have been linked to their GABI success (Webb, 2006). They were also more "evolutionary tested" coming into contact with various competitors, diseases (Wilson, 1992), and habitats, especially savannas and temperate areas (Jetz & Fine, 2012). These would potentially increase their capability to colonize new locations and occupy new niches there (Wilson, 1992).

There are different hypotheses concerning the high extinction rates of South American native mammals in South America. One was that the extinction was linked with increased competition, as SANU diversity decline coincides with the appearance of the numerous North American ungulate immigrants (artiodactyles mostly) (Webb, 2006), and thus a replacement phenomenon could be implied (Webb, 1976). However, raw taxon counts have shown that meridiungulates and marsupial carnivores had already started to decline before the GABI (Kemp, 2005). SANU's decline could have been intensified due to competition with artiodactlyles (Webb, 1976) or due to higher susceptibility to predation from placental carnivores (Faurby & Svenning, 2016; Patterson & Pascual, 1968), that surpassed marsupial carnivores (sparrassodonts) in numbers (Prevosti & Forasiepi, 2018).

Another hypothesis was that the extinction was triggered by environmental change towards a colder and drier climate (Alberdi et al., 1995), as described in previous sections of this thesis. Carrillo et al. (2020) also note that most of the South American native mammal diversity at the time comes from the La Pampas formation, where a meteoric impact has been evidenced ~3.3 Ma (Schultz et al., 1998; Vizcaíno et al., 2004). Finally,

another theory suggests a synergetic effect of environmental changes, ecological opportunism and biotic interactions (Marshall, 1988; Stehli & Webb, 1985; Vrba, 1992, 1993; Webb, 1991, 2006).

Selectivity of the GABI

Different hypotheses have been made on the nature of the timing and selectivity of the immigrations. It has been noted that most animals crossing have been assumed to have been savanna-adapted (Stehli & Webb, 1985; Webb, 1985, 1991, 2006; Woodburne, 2010) and that the Panama habitats were also savanna-like (Piperno, 2006; Piperno & Jones, 2003) and some have implied that habitat preference played a key role (Stehli & Webb, 1985; Webb, 1985, 1991, 2006).

Additionally, McDonald (2005) and McDonald & Naples (2008) noted a dietlinked advantage in xenarthrans: glyptodont immigrants reaching Central/North America were smaller, generalists and their diet was comparable to that of non-ruminant artiodactyls (signalled by the absence of a caecum) and so liberated them from competition with the ruminant artiodactyls and proboscideans. According to these studies, this was also heightened by the lower metabolic rate of xenarthrans. All this potentially played a key role in the high participation of xenarthrans in the GABI as well as in their colonisation of Central and North American habitats.

Multiple studies have also argued that the climate cooling played a key role in the initiation and regulation of the interchange (Cione et al., 2015a; Marshall, 1985; Marshall et al., 1979, 1982; Molnar, 2008; Webb, 1978, 1985, 1991, 2006; Woodburne, 2010) by rendering regions suitable for animals to cross (thus working as corridors) or unsuitable (biogeographic barriers) (Webb, 1991; Woodburne, 2010). Sea level might have also played an important role in the dispersion control as the low sea levels at 2.5, 1.9, 1.6, 0.7, 0.1 Ma seem to coincide with the dispersals (Woodburne, 2010).

The evolution of the Panama isthmus (presence or absence of a continuous strip of land etc.) must have played a key role as well, however, other variables must have played a more important role controlling the directions, timing and speed of the interchanges (Jaramillo, 2017). The evolution of the Andes (extending N-S long in SA; see also dedicated section) (Boschman,

2021; Ramos, 1999)) has been suggested as another factor controlling dispersals within South America, as they reached today's elevations during or soon after the late Miocene (Mora et al., 2010) and may have constituted a colonization corridor during the GABI (Patterson et al. (2012) and refs therein).

There is still no consensus, and of course, more than one factor is expected to have driven the GABI and the diversity shifts. However, Bacon et al., 2015) found that taxa variability and dispersal time were not explained by intrinsic factors (like dispersal ability, biome and elevation preference). Additionally, Bacon et al. (2016) specify that within the potential extrinsic factors, climatic and environmental factors were key while geologic factors did not play a significant role. Vrba (1992) also noted the importance of environmental changes over biotic interactions as the major cause of biotic event.

Preservation issues

The issue with the majority of GABI studies, hypotheses and interpretations is that they heavily rely on raw diversity counts. This means that fossil biases could actually have an enormous effect on raw diversity and so make those interpretations invalid. This has been brought to attention from the early studies like Marshall et al. (1982) that pointed out that the late Cenozoic South American mammalian record mostly comes from Argentina – but it is safe to assume that what took place there must have taken place in the rest of South America. Webb (2006) also mentioned the "Central America paradox": it refers to the fact that while Miocene Central America faunas showed no similarity with South American faunas (Ferrusquía-Villafranca, 2003; Webb & Perrigo, 1984), today's faunas and floras are similar to those of South America. This is coupled with a lack of intermediate fossils. This is of course, a fossil record bias, especially concerning Pliocene and Pleistocene fossils from Central America. (Goin, et al., 2012a) stated that the radiations and distribution patterns of South American mammals "offer a narrative framework for considering the mammalian successions in South America, hoping that future tests of [their] model will confirm, clarify, and extend its applicability, causes, and consequences". These kinds of quantitative studies exist (e.g. Bacon et al. (2015)) but are still scarce. One such example is Carrillo et al. (2020), using a large dataset and advanced statistical techniques, such as Bayesian methods, to take into consideration fossil bias. Carrillo et al. (2015) also tried to bypass the issue of uneven sampling between high and low altitudes when looking at the similarity between different faunal assemblages, but still states that fossil biases could impact their results.

The effect of the Andean orogeny on South American climate and habitats

Due to their complexity, mountains generally provide a broad range of habitats, and are thus linked with high diversity (Badgley et al., 2017; Hoorn et al., 2018; Perrigo et al., 2020). They can work as cradles, nursing a diversity of taxa in these "endemic" micro-habitats (Hughes & Atchison, 2015), as bridges or barriers of taxon dispersal, as well as refuges for taxon diversity (Perrigo et al., 2020). Mountains influence climate as well as close and distant habitats, being the start point of river systems, and sediment generation and transportation (Finarelli & Badgley, 2010; Hoorn et al., 2018; Hoorn, Wesselingh, Hovikoski, et al., 2010).

Today, the Andes Mountains are one of the globe's biodiversity hotspots, hosting the highest number of vertebrate and plant species (Myers et al., 2000), and its evolution is thought to have played an important role in this richness (Antonelli et al., 2018; Boschman & Condamine, 2022; Hoorn, Wesselingh, ter Steege, et al., 2010; Pérez-Escobar et al., 2022), as well as in transforming the South American continental habitats and climate, working in tandem with the already existing global climate cooling.

The evolution of South American climate and habitats started to diverge from the global palaeoclimatic and palaeoenvironmental trend, because of the formation of the Andes. The evolution of the Andes has been the most (or one of the most) important factor driving the evolution of the Amazonian habitats and ecosystems via its direct impact on the topographic evolution but also indirectly via its influence on the local climate (Hoorn, Wesselingh, ter Steege, et al., 2010). More specifically, intense tectonic changes – specific to South America – took place in the end Cretaceous and first half of the Cenozoic that resulted in extensive tectonic pressure and subsequent deformation of the Northern and Central regions of South America (Pan-Amazonia) – including the formation of the Andes (Hoorn, Wesselingh, ter Steege, et al., 2010; Isacks, 1988). Andean uplift has been diachronous ever since (Boschman, 2021; Figure 5D), as the mountain range's different parts have been subject to different tectonic forces (Gianni et al., 2018; Pérez-Escobar et al., 2022; Schepers et al., 2017).

The end Cretaceous and Paleogene was characterised by relatively low Andean uplift rates, which primarily occurred in the central and northern parts of the mountain range (Boschman, 2021; Boschman & Condamine, 2022). The Cretaceous Pan-Amazonia hosted vast river and lake systems of which a substantial number of rivers had a westward flow (opposite to what exists today) (Mapes, 2009). These shifted to low altitude regions (Hoorn, Wesselingh, ter Steege, et al., 2010), having a mix of marginal marine embayments (Roddaz et al., 2010) and drainage systems flowing both eastward and westward (Figueiredo et al., 2009) during the first half of the Cenozoic. At the end of the Paleogene, drainage systems changed (Sena Costa et al., 2000) with the direction of flow towards the northwest (Hoorn, Wesselingh, ter Steege, et al., 2010), while dense forests started getting replaced by open shrublands (Dunn et al., 2015).

An intensification of Andean uplift took place in the Neogene, with mountain building taking place mainly in Northern and most notably East-Central Andes (Boschman, 2021; Boschman & Condamine, 2022; Tournier et al., 2020). More specifically, Andean uplift showed a peak in the early Miocene ~23 Ma (Hoorn, Wesselingh, ter Steege, et al., 2010), but its most intense mountain building events took place in the late middle Miocene ~12 Ma and Pliocene 4.5 Ma (Mora et al., 2010).

In the regions of the Pan-Amazonia, the environment shifted to a complex of vast shallow lakes and swamps around 23-10 Ma (Hoorn, Wesselingh, ter Steege, et al., 2010). These disappeared and fluvial systems took their place (Hoorn, Wesselingh, Hovikoski, et al., 2010; Hovikoski et al., 2007; Latrubesse et al., 2010), starting resembling its present form (Mora et al., 2010). River flow shifted from westward to eastward permanently ~7 Ma and that is when the Amazon drainage system got fully established (and is unchanged till today) (Figueiredo et al., 2009). Additionally, to the topography-related changes, the evolution of the Andes influenced the South American climate (Insel et al., 2010; Poulsen et al., 2010).

With the extensive mountain uplifting, the Andes formed a barrier that extended from the continent's highest to lowest altitudes. This prevented Pacific humid winds from reaching the central and eastern parts of the mountain chain, thus promoting aridification in those regions (in conjunction with the ongoing global aridification and cooling), while increasing precipitation in the western side of the mountain range (Cione et al., 2015b; Figueiredo et al., 2010; Hoorn, Wesselingh, ter Steege, et al., 2010; Insel et al., 2010; Ortiz-Jaureguizar & Cladera, 2006; Pascual & Odreman-Rivas, 1973; Poulsen et al., 2010; Quattrocchio et al., 2003; Rech et al., 2006).

The Latitudinal Biodiversity Gradient (LBG)

Most groups of South American mammals are characterized by a latitudinal biodiversity gradient (LBG) today, as are most extant groups. The LBG is the fundamental macroecological pattern that describes the distribution of diversity today and it refers to the increase of the number of species towards the equator (Fergnani and Ruggiero, 2015; Kaufman, 1995; Stevens et al., 2019; this thesis [Supplementary material or SI section 14]; Figure 6).

Understanding what drives this global, first-order pattern remains one of the great challenges of macroecology (Pontarp et al., 2019). Mittelbach et al. (2007) reviewed the two main hypotheses for the origin of the LBG: (1) the time and area hypothesis according to which tropical habitats are older and taxa accumulated there over a longer period compared to higher latitudes and (2) the diversification rate hypothesis according to which taxa in tropical regions diversify faster. They concluded that a greater amount of evidence (both palaeontological and modern) supports the diversification rate hypothesis (Jablonski et al., 2006; Mittelbach et al., 2007; Schumm et al.,

2019; Wiens & Donoghue, 2004). In other words, lower diversity in higher latitudes would be the result of lower diversification rates. Dispersal must have also played a role in shaping the LBG pattern, and climatic factors have been key drivers of diversification and dispersal rates (Meseguer & Condamine, 2020).

The interplay of mechanisms behind this diversification differences between high and low latitudes are not yet clear (Arita & Vázquez-Domínguez, 2008): three possible patterns were summarised in Arita and Vázquez-Domínguez (2008):

- The "tropics as cradle" model in which origination rates increase towards the tropics while extinction rates remain constant with latitude (Chown & Gaston, 2000; Krug et al., 2009; Mittelbach et al., 2007)
- The "tropics as museums" model in which origination rates remain constant with latitude but extinction rates decrease towards the tropics (Chown & Gaston, 2000; Krug et al., 2009; Mittelbach et al., 2007; Weir & Schluter, 2007)
- The "out of the tropics" model in which origination rates increase and extinction rates decrease towards the tropics and dispersal from low to high latitudes plays an important role (Jablonski et al., 2006, 2013)

Multiple studies have found higher speciation rates towards the tropics (Allen et al., 2006; Allen & Gillooly, 2006; Jablonski, 2008; Jablonski et al., 2006; Kiessling et al., 2010; Krug et al., 2009; Krug, Jablonski, et al., 2007; Krug, Patzkowsky, et al., 2007; McKenna & Farrell, 2006) and, more recently, Saupe, Myers, et al. (2019) concluded that high tropical diversity resulted primarily from higher speciation, and that dispersal towards higher latitudes was important, thus supporting the "out of the tropics" hypothesis.

However, aspects of these models have been questioned. For example, Weir and Schluter (2007) found that origination and extinction rates decrease towards the tropics, and Krug et al. (2010) found higher extinction rates towards the poles. Wiens et al. (2006), Mittelbach et al. (2007), Arita and Vázquez-Domínguez (2008), Soria-Carrasco and Castresana (2012), among others, found no change in diversification rates by latitude. Rabosky et al. (2018) showed a higher speciation rate of fish in higher latitudes. Pontarp et al. (2019) stated that this large number of studies, hypotheses and conflicting results comes from the failure to link ecological and evolutionary processes with the LBG.

Other studies have tried to explore different aspects of the LBG. Kinlock et al. (2018) showed that the present-day LBG is stronger in the western hemisphere, Silvestro, Castiglione, et al. (2019) found that extinction rate decreases with species age and this age-dependent extinction pattern is stronger towards the Equator. Schumm et al. (2019) showed that tropical faunas have higher functional richness but lower functional evenness than temperate faunas. Castro-Insua et al. (2018) observed a link between species range shape and latitude.

The present-day LBG pattern did not always exist (Mannion et al. (2014) and references therein). Equator-to-pole diversity gradients have been observed during the Palaeozoic era (Alroy et al., 2008; Jablonski et al., 2013; Krug, Patzkowsky, et al., 2007) as well as in the last ~30 Myr (Marcot et al., 2016; Yasuhara et al., 2012). Mannion et al. (2014) pointed out that the presence of a LBG coincided with periods where the Earth presented permanent ice sheets at both poles (icehouse intervals). On the other hand, instances of flat or temperate-peak LBGs (Archibald et al., 2010; Kiessling et al., 2012; Mannion et al., 2012; Rose et al., 2011; Smith et al., 2012; Yasuhara et al., 2012) seem to exist during warm periods like greenhouse intervals or interglacial periods (Mannion et al. (2014); Jones et al. (2019); but see also Kiessling et al. (2012) for a different view). Climate change was found to drive the LBG patterns through time (Meseguer & Condamine, 2020).

The evolution and causes of the present-day LBG have been the focus of multiple studies; nevertheless, it is a phenomenon that remains poorly understood – and like other similar diversity patterns of the past, it is important to take into account the fact that they can be obscured by geological and human-related biases (Benson & Upchurch, 2013; Smith & McGowan, 2007; Upchurch et al., 2011). Some studies suggest the modern-LBG first appeared around 30 Ma (Mannion et al. (2014) and references therein). On the other hand, based on their study on North American mammals, Marcot et al., 2016), suggested that this was formed only 4 Ma. The understanding of the formation and causes of the present-day LBG is

essential in comprehending the link between climate and biodiversity, as well as predicting how biodiversity will respond to future global warming. The appearance of the present-day LBG has not been extensively explored in South America either. Consequently, the relative roles of climate, Andean uplift, and the GABI on shaping South America's LBG have never been tested, but could illuminate our understanding of its emergence.



Figure 6: The present-day distribution of terrestrial vertebrate diversity follows the presentday Latitudinal Biodiversity Gradient, figure from Mannion et al. (2014). Red indicates higher diversity and blue hues indicate lower diversity.

Fossil record bias

The fossil record is valuable for understanding the past – it is however biased and the biological signal we want to study gets distorted (Allison & Briggs, 1993; Alroy et al., 2008; Forey et al., 2004; Peters & Foote, 2001; Raup, 1972, 1976; Sepkoski et al., 1981; Smith & McGowan, 2007, 2011). Past biological signals (e.g. diversity or diversification rate shifts) get obscured/distorted through the taphonomical/geological processes but also sampling effort (Alroy et al., 2001; Benton, 2008b, 2008a; Forey et al., 2004; Marx & Uhen, 2010; Peters, 2005; Peters & Foote, 2001; Raup, 1972, 1976; Smith, 2001; Smith & Benson, 2013; Smith & McGowan, 2011; Tarver et al., 2011; Uhen & Pyenson, 2007) (Figure 7). Taphonomical/geological biases refer to the fact that not everything that dies becomes a fossil and survives the tectonic and geological processes until the present day (Figure 7). This can be due to the organism's composition (organisms with hard parts like bone get fossilized substantially more), its living habitat (some habitats have higher preservation capability than others like lakes with still water and high sediment flux), the geological processes acting on the area (extreme deformation or metamorphism can destroy fossils) and its subsequent position today (due to tectonism fossiliferous rocks can end up in the surface thus getting exposed to erosion or in big depths thus being inaccessible).

Sampling biases refer to the fact that not everything that becomes a fossil gets discovered, studied and published (Figure 7). There is a significant variation in sampling effort depending on the cultural and economic situation of each country or region (the presence of universities and museum institutions etc.) with an extreme high in the US. Finally, there is a significant variation in sampling effort depending on the organism group, with some groups (e.g. dinosaurs) being very popular and thus more intensely sampled and less popular groups like invertebrates or plants being undersampled.

For example, numerous studies have found correlations between observed (= "raw") vertebrate diversity and sampling (Barrett et al., 2009; Benson et al., 2016; Butler et al., 2011; Cleary et al., 2018; Close et al., 2020a; Close et al., 2017; Dunne et al., 2018). Peters and Foote (2001) found that variation of marine diversity is an artefact of variation in rock availability and Kalmar and Currie (2010) showed that the marine record is far more complete than the terrestrial one. The early tetrapod fossil record is represented by few localities, the distribution of which is totally different between time periods, according to Benton (2015). Additionally, Tennant et al. (2018) showed that our understanding of dinosaur evolution changed throughout historical time, while Hunter and Donovan (2005) and Forcino and Stafford (2020) noted the presence of biases in the way palaeontologists collect/sample fossils. Finally, Riddle and Jezkova (2019) mentioned that within Mammalia, there is a publication bias towards papers on rodents.

Older studies evaluated the fossil record at face value, like for example Sepkoski et al. (1981), Benton (1995) and Sepkoski (1997). The issue of fossil biases first was first evaluated 50 years ago, with Raup (1972, 1976) arguing that taxonomic diversity fluctuations follow sedimentary fluctuations or sampling effort. Koch (1978) mentioned a bias in the published fossil record. Raup (1972, 1979) introduced the "Pull of the Recent" effect; he originally described this as the phenomenon according to which the better sampling of extant taxa results in the extension of the stratigraphic ranges of their most close fossil relatives to the present. On the contrary, this cannot be done for older taxa, therefore this can lead to an artificial diversity increase towards the present. However, this effect has mostly been used as a more general term to describe the increase of raw diversity towards recent time intervals because of the higher potential of sampling fossils in these more recent beds. Pease (1985) tried to amend this issue by introducing the "duration truncation" mechanism. Benton et al. (2000) showed that fewer fossils are found in older rocks and proposed that a temporal and taxonomic scaling is applied in order to uniform the documentation of life in the past. Signor and Lipps (1982) pointed out that because the fossil record is biased, it is unlikely that the first and last appearances of fossil species represent the true first and last appearances of the group in reality, a fact that complicates studying mass extinctions for example (the Signor-Lipps effect).

Early studies have tried to take into account and amend for fossil biases by looking at the relation of sediment and taxonomic fluctuation (Allison & Briggs, 1993; Sepkoski et al., 1981) or predicting the true diversity (Foote & Sepkoski, 1999). Later, a variety of methods has been developed in order to reconstruct the real biological signal accounting for fossil biases. Those include the use of sampling proxies, completeness metrics as proxies and subsampling methods.

The use of sampling proxies consists of the correction of fossil bias with the use of proxies like fossil-bearing formation or collection counts or a residual method described by Smith and McGowan (2007). Various studies have used that (Barrett et al., 2009; Butler et al., 2013; Mannion et al., 2011; Smith & McGowan, 2007). In the regional scale of New Zealand, Crampton

et al. (2003) found that outcrop area seems a reliable proxy for rock volume – but not formation count. However, Dunhill et al. (2012, 2014) argues that sampling proxies only partially represent fossil biases and should thus be avoided.

Another way studies have tried to take into account fossil bias is with the use of completeness metrics as proxies for preservation bias (Beardmore et al., 2012; Beardmore & Furrer, 2016; Brocklehurst et al., 2012; Brocklehurst & Fröbisch, 2014; Cleary et al., 2015; Dean et al., 2016; Mannion & Upchurch, 2010). There is a causal link between completeness metrics and diversity as more complete specimens are needed in order for a taxonomic identification to happen (Benton et al., 2013). On the other hand, Mannion and Upchurch (2010) argue that completeness metrics should not be used as bias proxies and the study of Cleary et al. (2015) also support that view.

Finally, the use of subsampling methods has been more recently used to estimate diversity through time taking into account fossil biases (Alroy, 2010b; Benson et al., 2016; Brusatte et al., 2015; Mannion et al., 2012, 2015; Nicholson et al., 2015). Two main subsampling methods have been used in the literature. The earlier one has been Classic Rarefaction (CR) (Miller & Foote, 1996; Raup, 1975) according to which random samples of individuals (individual-based) or groups of individuals (sample-based) are drawn for the whole occurrence dataset in order to generate an expected taxa count according to sampling intensity level CR and multiple studies have used that (Alroy et al., 2001, 2008; Fastovsky et al., 2004; Mannion et al., 2011; Raup, 1972, 1979). Later, a more sophisticated sample-standardising method came out by Alroy (2010b), called Shareholder Quorum Subsampling (SQS) and this is the primary method that is going to be used to estimate past diversity in this thesis.



Figure 7: Schematic presentation of the different types of fossil biases. Biological biases refer to the difference preservation potential due to animal size and tissue composition (those with ossified parts fossilize substantially better). abundance and geographical/temporal range (those with a large abundance and range have more probability of getting fossilised). Environmental biases are due to environments and ecosystems having different preservation potential. Geological biases come from the long processes of the Earth like sediment/rock deformation (faulting, folding etc.), magmatism and metamorphism (that destroy fossils) and erosion of the rocks and fossils that come out on the surface. Finally, anthropogenic biases refer to the spatially uneven potential of fossil discovery and research (because of the uneven spatial distribution of funding and/or expertise), the favouritism towards some fossil groups (like dinosaurs) and the inaccessibility of an important part of the Earth's surface because it is occupied for other uses. Biological and environmental processes are "quick" (taking from days to decades at a point in time in the past) compared to geological processes (taking Myrs).

Aims of this thesis

Despite South America's present-day biodiversity emergency and exceptional geobiological history, our knowledge of the continent's faunal evolution is still in its infancy, limiting our understanding of how the presentday distribution of biodiversity was assembled. Major knowledge gaps still exist, including the impact of geologically long-term climatic change on the continent's mammals, and the appearance of the present-day LBG on the continent. In this thesis, I evaluate spatiotemporal fluctuations in diversity and diversification dynamics of South American terrestrial eutherian mammals during the Cenozoic (66 to 0.012 Ma) including testing the potential roles of palaeoclimatic, palaeoenvironmental and tectonic drivers in shaping these patterns. I apply a novel combination of quantitative methods that accounts for uneven temporal and spatial sampling to a nearcomprehensive fossil occurrence dataset from the Paleobiology Database, and utilise model-induced palaeoenvironmental data local to South America. I compare these results to biodiversity patterns of metatherian mammal and other terrestrial vertebrate groups present on the continent. Finally, I evaluate the probable causes and timing of the emergence of the present-day terrestrial LBG in South America.

Material and Methods

Occurrence dataset

An important part of my work consisted of data entering in the Paleobiology Database (PBDB). This is an online, collaborative and open database storing fossil occurrences and information on their taxonomy, as well as stratigraphical and geographical position; paleocoordinates of fossil occurrences (along with position, size and form of the continents in the past) are sourced from Paleomap Project by Christopher R. Scotese (<u>http://www.scotese.com</u>) – paleogeographic rotation models. PBDB enterers first add a "reference" (i.e. a publication such as a scientific paper, book section, etc.) and from there they extract information on the taxonomy of the fossils mentioned (i.e. "authority" data and "opinion" data) as well as on the "collection" (i.e. the locality the fossil(s) were found, like age, geology and stratigraphy). This is where the occurrence(s) are added afterwards. It is not a quick process, but it ensures that all the information get stored in a concise way and that they are more easily accessible to more researchers.

I compiled an occurrence dataset of Cenozoic South American terrestrial mammals in the Paleobiology Database (PBDB; https://paleobiodb.org/), having entered 1654 new fossil occurrences from 450 collections and 168 references (that is ~25% of the dataset used in this thesis). In addition, I manually checked the validity of all existing occurrences in the PBDB, and where necessary, I updated their taxonomy and stratigraphy based on the latest literature. To detect possible spatiotemporal occurrence errors, I used the CoordinateCleaner R package ver. 2.0.2 (Zizka et al., 2019). This identified 246 possible outliers (0.04% of the total occurrences), which I evaluated and corrected where necessary. Following these additions and revisions, the PBDB includes a spatiotemporally and taxonomically up-to-date representation of the published literature on Cenozoic South American terrestrial mammals, as of the 3rd February 2021.

For my analyses, I downloaded all South American mammal occurrences from the PBDB on the 21st March 2021, with non-body fossils (e.g. trace fossils), marine and volant species (i.e. Chiroptera) excluded. Collections

identified in the PBDB as having a poor spatial resolution (i.e. local area and basin-level) were also excluded as such data lack specific geographic coordinates. Similarly, temporally unconstrained occurrences with an age range greater than the largest time bin in my thesis (i.e. the Ypresian, spanning 8.2 Myr) were also excluded. The final dataset comprises 6463 fossil occurrences of South American terrestrial eutherian mammals, representing 1325 genera and 1630 species, as well as 804 fossil occurrences of South American metatherians, representing 244 genera and 281 species.

Collection stratigraphic ages and time binning

A large proportion of the fossil occurrences in the PBDB are assigned to South American Land Mammal Ages (SALMA), some of which are currently out-of-date in the PBDB. Therefore, following the dataset download and before assigning time bins, I updated the SALMA' maximum and minimum age limits for each collection according to the latest published literature (see SI section 1).

To account for the age uncertainty of the fossil occurrences and the discord between SALMA and international chronostratigraphic stages (see SI section 1), I generated random absolute ages for each fossil collection by sampling a uniform distribution, defined by the collection's maximum and minimum age range. Using these generated ages, I subsequently binned occurrences into my time bins. This process was repeated 100 times (i.e. 100 occurrence datasets were generated), using the extract.ages() R function from pyrate_utilities.r (Silvestro et al., 2014).

To test the sensitivity of my results to the time binning protocol, I performed preliminary analyses with three different schemes, in the first year of this project, but no notable differences to the overall results were found, and herein I present results from stage-level analyses, which maximise the amount of stratigraphically resolved data. Because of their short duration, I combined stages of the Pleistocene (2.588–0.012 Ma) into a single time bin.

Latitudinal binning

For the latitudinal analyses, I binned occurrences into 15° latitudinal bins, following several other palaeobiological studies (Jones et al., 2021; Kröger, 2017; Mannion et al., 2012; Nicholson et al., 2016). During preliminary analyses, 10° latitudinal bins were also considered, however, they proved too fine scale to provide meaningful results, with insufficient sample sizes in each bin. Occurrences were temporally binned into the following time bins: Paleocene (66–56 Ma), Eocene (56–33.9 Ma), Oligocene (33.9–23.03 Ma), early (23.03–15.97 Ma), middle (15.97–11.63 Ma) and late Miocene (11.63–5.33 Ma), Pliocene (5.33–2.58 Ma), and Pleistocene (2.58–0.01 Ma). Preliminary analyses were also conducted at stage level; however, limited data availability prevented the production of meaningful results (SI section 12). Although some of the chosen temporal bins are of long duration, they capture substantial shifts in the Earth's climate system, tracking the transition from greenhouse to icehouse conditions (Inglis et al., 2015; Thomas, 2008; Zhang et al., 2019).

To compare past eutherian latitudinal diversity trends with those of extant members of the clade, I downloaded placental mammal occurrences from the Global Biodiversity Information Facility database (gbif.org; dataset DOI: <u>10.15468/dl.sex4w9</u>), removing marine and volant species, as well as any occurrences representing fossil remains. I then binned these extant occurrences into 15° latitudinal bins and calculated counts of families, genera, species, and localities (SI section 14).

Palaeoenvironmental and topographic datasets

Stage-level climate and topography simulations for the Cenozoic were carried out using the HadCM3BL-M2.1aD model, a version of the Bristol HadCM3BL coupled atmosphere-ocean general circulation model (Valdes et al., 2017). The HadCM3L model used here has a horizontal resolution of 2.5° x 3.75° in the atmosphere and ocean, with a vertical resolution of 19 levels in the atmospheric component, and 20 levels (5550 m depth) in the oceanic component (Valdes et al., 2017). HadCM3BL has been shown to perform well in reproducing average global and regional scale climate

patterns recorded in proxy data (Farnsworth, Lunt, O'Brien, et al., 2019; Saupe, Farnsworth, et al., 2019; Sellwood and Valdes, 2006; Valdes et al., 2017), and has recently been used in a number of palaeobiological studies (e.g. Chiarenza et al. (2019); Dunne et al. (2020); Saupe, Farnsworth, et al. (2019); Waterson et al. (2016)). For the stage-level climate simulations, the CO₂ concentration was held constant at 1,120 ppmv for the Paleogene and Eocene, 560 ppmv for the Oligocene, and 400 ppmv for the Neogene and Pleistocene. Model boundary conditions (topography, bathymetry, and ice sheet configurations; at 0.5 x 0.5° resolution and downscaled to model resolution) for each geologic stage following the methods of Lunt et al. (2016). Stage-specific solar luminosity was calculated using the methods of (Lunt et al., 1981).

Each palaeoclimatic simulation was initialised from a set of stage-level simulations from Farnsworth, Lunt, O'Brien, et al. (2019) that was already spun-up for 10,422 years. A new implementation of the ozone scheme in HadCM3BL was adopted that dynamically identifies the height of the tropopause whose height can increase higher into the troposphere in warmer climates such as those during the Paleogene. The new scheme also makes sure that stratospheric ozone cannot penetrate into the troposphere, which would be unphysical. The 3-D ozone distribution scheme was therefore replaced by the Meteorological team in Bristol with a simple dynamic one in which ozone is coupled to the model's tropopause height and use constant values for the troposphere (0.02 ppm), tropopause (0.2 ppm), and stratosphere (5.5 ppm). This change makes a negligible difference to the global mean surface temperature but does have a small impact on the stratospheric temperature (~-6 °C in the pre-industrial simulation) and winds (~-8 m/s for the pre-industrial). These simulations were run by the team for a further 6,000 years to ensure full surface and deep ocean equilibrium. Experience has shown it can take many thousands of model years (sometimes upwards of 10⁴ years to fully equilibrate to all of the model boundary conditions, particularly in the deep ocean. This is essential so that model atmosphere and ocean circulation is representative of stage-level boundary conditions.

55

From the palaeoclimatic simulations, I extracted near-surface (1.5 m above ground) mean annual temperature and precipitation for the South American continent. Using these data, I calculated the mean, minimum, and maximum values of temperature and precipitation for each stage-level bin, and each latitudinal bin (15°). Stage-level topographic data for the South American continent were extracted from Getech's digital elevation models (DEMs), which provide gridded ($0.5^{\circ} \times 0.5^{\circ}$) representations of the Earth's topography and bathymetry. These DEMs serve as the boundary conditions for the climate simulations (Markwick, 2019; Markwick & Valdes, 2004), and provide explicit data for when the configuration of the continents were different from today. These models have been used in a number of recent deep-time climate niche studies (Dean et al., 2019; Jones et al., 2021; Lyster et al., 2020; Saupe et al., 2020).

I also extracted global palaeotemperature proxies from Westerhold et al. (2020), which is based on global δ^{18} O isotope reconstructions from benthic foraminifera. I used the mean of these values for each of my time bins. Lastly, data on Andean topography were extracted from Boschman (2021) and Boschman and Condamine (2022). These are estimates of palaeoelevation of the Andean region throughout the last 88 Myr. I used the mean of these values for each of my time bins. The Andean uplift was diachronous, with different regions of the Andes having different pulses of uplift during the Cenozoic (Boschman, 2021). Although the use of mean Andean uplift does not allow us to evaluate regional variation in the influence of Andean uplift on diversification of eutherian mammals, it is a useful proxy to evaluate the relationships between orogeny, fossil sampling, and eutherian mammal diversification at a continental scale, which is the focus of this thesis.

Raw taxonomic counts, sampling, and alpha diversity

Given that genus-level analyses enable the inclusion of a greater amount of data (i.e. specifically indeterminate remains can be retained), and that fossil species identification is more prone to taxonomic bias, I restrict most of my analyses to genus-level (see alpha diversity below for an exception). Furthermore, a Spearman's correlation test showed a statistically significant, strong positive correlation between mean counts of genera and species (Rho = 0.931; p < 0.001).

For each time bin, I calculated the mean of counts of sampling proxies (collections, formations, occupied equal area grid cells, and reference counts) from dataset replicates (n = 100). Occupied equal-area grid cells were generated using the dggridR R package ver. 2.0.4 (Barnes & Sahr, 2017), with 100 km spacings. To evaluate the influence of sampling on observed diversity trends, I calculated the Spearman's correlation coefficient between mean counts of each sampling proxy and mean counts of genera.

I estimated alpha diversity (local richness) by counting the number of eutherian mammal species per fossil locality (= PBDB fossil collection, which is a specific geographic point and stratigraphic level). To compliment these estimates, I also calculated 'cryptic' diversity by including specifically indeterminate occurrences in each collection that potentially represent additionally distinct species. Despite its potential to be informative, and enabling the inclusion of a greater amount of fossil data, cryptic diversity has been largely overlooked in palaeobiodiversity analyses, with few exceptions (Close et al., 2019; Dunne et al., 2018; Mannion et al., 2011).

I calculated cryptic alpha diversity using two methods, which I refer to as the 'relaxed' and the 'conservative' approach. The 'relaxed' approach is comparable to recent work, in which it was termed 'indeterminate richness' (Close et al., 2019; Dunne et al., 2018). Under this approach, alpha diversity equals the number of unique occurrence names in any given collection, with all specifically indeterminate occurrences (e.g. Genus sp. or Family indet.) counted as distinct species. The second method, the more 'conservative' approach, is analogous to that applied by Mannion et al. (2011). Under this protocol, specifically indeterminate occurrences are considered distinct only if they belong to a higher taxonomic level (e.g. order) not already represented in the collection. This is best illustrated with an example of a hypothetical fossil locality that contains the following four occurrences: Macrauchenidae indet., Toxodontia indet., *Macrauchenia patagonica*, and

Macrauchenia sp. (SI section 2). Alpha diversity, calculated in the standard approach, for that locality would be equal to one, as the only recognised species for this collection would be *Macrauchenia patagonica*. However, under the conservative protocol, cryptic alpha diversity for the same collection would equal two, with the recognition of the additional distinct species, Toxodontia indet. Finally, under the relaxed protocol, cryptic alpha diversity would equal four, with *Macrauchenia* sp. and Macrauchenidae indet. also recognised as distinct species. To evaluate whether these two measures of cryptic alpha diversity scale with standard alpha diversity, I carried out Spearman's rank correlation coefficient tests.

Sampling-corrected diversity and diversification rates

To calculate diversity, as well as rates of speciation and extinction through time and space, accounting for sampling biases, I used two methods with different computational approaches: coverage-based rarefaction and PyRate. Plots of my results were produced with the ggplot2 R package ver.3.3.5 (Wickham, 2016), and the geological timescale was added with the deeptime R package ver. 0.2.2 (Gearty, 2020).

Coverage-based rarefaction

Coverage-based rarefaction (Chao & Jost, 2012), or Shareholder Quorum Subsampling (SQS) as it is more commonly known amongst palaeobiologists (Alroy, 2010a), is a widely applied subsampling approach used to account for uneven sampling in the fossil record (e.g., Close et al., 2020a; Close et al., 2018; Dunne et al., 2018). SQS calculates diversity between bins in an objective, frequency-dependant way that is not driven by sampling (Chao & Jost, 2012). For each bin, it calculates taxon frequencies, i.e. the proportion of occurrences of each taxon relative to the total (Alroy, 2010c). Taxa are then sampled and their frequencies summed to calculate a coverage value. Sampling stops when a desired level of coverage (= quorum) is reached. The quorum level is adjusted for each time

bin via Good's *u* (a value between 0 and 1), which is an estimate of sampling quality that corresponds to the proportion of occurrences of non-singleton taxa (Alroy, 2010b, 2010c). Therefore, each time bin can be subsampled to a maximum coverage, until the Good's *u* value is reached. As such, it is more robust than other subsampling methods, such as classical rarefaction, that tend to flatten the estimated diversity curves (Alroy, 2010c; Close et al., 2018).

Coverage-based rarefaction, along with all data manipulation, was performed in R ver. 4.1.0 (R Core Team, 2021), using the tidyverse R package ver. 1.3.1 (Wickham et al., 2019). Eutherian and metatherian diversity were independently calculated with estimateD() from the iNext R package ver. 2.0.2 (Hsieh et al., 2020). This approach implements SQS based on the equations of Chao and Jost (2012), and extrapolation is based on the Chao1 estimator. Data were rarefied by collections and extrapolated estimates were limited to twice the sample size (as recommended in Hsieh et al. (2016). For the temporal analyses, diversity estimates were generated under three quorum levels (0.4, 0.6, and 0.8) as relative and rank-order diversity can vary depending on elected guorum level. In addition to generating diversity estimates for all terrestrial eutherian mammals, I also calculated SQS diversity of the main eutherian groups that comprise most of my dataset: caviomorph rodents, xenarthrans, and SANUs. Latitudinal analyses were incompatible with diversity estimates at higher quorum levels due to low sample size. I therefore focused my analyses on latitudinal diversity estimates under a quorum level of 0.4.

As variability in spatial sampling has the potential to bias reconstructions of global and latitudinal biodiversity trends (Close et al., 2020b; Flannery-Sutherland et al., 2022; Jones et al., 2021), I implemented a grid-cell rarefaction (GCR) approach (e.g. Close, Benson, Alroy, et al. (2020); Jones (2020) to test the impact on my continental diversity estimates. For each of the dataset replicates, and for each time bin, I randomly sampled (without replacement) five occupied equal-area grid cells (with 100 km spacings; Barnes and Sahr (2017)). Subsequently, I performed SQS (as described above) on collections intersecting with sampled cells. For each of the 100 dataset replicates, this process was repeated 100 times, and the mean of

means was computed. This analysis found no considerable difference between continental biodiversity trends when analyses were conducted with and without GCR, and therefore I focus my results on those without GCR implemented (SI section 4).

PyRate

PyRate is an approach to estimating speciation, extinction, and preservation rates from fossil occurrence data, and has been implemented in a growing number of palaeobiological studies (e.g. Bacon et al. (2015); Carrillo et al. (2020); Huang et al. (2017); Pimiento et al. (2017); Silvestro, Castiglione, et al. (2019)). It applies Bayesian algorithms on occurrence datasets and calculates three sets of parameters, for every 1 Myr. Firstly, preservation rates (i.e. fossilization and sampling rates) are calculated based on the expected fossil occurrence count per sampled lineage per time unit. Secondly, based on these rates, speciation and extinction times are calculated for each taxon, which is important given that the true temporal extent of a species will almost certainly exceed its sampled (i.e. observed) range (Lee & Stenseth, 2007; Signor & Lipps, 1982). Finally, diversification rates are calculated, expressed as speciation and extinction rates (i.e. the expected number of speciation and extinction events per lineage per time unit), along with their temporal shifts. This is implemented with a birth-death model and can have temporal variability (i.e. rates can change for all groups at estimated times of rate shift) and taxon variability (i.e. rates can vary among taxa). PyRate then calculates the support of the different birth-death models on the data by calculating each model's maximum likelihoods and comparing them using Bayes factors (Kass & Raftery, 1995).

Information on whether a taxon is extant is also required for PyRate – this information was extracted from the PBDB and validated based on the available literature. I chose a time-variable Poisson Process model of preservation, as this was the best-fitting model for my data according to the built-in command -PPmodeltest (SI section 4-5). I coupled this with a Gamma model to describe rate heterogeneity through time across taxa (using the -pP command). I also calculated individual lineage rates (using

60

the -mG command), in addition to the rates of the whole dataset. I ran the PyRate analysis for 10,000,000 Reversible-Jump Markov Chain Monte Carlo generations (Green, 1995), sampling every 1000 generations, and I applied this to each of the 100 dataset replicates. I combined the resultant log files using the -combLogRJ and -combLog commands to obtain diversification and preservation rates, after removing the first 1000 generations as a burn-in period. PyRate analyses were performed on University College London's Myriad cluster, using PyRate ver. 0.5.0 in Python ver. 3.0 (Python Software Foundation, 2021).

Correlation tests

I tested for correlations between variables using ordinary least-square (OLS) regressions fitted by maximizing the log-likelihood and using the Im() function from base R. More specifically, I evaluated the contribution of individual eutherian groups (caviomorphs, xenarthrans, SANUs) on total eutherian diversity patterns through time. Similarly, I tested the correlation between subsampled eutherian and metatherian diversity through time, as well as the effect of global and regional palaeoenvironmental variables and Andean topography on sample-standardised eutherian diversity and diversification rates through time and space.

Results and Discussion

Observed diversity patterns

Cenozoic South American terrestrial eutherian mammal fossil occurrences are consistently rare at lower latitudes (although they are less rare in the Pleistocene), and the fossil record in the tropics is generally scarce (Figure 8A). Counts of observed genera and species have a strong, positive, statistically significant correlation with one another and with sampling proxies (i.e. number of occupied cells, collections, formations, and references; R>0.9, p<0.001). There are observed diversity and sampling peaks in the Bartonian (middle Eocene), Burdigalian (early Miocene), Tortonian (late Miocene), Zanclean (early Pliocene), and, most prominently, the Pleistocene (Figure 8C). There is also a strong, positive, statistically significant correlation between numbers of observed genera and Andean topography (R = 0.84; p<0.001). This potentially suggests that mountain building increases preservation potential, and that peaks in observed diversity might be artefacts of factors such as increased erosion during heightened orogenic activity. Sampling therefore appears to drive observed temporal and spatial diversity patterns, underlying the importance in accounting for it.

The three alpha diversity metrics produce broadly congruent results (SI section 2), and I herein discuss patterns based on the conservative cryptic approach (Figure 8B). Alpha diversity increases through time, but outliers (i.e. collections with exceptional diversity) are not exclusive to Recent times. For example, the middle Eocene Colhué-Huapi, the late Oligocene Cabeza Blanca, and the early Miocene Gran Barranca localities (all found at high latitudes) have a similar diversity as the early Pliocene Farola Monte Hermoso and Pleistocene Tarija localities (Figure 8B). Latitudinally, the highest alpha diversity levels are recorded in collections at high paleolatitudes (approximately 45–50°S), with an equatorward decline in alpha diversity, the exception to this is the Pleistocene where alpha diversity is more evenly distributed with latitude (Figure 8B). These results highlight the issue of uneven spatial fossil sampling across the continent, with

Patagonian localities more numerous and richer in fossils, and with a longer history of collection and studies.



Figure 8: Spatio-temporal variation of fossil sampling and alpha diversity of eutherian mammals in South America. **(A)** Raw counts of different proxies of fossil sampling through time **(B)** cryptic alpha diversity (size of circles indicates cryptic diversity values) through time and latitude, and **(C)** Spatial distribution of fossil occurrences through time.

Sampling-corrected diversity patterns

A subtly different evolutionary history emerges after considering uneven sampling through time and space. Sample-standardised eutherian diversity shows a continuous rise throughout the Paleogene. The exception appears to be the Priabonian (late Eocene), but the exceptionally low extrapolated diversity for this time interval almost certainly reflects this stage's poor fossil record (Figure 9; SI section 5). Diversification rates initially increased and overall remained positive, with peaks in speciation rate occurring in the late Paleocene, Bartonian (middle Eocene), and early Oligocene (Figure 9). These results appear to reflect the initial arrival and subsequent radiation of eutherian mammals in South America in the aftermath of the Cretaceous/Paleogene mass extinction, 66 Ma, which has been termed the First American Biotic Interchange (Goin, et al., 2012a). Much of this initial radiation pertains to SANUs (Croft et al., 2020), with xenarthrans and caviomorph rodents increasingly contributing to South American diversity from the middle-late Eocene (Goin, et al., 2012a). The later Paleogene speciation peak likely reflects the 'Patagonian Hinge', a faunal turnover documented in the southern part of South America that has been linked with climate cooling (Goin et al., 2010). The end of the Paleogene is characterised by a diversification decline, resulting from an increase in extinction rate.

During the earliest Neogene, there is a subsequent peak in diversification, resulting from a rise in speciation rate in the Aquitanian and Burdigalian (early Miocene). Speciation and extinction are largely constant throughout the remainder of the Miocene, but there is a diversity decline in the first middle Miocene, reaching the lowest value of the Neogene (Figure 9). The Tortonian (early late Miocene) and early Pliocene are characterized by high eutherian diversity, with a decline in the latest Miocene (Messinian); see also Carrillo et al. (2020). Extinction rates spike in the late Pliocene and the late Pleistocene, producing a diversity decline towards the Recent (Figure 9).

SANUs, xenarthrans, and caviomorphs all peak in diversity in the Oligocene, with SANUs reaching their zenith (Figure 9). This is followed by a decline in all groups, until the late middle Miocene and a recovery in the late Miocene. The decline in SANU diversity results from the disappearance of Pyrotheria in the late Oligocene, and Astrapotheria in the middle Miocene (Croft et al., 2020). The late Miocene recovery in SANU diversity is driven

by Notoungulata and Litopterna, prior to the total extinction of SANUs, with the last representatives (including the litoptern *Macrauchenia* and notoungulate *Toxodon*) part of the late Pleistocene megafaunal extinctions (Croft et al., 2020; Goin, et al., 2012a). Xenarthrans show their highest diversity in the late Pliocene but decline afterwards (Figure 9), representing one of the most affected groups in the megafaunal extinctions in South America (Barnosky & Lindsey, 2010). Caviomorphs are the only major South American eutherian group whose diversity recovers in the Pleistocene, which is reflected by the relatively high proportion the group represents in present-day South American ecosystems (Vucetich et al., 2015).

Some of the overall eutherian diversity patterns are similar to those of other vertebrate groups in South America. Turtle diversity patterns are broadly similar to those of eutherians, with the exception that the former group's diversity increased in the Pleistocene (Vlachos et al., 2018). Crocodylian diversity peaked in the middle-late Miocene on the continent, before declining thereafter (Mannion et al., 2015; Scheyer et al., 2013). However, whereas fluctuations in crocodylian diversity seem to correspond with the evolution of the western Amazonia Pebas mega-wetland system (Salas-Gismondi et al., 2015), no such clear link has been found for eutherians (Antoine et al., 2017). By contrast, metatherians show an overall decline in diversity during the Cenozoic (SI section 11; Bennett et al. (2018); Tarquini et al. (2022)), leading to their relatively low representation in present-day South American ecosystems. In general, metatherians have low diversity wherever they are found with eutherians, probably due to the former group's developmental characteristics that renders them less energy-efficient and less adaptable (Bennett & Goswami, 2013; Goin et al., 2016; Goswami et al., 2016).



Figure 9: Eutherian mammal diversity and environmental changes in South America through time. **(A)** extinction, speciation and diversification rates, calculated by PyRate - the arrows indicate instances of rate shifts supported by a strongly significant posterior probability of rate shift (logBF > 6). Shaded area represents confidence intervals. **(B)** Coverage-based diversity for all eutherian mammals (for quora 0.4, 0.6, and 0.8), and for **(C)** the main eutherian groups Notoungulata (here indicated by a litoptern illustration),

Xenarthra (here illustrated by a glyptodont illustration), and caviomorph rodents (here indicated by a *Phoberomys* illustration), for quorum level 0.4. (**D**) South American mean annual temperature and precipitation (both calculated using the HadCM3 models) and mean Andean uplift, based on Boschman (2021) and Boschman & Condamine (2021). Shaded area represents maximum and minimum values. (**E**) Elevation maps of South America for 66, 55, 34, 20, 15, 10, and 5Ma. Andean topology from Boschman (2021). Marine incursions based on Wesselingh & Hoorn (2011) and Hernandez et al. (2005) for Amazonia and south-eastern South America respectively. River system illustrated in 55 and 34Ma maps are strictly speculative, used to illustrate direction of drainage. The Amazonian river system in 5Ma map is based on the present-day. C: central, N: northern, E: eastern, W: western parts of the Andes.

Tectonic, environmental, and biotic drivers

I found no statistically significant correlation between sample-standardised diversity through time and any of the tested palaeoenvironmental variables, including continental-scale topography (SI section 9). However, Andean topography is significantly correlated with eutherian sample-standardised diversity through time (slope = 0.012, p = 0.0169, Adjusted R² = 0.2975; Figure 9). Coupled with the positive correlation with observed diversity (see above), this suggests that mountain building acts as a 'common cause' on land (*sensu* Peters, 2005), shaping both my sampling of diversity, as well as diversity itself. When this correlation is evaluated individually for each of the three main groups of South American eutherians (Adjusted R² = 0.7577), I recover positive, but statistically non-significant correlations for xenarthrans (slope = 26.11, p = 0.056) and caviomorphs (slope = 32.06, p = 0.213), but a significant negative correlation between Andean topography and sampling-standardised diversity of SANUs through time (slope = -65.8, p = 0.004).

The lack of recovery of a statistically significant correlation between continental-scale South American topography and temporal diversity could be because it was topographical changes in the Andean region only, and not the whole of the continent, that drove diversity shifts (SI section 9). On the other hand, the lack of correlation between the tested palaeoenvironmental variables and temporal diversity patterns does not necessarily reject climate as a driver of South American eutherian diversity.

The formation of the Andes played a key role in transforming the South American continental climate, working in tandem with global climate cooling (Palazzesi et al., 2014). More specifically, the Andes formed a barrier that extended from the continent's highest to lowest altitudes; this prevented Pacific humid winds from reaching the central and eastern parts of the mountain chain, thus promoting aridification in those regions, while increasing precipitation in the western side of the mountain range (Cione et al., 2015a; Figueiredo et al., 2009; Hoorn, Wesselingh, ter Steege, et al., 2010; Insel et al., 2010; Ortiz-Jaureguizar & Cladera, 2006; Pascual & Odreman-Rivas, 1973; Poulsen et al., 2010; Quattrocchio et al., 2003; Rech et al., 2006). It is likely that the palaeo-temperature and -precipitation variables do not adequately capture these regional, albeit key, climatic shifts for South America, because of their coarser scale.

Mountains generally provide a broad range of habitats, and are linked with high diversity (Badgley et al., 2017; Hoorn et al., 2018; Perrigo et al., 2020). Today, the Andes Mountains are one of the globe's biodiversity hotspots, hosting the highest number of vertebrate and plant species (Myers et al., 2000), and its evolution is thought to have played an important role in this richness (Antonelli et al., 2018; Boschman & Condamine, 2022; Hoorn, Wesselingh, ter Steege, et al., 2010; Pérez-Escobar et al., 2022). Andean uplift has been diachronous (Boschman, 2021; Figure 9E), and sections of the mountain range have been subject to different tectonic forces (Gianni et al., 2018; Pérez-Escobar et al., 2022; Schepers et al., 2017). The overall early rise in South American eutherian diversity coincides with relatively low Andean uplift rates, which primarily occurred in the central and northern parts of the mountain range (Boschman, 2021; Boschman & Condamine, 2022). During this interval, west-central regions of the mountain chain that had been marine basins (Boschman, 2021) became low-altitude terrestrial regions (Hoorn, Wesselingh, ter Steege, et al., 2010).

Eutherian mammals experienced increased extinction rates, that could potentially be linked with the habitat changes that took place at the end of the Paleogene, as South America experienced a >5 °C drop in temperature, dense forests started to be replaced by open shrublands in the southern parts of the continent (Dunn et al., 2015), and drainage systems changed in

northern and central South America, with east-west flowing rivers shifting to a northwest flow direction (Figueiredo et al., 2009; Hoorn, Wesselingh, ter Steege, et al., 2010; Sena Costa et al., 2000). Mountain building intensified in the Miocene onwards, occurring mainly in the northern and, most notably, east-central Andes (Boschman, 2021; Boschman & Condamine, 2022; Tournier et al., 2020), coinciding with overall positive diversification rates in the Miocene, the exception being the Langhian (middle Miocene), a period characterised by extensive marine transgressions in South America (Hernández et al., 2005; Wesselingh & Hoorn, 2011), and during which eutherians experienced an extinction rate peak.

The late Miocene eutherian diversity peak coincides with an estimated elevation increase of ~2500m between 9.1 and 3.8 Ma, with mountainous forests characterised by high precipitation in the central parts of the Andes (Martínez et al., 2020). It is also synchronous with the initial development of the Amazonian river system in northern-central South America (Bicudo et al., 2020; Figueiredo et al., 2009; Mora et al., 2010; Sacek, 2014), as well as the emergence of primarily open grassland habitats in the Patagonian region (Dunn et al., 2015; Palazzesi & Barreda, 2012; Strömberg et al., 2013). Carrillo et al. (2020) recovered a similar late Miocene diversity peak, which they attributed primarily to fossil occurrences emanating from the Ituzaingó formation (Brunetto et al., 2013; Cione et al., 2000). Although those authors considered the possibility that this might be a sampling artefact, these results support their preferred interpretation that the late Miocene represents a genuine diversity increase in South American eutherian mammals (e.g. caviomorphs; see below).

The eutherian diversity decline in the Pliocene onwards took place during a more intensified phase of Andean uplift, including a north-eastward (Ecuador) and central-westward uplift migration, reaching the Sub-Andean and Sierras Pampeanas regions (Boschman, 2021; Boschman & Condamine, 2022), habitat shifts (including the appearance of more punalike ecosystems; Martínez et al., 2020), and an important climate shift: South American mean annual temperature reached its lowest value around that time, dropping from 26 °C in the late Pliocene to 23 °C in the Pleistocene (Figure 9). Similarly, mean annual precipitation reached its highest late Cenozoic value (probably related to the appearance of high precipitation mountainous areas in central Andes; Martínez et al., 2020), increasing from 2.7 kg/m²/s in the late Pliocene to 3.4 kg/m²/s in the Pleistocene (Figure 9).

Although my analyses do not directly test the effect of the GABI, with its main phases taking place in the Pliocene and Pleistocene (Carrillo et al., 2020), broad patterns can be observed. The diversity decline of South American mammals occurred primarily in southern South America (Carrillo et al., 2020), and has been attributed to stresses induced by the GABI arrivals (e.g. competition, higher susceptibility to predation, transmission of pathogens), as well as from ongoing climatic changes (Carrillo et al., 2020; Faurby & Svenning, 2016; Morgan, 2008; Webb, 1985; Woodburne, 2010). Caviomorph diversity was in decline during the Pliocene (Figure 9), including the loss of lineages belonging to Dinomyidae, Echimyidae, Erethizontidae, as well as the extinction of Neoepiblemidae (Vucetich et al., 2015). On the other hand, xenarthran diversity peaked in the Pliocene. The group's resilience to North American newcomers (as well as their own dispersal success into North America) has been attributed to their unique characteristics, including their flexible and expanded diet, resulting from their dental complexity (Castro et al., 2015; Ciancio et al., 2014; Vizcaíno, 2009), as well as their relatively low metabolic rates (McNab, 1985). Xenarthrans also evolved a high diversity of gigantic forms in the Pliocene, including sloths, glyptodonts and pampatheres, that could have rendered them more resilient towards predation and competition with the new GABI arrivals (Faurby & Svenning, 2016), although they went extinct in the Pleistocene megafaunal extinctions (Patterson et al., 2013), possibly as a result of human predation (e.g. Carlini et al. (2022)).

The reasons leading to the extinction of the last SANUs in the Pleistocene are still unclear. Previous studies have pointed to the rise of competition due to the arrival of Proboscidea, Perissodactyla and Artiodactyla from North America during the GABI (Webb, 1976), and/or their increased susceptibility to predation by newly arrived carnivorans (Carrillo et al., 2020; Faurby & Svenning, 2016; Patterson & Pascual, 1968). However, these hypotheses cannot explain the long-term decline of SANUs from the late Oligocene onwards (Figure 9). The results of this thesis suggest that Andean uplift,

and its concomitant dramatic habitat reshaping, was the key factor in their long-term decline. The highly unusual morphologies of SANUs, like the earlier appearance of hypsodonty (potentially linked with the evolution of the Andes (Dunn et al., 2015; Kohn et al., 2015; Strömberg et al., 2013)), in conjunction with their overall lower diversity (compared to xenarthrans and caviomorphs), might have led to a greater susceptibility of some clades to rapid habitat changes. For example, sedimentological and bone microstructural evidence support a semi-aquatic habitat for astrapotheres (Carrillo et al., 2018; Houssaye et al., 2016), and it is likely that changes in the drainage pattern of the Pebas mega-wetland system contributed to their extinction in the middle Miocene (Antoine et al., 2017; Hoorn, Wesselingh, ter Steege, et al., 2010). Interestingly, Andean uplift has also been proposed as one of the key factors driving the decline of sparassodont metatherians in the second half of the Cenozoic (Pino et al., 2022; Tarquini et al., 2022). It has also been suggested to have acted as the driver of the deep-time high diversification of some amphibian and reptile groups in the Paleogene and Neogene (Boschman & Condamine, 2022).

The emergence of the present-day latitudinal biodiversity gradient

Sample-standardised eutherian diversity is reconstructed as highest at midlatitudes (30° to 45° S) during the Paleogene and early–middle Miocene (Figure 10). In the late Miocene, diversity is highest in the 15° to 30° S latitudinal band. Although the Pliocene record is not rich enough at low latitudes to reconstruct a diversity gradient, sample-standardised eutherian diversity is highest at 0° to 15° S in the Pleistocene. Fossil sampling is generally patchy in lower latitudes of South America (Carrillo et al., 2015), and thus is difficult to compare diversity between tropical and temperate latitudes with confidence. However, focusing on the better sampled latitudinal bands, diversity declines within high latitudes from the early– middle Miocene, to the Recent (Figure 10). Sampling improves towards the Recent (Carrillo et al., 2015), suggesting that these results have less probability of being artefacts of the uneven preservation of fossils latitudinally. My results suggest that the South American terrestrial LBG was potentially flatter than the present-day during the early Cenozoic. They suggest that the LBG began to steepen in the late Miocene, with the present-day gradient forming at some point during the Plio-Pleistocene, i.e. in the last 5 Myr. This is broadly congruent with the emergence of the present-day LBG in continental North America, estimated to have formed approximately 4 Ma (Marcot et al., 2016).

Potential LBG drivers dan be summarized as geographical, historical, and climatic (see also Mittelbach et al. (2007); Pontarp et al. (2019); Willig et al. (2003)), with the fossil record providing an unparallel perspective with which to tease apart competing hypotheses (Brodie & Mannion, 2022). Geographical drivers refer to greater areal extent enabling higher diversity in the tropics (Rosenzweig, 1995). Although South America holds greater area extent towards the tropics, this has been the case throughout the last 66 Myr, and so this cannot explain the emergence of the present-day LBG only in the last 5 Myr. Furthermore, no statistically significant correlation was found between diversity and land area with latitude in any time interval in my thesis.

Historical drivers are those that involve higher tropical diversity building up over longer uninterrupted time intervals, as a consequence of relatively limited environmental perturbations (Willig et al., 2003). Although Andean uplift, a key driver of the continent's reshaping, had a less prominent effect in the southern parts of the continent (see above), other tectonic-driven shifts were taking place that did affect this region, namely the separation of South America and Antarctica in the Paleogene (Livermore et al., 2005), resulting in the formation of the Drake Passage during the Eocene/Oligocene transition (Barker & Burrell, 1977; Scher & Martin, 2006b; Toumoulin et al., 2020). This led to the development of the Circumpolar Current (Livermore et al., 2004), which amplified ongoing cooling and aridification in southern South America, as well as ice sheet expansion in Antarctica (Goin, et al., 2012a; Miller et al., 1987; Mudelsee et al., 2014; Passchier et al., 2013; Prothero et al., 2003). This shift to colder, drier, and more seasonal habitats coincided with the 'Patagonian Hinge' (Goin et al., 2010). Thus, these environmental perturbations and faunal
disruptions at higher latitudes might have played a role in shaping the present-day South American LBG, but lower latitudes were not environmentally or tectonically stable either.

Climate has often been considered as the main driver of the LBG, with a higher concentration of taxa in the tropics, with specialised, restricted niches as a consequence of lower seasonality and higher insolation and productivity (Archibald et al., 2010; Mittelbach et al., 2007; Willig et al., 2003). Furthermore, the presence of a unimodal LBG (i.e. the present-day pattern) has been linked with periods of icehouse worlds, i.e. intervals characterised by a steeper latitudinal temperature gradient and higher seasonality (Kröger, 2017; Mannion et al., 2014). With the transition to an icehouse world in the late Paleogene (a period of warm climate, and extensive temperate diversity like the presence of monkeys in Patagonia; Silvestro, Tejedor, et al. (2019)), and a continued global cooling trajectory into the Neogene (Westerhold et al., 2020; Zachos et al., 2008), and the further cooling and precipitation increase in the Plio-Pleistocene transition, the absence of a unimodal LBG in South America until the last 5 Myr, fits this scenario. Moreover, I found that the latitudinal distribution of mean annual temperature (slope = 0.765, p = 0.015) and mean annual precipitation (slope = -4.329, p = 0.027) correlate with eutherian diversity in the Pleistocene. The importance of precipitation, alongside temperature, has previously been recognised in constraining the distribution of diversity (Saupe, Myers, et al., 2019), including for North American Cenozoic mammals (Fraser et al., 2014). In the late Pleistocene, in particular, Saupe, Myers, et al. (2019) showed that the effect of precipitation shifts on diversity were more intense at lower latitudes, whereas temperature shifts were more intense at higher latitudes. Although the absence of such a correlation in earlier time periods could be a result of less complete fossil sampling, my data show that there was a major tropical precipitation increase in the Pliocene/Pleistocene transition of South America from 2.9 to 4.9 kg/m²/s in the 0° to 15° N latitudinal band (perhaps related to the Andean uplift of these regions), and a 2.5 to 3.3 kg/m²/s increase in the 0° to 15° S band (SI section 13). Temperature and precipitation are therefore potentially key drivers of the South American LBG pattern, at least in the Plio-Pleistocene. Climate was also underlined as the main driver in North America, with a strengthened gradient linked with global cooling (Marcot et al., 2016).



Figure 10: Spatial eutherian subsampled diversity (for quorum level = 0.4), using 15 degree latitudinal bins, for the Paleocene, Eocene, Oligocene, Early Miocene, Middle Miocene, Late Miocene, Pliocene, and Pleistocene.

The Plio-Pleistocene appearance of the present-day LBG also coincides with the main phases of the GABI. Although Marcot et al. (2016) discarded the GABI as a key driver of the LBG in North America, due to the relatively low number of South American groups reaching North America, this is not the case for South America. The GABI was asymmetrical, with disproportionately more North American taxa reaching South America (Bacon et al., 2015; Webb & Marshall, 1982), or at least a greater number of species successfully establishing themselves on the southern landmass (Carrillo et al., 2020). However, the Plio-Pleistocene fossil record of tropical South America shows that North American mammals did not dominate these ecosystems, and their representation was in fact much greater at higher latitudes in South America (Carrillo et al., 2018; Carrillo-Briceño et al., 2021), with a possible dispersal corridor forming via Andean uplift, facilitating the movement of North American groups reaching the central and southern-most parts of South America (Patterson et al., 2012). As such, higher South American diversity at low latitudes did not result from increased North American emigrants into the tropics, although heightened extinction of South American eutherians, in the southern parts of the continent, due to competition with North American emigrants, likely contributed to the steepening of the LBG. Regardless, my results indicate a primary role for climate in shaping the emergence of the South American terrestrial LBG.

Conclusion

The findings of this thesis have shed light on the multi-faceted and deeptime relation between terrestrial vertebrate diversity and climate and topography, in South America, one of the continents most affected by the current climate crisis. Andean uplift, along with its subsequent habitat and climate remodelling taking place throughout the Cenozoic, drove eutherian mammal diversity in South America, aiding some groups to diversify, while others to perish. In addition, precipitation and temperature likely played a key role in the emergence of the present-day terrestrial mammalian LBG in the last 5 Myr, similar to that of North America. While there are still plenty of aspects of the diversity-climate relationship to explore, like the role of the GABI in the shaping of the LBG, this thesis's findings contribute towards a better understanding, and empirical evidence of the biodiversity-climate relationship, that is critical in the light of the current climate crisis.

References

- Abello, M. A., Toledo, N., & Ortiz-Jaureguizar, E. (2018). Evolution of South American Paucituberculata (Metatheria: Marsupialia): adaptive radiation and climate changes at the Eocene- Oligocene boundary. *Historical Biology*, 00(00), 1–18. https://doi.org/10.1080/08912963.2018.1502286
- Agusti, J. (1999). A critical re-evaluation of the Miocene mammal units in Western Europe: dispersal events and problems of correlation. In J. Agusti, L. Rook, & P. Andrews (Eds.), *Hominoid evolution and climatic change in Europe Volume 1* (Vol. 1). University Press.
- Agusti, J., & Antón, M. (2002). *Mammoths, sabertooths, and hominids: 65 million years of mammalian evolution in Europe*. Columbia University Press. https://doi.org/10.1177/095968360301300221
- Agustí, J., Garcés, M., & Krijgsman, W. (2006). Evidence for African-Iberian exchanges during the Messinian in the Spanish mammalian record. *Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology, 238*(1–4), 5–14. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.palaeo.2006.03.013
- Alberdi, M. T., Leone, G., & Tonni, E. P. (1995). Evolucion biologica y climatica de la region pampeana durante los ultimos cinco milliones de anos.
- Allen, A. P., & Gillooly, J. F. (2006). Assessing latitudinal gradients in speciation rates and biodiversity at the global scale. *Ecology Letters*, 9(8), 947–954. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2006.00946.x
- Allen, A. P., Gillooly, J. F., Savage, V. M., & Brown, J. H. (2006). Kinetic effects of temperature on rates of genetic divergence and speciation. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 103(24), 9130–9135. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0603587103
- Allison, P. A., & Briggs, D. E. G. (1993). Paleolatitudinal sampling bias, Phanerozoic species diversity, and the end-Permian extinction.

Geology, *21*(1), 65–68. https://doi.org/10.1130/0091-7613(1993)021<0065:PSBPSD>2.3.CO;2

- Almond, R. E. A., Grooten, M., & Petersen, T. (2020). *Living Planet Report* 2020: bending the curve of biodiversity loss. 1–162.
- Alroy, J. (1999). The fossil record of North American mammals: evidence for a Paleocene evolutionary radiation. *Systematic Zoology*, *48*(1), 107–118.
- Alroy, J. (2010a). Fair sampling of taxonomic richness and unbiased estimation of origination and extinction rates. *The Paleontological Society Papers*, 16, 55–80. http://www.nceas.ucsb.edu/~alroy/pdfs/2010-PSPapers-16-55.pdf
- Alroy, J. (2010b). Geographical, environmental and intrinsic biotic controls on Phanerozoic marine diversification. *Palaeontology*, *53*(6), 1211– 1235. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1475-4983.2010.01011.x
- Alroy, J. (2010c). The Shifting Balance of Diversity Among Major Marine
 Animal Groups. Science, 329(5996), 1191–1194.
 https://doi.org/10.1126/SCIENCE.1189910
- Alroy, J., Aberhan, M., Kosnik, M. A., Marshall, L. G., McGowan, A. J., Miller,
 A. I., Olszewski, T. D., Patzkowsky, M. E., Peters, S. E., & Villier, L.
 (2008). Phanerozoic trends in the global diversity of marine invertebrates. *Science*, *321*(5885), 97–100.
- Alroy, J., Marshall, C. R., Bambach, R. K., Bezusko, K., Foote, M., Fürsich, F. T., Hansen, T. A., Holland, S. M., Ivany, L. C., Jablonski, D., Jacobs, D. K., Jones, D. C., Kosnik, M. A., Lidgard, S., Low, S., Miller, A. I., Novack-Gottshall, P. M., Olszewski, T. D., Patzkowsky, M. E., ... Webber, A. (2001). Effects of sampling standardization on estimates of Phanerozoic marine diversification. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, *98*(11), 6261–6266. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.111144698
- Álvarez, A., Arévalo, R. L. M., & Verzi, D. H. (2017). Diversification patterns and size evolution in caviomorph rodents. *Biological Journal of the*

Linnean Society, 121(4), 907–922. https://doi.org/10.1093/biolinnean/blx026

- Ameghino, F. (1889). Contribución al conocimiento de los mamíferos fósiles de la República Argentina. Academia Nacional de Ciencias, 6, 1–1027. https://ci.nii.ac.jp/naid/10024494875/
- Andriessen, P. A. M., Helmens, K. F., Hooghiemstra, H., Riezebos, P. A., & van der Hammen, T. (1993). Absolute chronology of the Pliocene-Quaternary sediment sequence of the Bogota area, Colombia. *Quaternary Science Reviews*, 12(7), 483–501. https://doi.org/10.1016/0277-3791(93)90066-U
- Antoine, P.-O., Marivaux, L., Croft, D. A., Billet, G., Ganerød, M., Jaramillo, C. A., Martin, T., Orliac, M. J., Tejada-Lara, J. V., Altamirano Sierra, A. J., Duranthon, F., Fanjat, G., Rousse, S., & Gismondi, R.-S. (2012). Middle Eocene rodents from Peruvian Amazonia reveal the pattern and timing of caviomorph origins and biogeography. *Proceedings of the Royal Society: Biological Sciences*, 279(1732), 1319–1326. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2011.1732
- Antoine, P.-O., Salas-Gismondi, R. M., Pujos, F., Ganerød, M., & Marivaux,
 L. (2017). Western Amazonia as a Hotspot of Mammalian Biodiversity
 Throughout the Cenozoic. *Journal of Mammalian Evolution*, *24*(1), 5–
 17. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10914-016-9333-1
- Antonelli, A., Zizka, A., Carvalho, F. A., Scharn, R., Bacon, C. D., Silvestro, D., & Condamine, F. L. (2018). Amazonia is the primary source of Neotropical biodiversity. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, *115*(23), 6034–6039. https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.1713819115
- Archibald, J. D. (1996). Fossil evidence for a Late Cretaceous origin of 'hoofed' mammals. Science, 272, 1150–1153. http://science.sciencemag.org/
- Archibald, J. D. (2001). Eutheria (Placental Mammals). In *Encyclopedia of Life Sciences* (pp. 1–4). Macmillan Publishers Ltd, Nature Publishing Group. www.els.net

- Archibald, J. D., & Deutschman, D. H. (2001). Quantitative analysis of the timing of the origin and diversification of extant placental orders. *Journal of Mammalian Evolution*, 8(2), 107–124. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1011317930838
- Archibald, J. D., & Rose, K. D. (2005). *The rise of placental mammals*. Hopkins Press.
- Archibald, J. D., Sues, H., Averianov, A. O., King, C., J, WardD., Tsaruk, O. A., Danilov, I. G., Rezvyi, A. S., Veretennikov, B. G., & Khodjaev, A. (1998). Precis of the Cretaceous paleontology, biostratigraphy and sedimentology at Dzharakuduk (Turonian?-Santonian), Kyzylkum desert, Uzbekistan. *Lower and Middle Cretaceous Terrestrial Ecosystems*, *14*, 21–28.
- Archibald, S. B., Bossert, W. H., Greenwood, D. R., & Farrell, B. D. (2010). Seasonality, the latitudinal gradient of diversity, and Eocene insects. *Paleobiology*, 36(03), 374–398. https://doi.org/10.1666/09021.1
- Arita, H. T., & Vázquez-Domínguez, E. (2008). The tropics: cradle, museum or casino? A dynamic null model for latitudinal gradients of species diversity. *Ecology Letters*, *11*(7), 653–663. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2008.01197.x
- Arnal, M., & Vucetich, M. G. (2015). Main radiation events in Pan-Octodontoidea (Rodentia, Caviomorpha). *Zoological Journal of the Linnean Society*, 175(3), 587–606. https://doi.org/10.1111/zoj.12288
- Arnason, U., Adegoke, J. A., Bodin, K., Born, E. W., Esa, Y. B., Gullberg,
 A., Nilsson, M., Short, R. v., Xu, X., & Janke, A. (2002). Mammalian mitogenomic relationships and the root of the eutherian tree. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 99(12), 8151–8156.
 https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.102164299
- Atkinson, A., Hill, S. L., Pakhomov, E. A., Siegel, V., Reiss, C. S., Loeb, V.
 J., Steinberg, D. K., Schmidt, K., Tarling, G. A., Gerrish, L., & Sailley,
 S. F. (2019). Krill (Euphausia superba) distribution contracts southward

during rapid regional warming. In *Nature Climate Change* (Vol. 9, Issue 2, pp. 142–147). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41558-018-0370-z

- Averianov, A. O., Martin, T., & Lopatin, A. v. (2013). A new phylogeny for basal Trechnotheria and Cladotheria and affinities of South American endemic Late Cretaceous mammals. *Naturwissenschaften*, 100(4), 311–326. https://doi.org/10.1007/S00114-013-1028-3/FIGURES/3
- Azzaroli, A., & Guazzone, G. (1979). Terrestrial mammals and land connections in the Mediterranean before and during the Messinian. *Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology, 29*(C), 155– 167. https://doi.org/10.1016/0031-0182(79)90079-8
- Bacon, C. D., Molnar, P., Antonelli, A., Crawford, A. J., Montes, C., & Vallejo-Pareja, M. C. (2016). Quaternary glaciation and the Great American Biotic Interchange. *Geology*, 44(5), 375–378. https://doi.org/10.1130/G37624.1
- Bacon, C. D., Mora, A., Wagner, W. L., & Jaramillo, C. A. (2013). Testing geological models of evolution of the Isthmus of Panama in a phylogenetic framework. *Botanical Journal of the Linnean Society*, 171(1), 287–300. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1095-8339.2012.01281.x
- Bacon, C. D., Silvestro, D., Jaramillo, C., Smith, B. T., Chakrabarty, P., & Antonelli, A. (2015). Biological evidence supports an early and complex emergence of the Isthmus of Panama. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 17, 1423853112. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1423853112
- Badgley, C., Nelson, S. v., Barry, J. C., Behrensmeyer, A. K., & Cerling, T.
 E. (2005). Testing models of faunal turnover with Neogene mammals from Pakistan. In D. E. Lieberman, R. J. Smith, & J. Kelley (Eds.), *Interpreting the past: essays on human, primate and mammal evolution in honor of David Pilbeam* (pp. 29–46). Brill Academic Publishers.
- Badgley, C., Smiley, T. M., Terry, R., Davis, E. B., DeSantis, L. R. G., Fox,
 D. L., Hopkins, S. S. B., Jezkova, T., Matocq, M. D., Matzke, N.,
 McGuire, J. L., Mulch, A., Riddle, B. R., Roth, V. L., Samuels, J. X.,
 Strömberg, C. A. E., & Yanites, B. J. (2017). Biodiversity and

Topographic Complexity: Modern and Geohistorical Perspectives. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution*, *32*(3), 211–226. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2016.12.010

- Bambach, R. K. (2006). Phanerozoic biodiversity mass extinctions. Annual Review of Earth and Planetary Sciences, 34(1), 127–155. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.earth.33.092203.122654
- Barker, P. F., & Burrell, J. (1977). The opening of Drake Passage. *Marine Geology*, *25*(1), 15–34. https://doi.org/10.1016/0025-3227(77)90045-7
- Barnes, R., & Sahr, K. (2017). dggridR: discrete global grids for R. R package version 2.0.4. https://scholar.google.com/scholar?hl=en&as_sdt=0%2C5&q=Richard +Barnes+and+Kevin+Sahr+%282017%29.+dggridR%3A+Discrete+Gl obal+Grids+for+R.+R+package+version+2.0.4.+%22https%3A%2F% 2Fgithub.com%2Frbarnes%2FdggridR%2F%22+doi%3A10.5281%2Fzenodo.1322866&b

tnG=

- Barnosky, A. D. (2001). Distinguishing the effects of the Red queen and Court Jester on Miocene mammal evolution in the northern Rocky Mountains. *Journal of Vertebrate Paleontology*, 21(1), 172–185. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1671/0272-4634(2001)021[0172:DTEOTR]2.0.CO;2
- Barnosky, A. D., & Carrasco, A. M. (2002). Effects of Oligo-Miocene global climate changes on mammalian species richness in the northwestern quarter of the USA. *Evolutionary Ecology Research*, *4*(May 2014), 811– 841.
- Barnosky, A. D., & Lindsey, E. L. (2010). Timing of Quaternary megafaunal extinction in South America in relation to human arrival and climate change. *Quaternary International*, 217(1–2), 10–29. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.quaint.2009.11.017
- Barnosky, A. D., Matzke, N., Tomiya, S., Wogan, G. O. U., Swartz, B.,Quental, T. B., Marshall, C., McGuire, J. L., Lindsey, E. L., Maguire, K.C., Mersey, B., & Ferrer, E. A. (2011). Has the Earth's sixth mass

extinction already arrived? *Nature*, 471(7336), 51–57. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature09678

- Barreda, V., & Palazzesi, L. (2007). Patagonian vegetation turnovers during the Paleogene-early Neogene: origin of arid-adapted floras. *Botanical Review*, 73(1), 31–50. https://doi.org/10.1663/0006-8101(2007)73[31:PVTDTP]2.0.CO;2
- Barrett, P. M., McGowan, A. J., & Page, V. (2009). Dinosaur diversity and the rock record. *Proceedings of the Royal Society: Biological Sciences*, 276(1667), 2667–2674. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2009.0352
- Bartoli, G., Sarnthein, M., Weinelt, M., Erlenkeuser, H., Garbe-Schönberg, D., & Lea, D. W. (2005). Final closure of Panama and the onset of northern hemisphere glaciation. *Earth and Planetary Science Letters*, 237(1–2), 33–44. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.epsl.2005.06.020
- Beardmore, S. R., & Furrer, H. (2016). Evidence of a preservational gradient in the skeletal taphonomy of Ichthyopterygia (Reptilia) from Europe. *Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology*, 443, 131–144. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.palaeo.2015.11.049
- Beardmore, S. R., Orr, P. J., Manzocchi, T., & Furrer, H. (2012). Float or sink: modelling the taphonomic pathway of marine crocodiles (Mesoeucrocodylia, Thalattosuchia) during the death-burial interval. *Palaeobiodiversity and Palaeoenvironments*, *92*(1), 83–98. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12549-011-0066-0
- Beck, R. M. D., & Lee, M. S. Y. (2014). Ancient dates or accelerated rates? Morphological clocks and the antiquity of placental mammals. *Proceedings of the Royal Society: Biological Sciences*, 281, 20141278. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2014.1278
- Beerling, D. J., Lomax, B. H., Royer, D. L., Upchurch, G. R., & Kump, L. R. (2002). An atmospheric pCO2 reconstruction across the Cretaceous-Tertiary boundary from leaf megafossils. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 99(12), 7836–7840. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.122573099

- Behling, H., Bush, M., & Hooghiemstra, H. (2010). Biotic development of Quaternary Amazonia: a palynological perspective. In *Amazonia, Landscape and Species Evolution: A Look into the Past* (pp. 335–345).
 Wiley Blackwell. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781444306408.ch20
- Bell, C. J., Lundelius Jr., E. L., Barnosky, A. D., Graham, R. W., Lindsay, E. H., Ruez Jr., D. R., Semken Jr., H. A., Webb, S. D., & Zakrzewski, R. J. (2004). The Blancan, Irvingtonian, and Rancholabrean Mammal ages. In *Late Cretaceous and Cenozoic Mammals of North America. Biostratigraphy and Geochronology* (pp. 232–314). https://books.google.co.uk/books?hl=en&Ir=&id=fNuXaC_LcgwC&oi=f nd&pg=PA232&dq=Bell+CJ,+Lundelius+EL+Jr,+Barnosky+AD,+Grah am+RW,+Lindsay+EH,+Ruez+DR+Jr,+Semken+HA+Jr,+Webb+SD,+Zakrezewski+RJ+(2004)+The+Blancan,+Irvingtonian+and+Rancholab rean+mammal+ages.+I
- Bennett, C. V., Upchurch, P., Goin, F. J., & Goswami, A. (2018). Deep time diversity of metatherian mammals: implications for evolutionary history and fossil-record quality. *Paleobiology*, *44*(2), 171–198. https://doi.org/10.1017/pab.2017.34
- Bennett, V. C., & Goswami, A. (2013). Statistical support for the hypothesis of developmental constraint in marsupial skull evolution. *BMC Biology*, *11*, 52. http://www.biomedcentral.com/1741-7007/11/52
- Benson, R. B. J., Butler, R. J., Alroy, J., Mannion, P. D., Carrano, M. T., & Lloyd, G. T. (2016). Near-Stasis in the Long-Term Diversification of Mesozoic Tetrapods. *PLoS Biology*, *14*(1), e1002359. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.1002359
- Benson, R. B. J., & Upchurch, P. (2013). Diversity trends in the establishment of terrestrial vertebrate ecosystems: Interactions between spatial and temporal sampling biases. *Geology*, 41(1), 43–46. https://doi.org/10.1130/G33543.1
- Benton, M. J. (1985). Mass extinction among non-marine tetrapods. *Nature*, *316*(6031), 811–814. https://doi.org/10.1038/316811a0

- Benton, M. J. (1995). Diversification and extinction in the history of life. *Science*, *268*(5207), 52–58. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.7701342
- Benton, M. J. (2008a). Fossil quality and naming dinosaurs. *Biology LettersL*, *4*, 729–732. https://doi.org/10.1098/rsbl.2008.0402
- Benton, M. J. (2008b). How to find a dinosaur, and the role of synonymy in biodiversity studies. *Paleobiology*, 34(4), 516–533. https://pubs.geoscienceworld.org/paleobiol/article-pdf/34/4/516/2932818/i0094-8373-34-4-516.pdf
- Benton, M. J. (2015). Palaeodiversity and formation counts: redundancy or bias? *Palaeontology*, 58(6), 1003–1029. https://doi.org/10.1111/pala.12191
- Benton, M. J., Ruta, M., Dunhill, A. M., & Sakamoto, M. (2013). The first half of tetrapod evolution, sampling proxies, and fossil record quality. *Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology*, 372, 18–41. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.palaeo.2012.09.005
- Benton, M. J., Wills, M. A., & Hitchin, R. (2000). Quality of the fossil record through time. *Nature*, 403(6769), 534–537. https://doi.org/10.1038/35000558
- Bi, S., Zheng, X., Wang, X., Cignetti, N. E., Yang, S., & Wible, J. R. (2018). An Early Cretaceous eutherian and the placental – marsupial dichotomy. *Nature*, 558, 390–404.
- Bicudo, T. C., Sacek, V., & Paes de Almeida, R. (2020). Reappraisal of the relative importance of dynamic topography and Andean orogeny on Amazon landscape evolution. *Earth and Planetary Science Letters*, 546. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.epsl.2020.116423
- Billet, G. (2011). Phylogeny of the Notoungulata (Mammalia) based on cranial and dental characters. *Journal of Systematic Palaeontology*, 9(4), 481–497. https://doi.org/10.1080/14772019.2010.528456
- Billet, G., Blondel, C., & de Muizon, C. (2009). Dental microwear analysis of notoungulates (Mammalia) from Salla (Late Oligocene, Bolivia) and discussion on their precocioushypsodonty. Palaeogeography Palaeoclimatology Palaeoecology 274, 114–124.

- Bininda-Emonds, O. R. P., Cardillo, M., Jones, K. E. K. E., Macphee, R. D.
 E. E., Beck, R. M. D., Grenyer, R., Price, S. A., Vos, R. A., Gittleman,
 J. L., & Purvis, A. (2007). The delayed rise of present-day mammals. *Nature*, 446(7135), 507–512. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature05634
- Blois, J. L., & Hadly, E. A. (2009). Mammalian response to Cenozoic climatic change. Annual Review of Earth and Planetary Sciences, 37(1), 181– 208. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.earth.031208.100055
- Bobe, R. (2006). The evolution of arid ecosystems in eastern Africa. Journal of Arid Environments, 66(3 SPEC. ISS.), 564–584. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaridenv.2006.01.010
- Bobe, R., & Behrensmeyer, A. K. (2004). The expansion of grassland ecosystems in Africa in relation to mammalian evolution and the origin of the genus *Homo. Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology, 207*(3–4), 399–420. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.palaeo.2003.09.033
- Bonaparte, J. F. (1986). Sobre *Mesungulatum houssayi* y nuevos mamiferos Cretacicos de Patagonia. *Actas Di IV Congreso Di Paleontologia y Estratigráfica Argentina*, 2, 48–61.
- Bond, M., Kramarz, A. G., Macphee, R. D. E., & Reguero, M. A. (2011). A new astrapothere (Mammalia, Meridiungulata) from La Meseta Formation, Seymour (Marambio) Island, and a reassessment of previous records of Antarctic astrapotheres. *American Museum Novitates*, *3718*(3718), 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1206/3718.2
- Bond, M., Perea, D., Ubilla, M., & Tauber, A. (2001). *Neolicaphrium recens* Frenguelli, 1921, the only surviving Proterotheriidae (Litopterna, Mammalia) into the South American Pleistocene. *Palaeovenebrata*, *30*((1-2)), 37–50.
- Bond, M., Tejedor, M. F., Campbell, K. E., Chornogubsky, L., Novo, N., & Goin, F. (2015). Eocene primates of South America and the African origins of New World monkeys. *Nature*, *520*(7548), 538–541. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature14120

- Boschman, L. M. (2021). Andean mountain building since the Late Cretaceous: a paleoelevation reconstruction. *Earth-Science Reviews*, 220. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.EARSCIREV.2021.103640
- Boschman, L. M., & Condamine, F. L. (2022). Mountain radiations are not only rapid and recent: ancient diversification of South American frog and lizard families related to Paleogene Andean orogeny and Cenozoic climate variations. *Global and Planetary Change*, 208, 103704. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.GLOPLACHA.2021.103704
- Brikiatis, L. (2014). The de Geer, Thulean and Beringia routes: key concepts for understanding early Cenozoic biogeography. *Journal of Biogeography*, 41(6), 1036–1054. https://doi.org/10.1111/jbi.12310
- Brochu, C. A. (2003). Phylogenetic approaches towards crocodylian history. Annual Review of Earth and Planetary Sciences, 31(1), 357–397. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.earth.31.100901.141308
- Brocklehurst, N., & Fröbisch, J. (2014). Current and historical perspectives on the completeness of the fossil record of pelycosaurian-grade synapsids. *Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology, 399*, 114–126. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.palaeo.2014.02.006
- Brocklehurst, N., Upchurch, P., Mannion, P. D., & O'Connor, J. (2012). The completeness of the fossil record of Mesozoic birds: implications for early avian evolution. *PLoS ONE*, 7(6), 39056. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0039056
- Brodie, J. F. (2018). Environmental limits to mammal diversity vary with latitude and global temperature. *Ecology Letters*. https://doi.org/10.1111/ele.13206
- Brodie, J. F., & Mannion, P. D. (2022). The hierarchy of factors predicting the latitudinal diversity gradient. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 22, 00195. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.TREE.2022.07.013
- Brodie, J. F., Williams, S., & Garner, B. (2021). The decline of mammal functional and evolutionary diversity worldwide. *PNAS*, *118*(3), 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1921849118

- Bruch, A. A., Uhl, D., & Mosbrugger, V. (2007). Miocene climate in Europe
 patterns and evolution: a first synthesis of NECLIME. In *Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology* (Vol. 253, Issues 1–2, pp. 1–7). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.palaeo.2007.03.030
- Bruch, A. A., Utescher, T., Olivares, C. A., Dolakova, N., Ivanov, D., & Mosbrugger, V. (2004). Middle and late Miocene spatial temperature patterns and gradients in Europe preliminary results based on palaeobotanical climate reconstructions. *CFS Courier Forschungsinstitut Senckenberg*, 249, 15–27. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/236592450
- Brunetto, E., Noriega, J. I., & Brandoni, D. (2013). Sedimentología, estratigrafía y edad de la formación Ituzaingo en la provincia de Entre Ríos, Argentina. In D. Brandoni & J. I. Noriega (Eds.), *El Neogeno de la Mesopotamia Argentina* (pp. 13–27). Asociación Paleontológica Argentina.
- Brusatte, S. L., Butler, R. J., Barrett, P. M., Carrano, M. T., Evans, D. C., Lloyd, G. T., Mannion, P. D., Norell, M. A., Peppe, D. J., Upchurch, P., & Williamson, T. E. (2015). The extinction of the dinosaurs. *Biological Reviews*, *90*(2), 628–642. https://doi.org/10.1111/brv.12128
- Buchs, D. M., Arculus, R. J., Baumgartner, P. O., & Ulianov, A. (2011).
 Oceanic intraplate volcanoes exposed: example from seamounts accreted in Panama. *Geology*, 39(4), 335–338.
 https://doi.org/10.1130/G31703.1
- Burke, K. D., Williams, J. W., Chandler, M. A., Haywood, A. M., Lunt, D. J.,
 & Otto-Bliesner, B. L. (2018). Pliocene and Eocene provide best analogs for near-future climates. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, *115*(52), 13288–13293. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1809600115
- Burnham, R. J., & Graham, A. (1999). The history of Neotropical vegetation: new developments and status. *Annals of the Missouri Botanical Garden*, 86(2), 546. https://doi.org/10.2307/2666185

- Butler, R. J., Benson, R. B. J., & Barrett, P. M. (2013). Pterosaur diversity: Untangling the influence of sampling biases, Lagerstätten, and genuine biodiversity signals. *Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology*, 372, 78–87. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.palaeo.2012.08.012
- Butler, R. J., Benson, R. B. J., Carrano, M. T., Mannion, P. D., & Upchurch,
 P. (2011). Sea level, dinosaur diversity and sampling biases: Investigating the "common cause" hypothesis in the terrestrial realm. *Proceedings of the Royal Society: Biological Sciences*, 278(1709), 1165–1170. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2010.1754
- Cambridge Academic Content Team. (2020). Definition of isthmus. In Cambridge Academic Content Dictionary. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK.
- Campbell, K. E., O'Sullivan, P. B., Fleagle, J. G., de Vries, D., & Seiffert, E.
 R. (2021). An early Oligocene age for the oldest known monkeys and rodents of South America. *PNAS*, *37*(118), e2105956118https. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2105956118/-/DCSupplemental
- Cano, A. R. G., Cantalapiedra, J. L., Álvarez-Sierra, M. Á., & Fernández, M.
 H. (2014). A macroecological glance at the structure of late Miocene rodent assemblages from Southwest Europe. *Scientific Reports*, *4*, 6557. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep06557
- Carlini, A. A., Carrillo-Briceño, J. D., Jaimes, A., Aguilera, O., Zurita, A. E., Iriarte, J., & Sánchez-Villagra, M. R. (2022). Damaged glyptodontid skulls from Late Pleistocene sites of northwestern Venezuela: evidence of hunting by humans? *Swiss Journal of Palaeontology*, 141(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s13358-022-00253-3
- Carlini, A. A., Gelfo, J. N., & Sánchez, R. (2006). First Record of the strange Megadolodinae (Mammalia: Litopterna: Proterotheriidae) in the Urumaco Formation (late Miocene), Venezuela. *Journal of Systematic Palaeontology*, *4*, 279 –284.
- Carlini, A. A., Pascual, R., Reguero, M. A., Scillato-Yané, G. J., Tonni, E. P., & Vizcaíno, S. F. (1990). The first Paleogene land placental

mammal from Antarctica: its paleoclimatic and paleobrogeographical bearings. In *Abstracts IV International Congress of Systematic and Evolutionary Biology* (p. 325). http://naturalis.fcnym.unlp.edu.ar/id/000482b

- Carlini, A. A., Scillato-Yane, G. J., Vizcaino, S., Dozo, M. T. M., Scillato-Yané, G. J., Vizcaíno, S. F., & Dozo, M. T. M. (1992). Un singular Myrmecophagidae (Xenarthra, Vermilingua) de edad Colhuehuapense (Oligoceno tardío-Mioceno temprano) de Patagonia, Argentina. *Ameghiniana*, 29(2), 176.
- Carlini, A. A., Zurita, A. E., & Aguilera, O. A. (2008). North American glyptodontines (Xenarthra, Mammalia) in the upper Pleistocene of northern South America. *Palaontologische Zeitschrift*, 82(2), 125–138. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02988404
- Carrillo, J. D., Amson, E., Jaramillo, C. A., Sánchez, R., Quiroz, L. I., Cuartas, C., Rincón, A. F., & Sánchez-Villagra, M. R. (2018). The Neogene record of northern South American native ungulates. In Series Publications of the Smithsonian Institution (Vol. 4, Issue 2). https://doi.org/10.18563/journal.m3.61
- Carrillo, J. D., Faurby, S., Silvestro, D., Jaramillo, C., Bacon, C. D., & Antonelli, A. (2020). Disproportionate extinction of South American mammals drove the asymmetry of the Great American Biotic Interchange. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2009397117
- Carrillo, J. D., Forasiepi, A. M., Jaramillo, C. A., & Sánchez-Villagra, M. R. (2015). Neotropical mammal diversity and the Great American Biotic Interchange: spatial and temporal variation in South America's fossil record. *Frontiers in Genetics*, *5*(451), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.3389/fgene.2014.00451
- Carrillo-Briceño, J. D., Sánchez, R., Scheyer, T. M., Carrillo, J. D., Delfino,
 M., Georgalis, G. L., Kerber, L., Ruiz-Ramoni, D., Birindelli, J. L. O.,
 Cadena, E. A., Rincón, A. F., Chavez-Hoffmeister, M., Carlini, A. A.,
 Carvalho, M. R., Trejos-Tamayo, R., Vallejo, F., Jaramillo, C., Jones,
 D. S., & Sánchez-Villagra, M. R. (2021). A Pliocene–Pleistocene

continental biota from Venezuela. *Swiss Journal of Palaeontology*, *140*(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s13358-020-00216-6

- Casamiquela, E. N. (1961). Sobre la presencia de un mamífero en el primer elenco (icnologico) de vertebrados del Jurasico de Patagonia. *Physis*, 22, 225–233.
- Castro, M. C., Ciancio, M. R., Pacheco, V., Salas-Gismondi, R. M., Bostelmann, J. E., & Carlini, A. A. (2015). Reassessment of the hairy long-nosed armadillo *"Dasypus" pilosus* (Xenarthra, Dasypodidae) and revalidation of the genus *Cryptophractus* Fitzinger, 1856. *Zootaxa*, 3947(1), 30–48. https://doi.org/10.11646/zootaxa.3947.1.2
- Castro-Insua, A., Gómez-Rodríguez, C., Svenning, J. C., & Baselga, A. (2018). A new macroecological pattern: the latitudinal gradient in species range shape. *Global Ecology and Biogeography*, 27(3), 357– 367. https://doi.org/10.1111/geb.12702
- Ceballos, G., Ehrlich, P. R., Barnosky, A. D., García, A., Pringle, R. M., & Palmer, T. M. (2015). Accelerated modern human-induced species losses: entering the sixth mass extinction. *Science Advances*, *1*, e1400253. https://doi.org/10.1126/SCIADV.1400253
- Ceballos, G., Ehrlich, P. R., & Dirzo, R. (2017). Biological annihilation via the ongoing sixth mass extinction signaled by vertebrate population losses and declines. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* of the United States of America, 114(30), E6089–E6096. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1704949114
- Cerling, T. E., Ehleringer, J. R., & Harris, J. M. (1998). Carbon dioxide starvation, the development of C4 ecosystems, and mammalian evolution. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 353(1365), 159–171. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.1998.0198
- Cerling, T. E., Harris, J. M., MacFadden, B. J., Leakey, M. G., Quadek, J., Eisenmann, V., & Ehleringer, J. R. (1997). Global vegetation change through the Miocene/Pliocene boundary. *Nature*, 389. http://www.wzw.tum.de/public-html/lattanzi/Lit/Cerling et al 1997.pdf

- Chao, A., & Jost, L. (2012). Coverage-based rarefaction and extrapolation: standardizing samples by completeness rather than size. *Ecology*, 93(12), 2533–2547. https://doi.org/10.1890/11-1952.1
- Chiarenza, A. A., Mannion, P. D., Lunt, D. J., Farnsworth, A., Jones, L. A., Kelland, S. J., & Allison, P. A. (2019). Ecological niche modelling does not support climatically-driven dinosaur diversity decline before the Cretaceous/Paleogene mass extinction. *Nature Communications*, *10*, 1091. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-019-08997-2
- Chimento, N. R., Agnolin, F. L., & Novas, F. E. (2012). The Patagonian fossil mammal Necrolestes: a Neogene survivor of Dryolestoidea. *Revista Del Museo Argentino de Ciencias Naturales*, 14(2), 1.
- Chown, S. L., & Gaston, K. J. (2000). Areas, cradles and museums: the latitudinal gradient in species richness. *TREE*, *15*(8), 311–315.
- Ciancio, M. R., Vieytes, E. C., & Carlini, A. A. (2014). When xenarthrans had enamel: Insights on the evolution of their hypsodonty and paleontological support for independent evolution in armadillos. *Naturwissenschaften*, 101(9), 715–725. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00114-014-1208-9
- Cifelli, R. L. (1983). The Origin and Affinities of the South American Condylarthra and Early Tertiary Litopterna (Mammalia). *American Museum Novitates*, 2772, 49.
- Cifelli, R. L. R. (1993). The Phylogeny of the Native South American Ungulates. In *Mammal phylogeny* (pp. 195–216). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4613-9246-0_15
- Cifelli, R. L., & Villarroel, C. (1997). Paleobiology and Affinities of Megadolodus. In R. F. Kay, R. L. Cifelli, & R. H. Madden (Eds.), A History of the Neotropical Fauna: Vertebrate Paleobiology of the Miocene of Tropical South America (pp. 265–288). Springer-Verlag.
- Cifelli, R., Schaff, C. R., & McKenna, M. C. (1989). The relationships of the Arctostylopidae (Mammalia): new data and interpretation. *Bulletin of the Museum of Comparative Zoology*, *152*, 1–44.

http://agris.fao.org/agrissearch/search.do?recordID=US201300631306

- Cione, A. L., Azpelicueta, M. de las M., Bond, M., Carlini, A. A., Casciotta, J. R., Cozzuol, M. A., de la Fuente, M. S., Gasparini, Z., Goin, F. J., Noriega, J. I., Scillato-Yané, G. J., Soibelzon, L. H., Tonni, E. P., Verzi, D. H., Vucetich, M. G., & de Las, M. (2000). Miocene vertebrates from Entre Ríos province, eastern Argentina. In F. Aceñolaza & R. Herbst (Eds.), *El Neógeno de Argentina* (Vol. 14, Issue January, pp. 191–237). Serie Correlación Geológica. http://sedici.unlp.edu.ar/bitstream/handle/10915/5357/Documento_completo.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y
- Cione, A. L., Gasparini, G. M., Soibelzon, E., Soibelzon, L. H., & Tonni, E.
 P. (2015a). Continental Relationships, Chronostratigraphy, Climates, and Mammalian Biogeography of Southern South America Since Late Miocene. In A. L. Cione, G. M. Gasparini, E. Soibelzon, L. H. Soibelzon, & E. P. Tonni (Eds.), *The Great American Biotic Interchange: a South American perspective* (pp. 9–69). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-017-9792-4 2
- Cione, A. L., Gasparini, G. M., Soibelzon, E., Soibelzon, L. H., & Tonni, E. P. (2015b). *The Great American Biotic Interchange: A South American Perspective* (Issue August). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-017-9792-4
- Cione, A. L., & Tonni, E. P. (1995). Chronostratigraphy and "Land-Mammal Ages" in the Cenozoic of southern South America: principles, practices, and the "Uquian" problem. *Journal of Paleontology*, *69*(01), 135–159. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0022336000026998
- Cione, A. L., & Tonni, E. P. (2005). Bioestratigrafía basada en mamíferos del Cenozoico superior de la provincia de Buenos Aires, Argentina. *Geología y Recursos Minerales de La Provincia de Buenos Aires*, *11*(JANUARY), 183–200. https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Alberto_Cione/publication/26135 8257_Bioestratigrafia_basada_en_mamiferos_del_Cenozoico_superi or_de_la_region_pampeana/links/0c960534862604bfa3000000.pdf

- Cione, A. L., Tonni, E. P., Bargo, M. S., Bond, M., Candela, A. M., Carlini,
 A. A., Deschamps, C. M., Dozo, M. T., Esteban, G. I., Goin, F. J.,
 Montalvo, C. I., Nasif, N. L., Noriega, J. I., Ortiz Jaureguizar, E.,
 Pascual, R., Prado, J. L., Reguero, M. A., Scillato-Yané, G. J.,
 Soibelzon, L. H., ... Vucetich, M. G. (2007). Mamíferos continentales
 del Mioceno tardío a la actualidad en la Argentina: cincuenta años de
 estudios. Ameghiniana 50° Aniversario, Publicació, 257–278.
- Cione, A. L., Tonni, E. P., & Soibelzon, L. H. (2003). The broken zig-zag: late Cenozoic large mammal and tortoise extinction in South America. *Revista Del Museo Argentino de Ciencias Naturales*, *5*(1), 1–19. https://doi.org/10.22179/REVMACN.5.26
- Cleary, T. J., Benson, R. B. J., Evans, S. E., & Barrett, P. M. (2018). Lepidosaurian diversity in the Mesozoic–Palaeogene: the potential roles of sampling biases and environmental drivers. *Royal Society Open Science*, *5*, 171830. https://doi.org/10.1098/rsos.171830
- Cleary, T. J., Moon, B. C., Dunhill, A. M., & Benton, M. J. (2015). The fossil record of ichthyosaurs, completeness metrics and sampling biases. *Palaeontology*, 58(3), 521–536. https://doi.org/10.1111/pala.12158
- Close, R. A., Benson, R. B. J., Alroy, J., Behrensmeyer, A. K., Benito, J., Carrano, M. T., Cleary, T. J., Dunne, E. M., Mannion, P. D., Uhen, M. D., & Butler, R. J. (2019). Diversity dynamics of Phanerozoic terrestrial tetrapods at the local-community scale. *Nature Ecology and Evolution*, 3(4), 590–597. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41559-019-0811-8
- Close, R. A., Benson, R. B. J., Alroy, J., Carrano, M. T. M., Cleary, T. J., Dunne, E. M., Mannion, P. D., Uhen, M. D., & Butler, R. J. (2020a). The apparent exponential radiation of Phanerozoic land vertebrates is an artefact of spatial sampling biases. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, *287*(1924), 20200372. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2020.0372
- Close, R. A., Benson, R. B. J., Saupe, E. E., Clapham, M. E., & Butler, R. J. (2020b). The spatial structure of Phanerozoic marine animal diversity. *Science*, *368*(6489), 420–424. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aay8309

- Close, R. A., Benson, R. B. J., Upchurch, P., & Butler, R. J. (2017). Controlling for the species-area effect supports constrained long-term Mesozoic terrestrial vertebrate diversification. *Nature Communications*, 8, 15381. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms15381
- Close, R. A., Evers, S. W., Alroy, J., & Butler, R. J. (2018). How should we estimate diversity in the fossil record? Testing richness estimators using sampling-standardised discovery curves. *Methods in Ecology* and Evolution, 9(6), 1386–1400. https://doi.org/10.1111/2041-210X.12987
- Coates, A. G., Collins, L. S., Aubry, M. M.-P., & Berggren, W. A. (2004). The geology of the Darien, Panama, and the late Miocene-Pliocene collision of the Panama arc with northwestern South America. *Bulletin of the Geological Society of America*, *116*(11–12), 1327–1344. https://doi.org/10.1130/B25275.1
- Coates, A. G., & Obando, J. A. (1996). The geologic evolution of the Central American Isthmus. In *Evolution and Environment in Tropical America* (pp. 21–56). University of Chicago Press.
- Cody, S., Richardson, J. E., Rull, V., Ellis, C., Pennington, R. T., Rull, V., Ellis, C., & Pennington, R. T. (2010). The great American biotic interchange revisited. *Ecography*, 33(2), 326–332. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0587.2010.06327.x
- Colinvaux, P. (1997). The history of forests on the Isthmus from the Ice Age to the Present. In *Central America: a natural and cultural history Central America: a natural and cultural history* (pp. 123–136). Yale University Press. https://doi.org/10.2307/j.ctt1xp3sdf.11
- Costeur, L., & Legendre, S. (2008). Spatial and temporal variation in European Neogene large mammals diversity. *Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology, 261*(1–2), 127–144. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.palaeo.2008.01.011
- Costeur, L., Legendre, S., Aguilar, J.-P., & Lécuyer, C. (2007). Marine and continental synchronous climatic records: towards a revision of the European Mid-Miocene mammalian biochronological framework.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geobios.2007.07.001

Geobios.

Crampton, J. S., Beu, A. G., Cooper, R. A., Jones, C. M., Marshall, B., & Maxwell, P. A. (2003). Estimating the rock volume bias in paleobiodiversity studies. *Science*, *301*(5631), 358–360. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1085075

40(6).

- Croft, D. A., Gelfo, J. N., & López, G. M. (2020). Splendid Innovation: The Extinct South American Native Ungulates. *Annual Review of Earth and Planetary Sciences*, 48(1), 259–290. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurevearth-072619-060126
- Currano, E. D., Wilf, P., Wing, S. L., Labandeira, C. C., Lovelock, E. C., & Royer, D. L. (2008). Sharply increased insect herbivory during the Paleocene-Eocene Thermal Maximum. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 105(6), 1960– 1964. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0708646105
- Dalziel, I. W. D., & Elliot, D. H. (1982). West Antarctica: Problem child of Gondwanaland. *Tectonics*, 1(1), 3–19. https://doi.org/10.1029/TC001i001p00003
- Damuth, J., & Janis, C. M. (2011). On the relationship between hypsodonty and feeding ecology in ungulate mammals, and its utility in palaeoecology. *Biological Reviews*, *86*(3), 733–758. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-185X.2011.00176.x
- Davis, M., Faurby, S., & Svenning J-C. (2018). Mammal diversity will take millions of years to recover from the current biodiversity crisis. *PNAS*, *115*(44), 11262–11267. https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.1286876
- de Celis, A., Narváez, I., & Ortega, F. (2019). Spatiotemporal palaeodiversity patterns of modern crocodiles (Crocodyliformes: Eusuchia). Zoological Journal of the Linnean Society, 1–22. https://doi.org/10.1093/zoolinnean/zlz038/5528278
- de Muizon, C., & Cifelli, R. L. (2000). The "condylarths" (archaic Ungulata, Mammalia) from the early Palaeocene of Tiupampa (Bolivia): implications on the origin of the South American ungulates.

- de Muizon, C., Billet, G., Argot, C., Ladeveze, S. & Goussard, F. (2015). Alcidedorbignya inopinata, a basal pantodont (Placentalia, Mammalia) from the early Palaeocene of Bolivia: anatomy, phylogeny and palaeobiology. *Geodiversitas*, 37(4), 397-634.
- de Schepper, S., Gibbard, P. L., Salzmann, U., & Ehlers, J. (2014). A global synthesis of the marine and terrestrial evidence for glaciation during the Pliocene epoch. In *Earth-Science Reviews* (Vol. 135, pp. 83–102). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.earscirev.2014.04.003
- Dean, C. D., Collins, D. S., van Cappelle, M., Avdis, A., & Hampson, G. J. (2019). Regional-scale paleobathymetry controlled location, but not magnitude, of tidal dynamics in the Late Cretaceous Western Interior Seaway, USA. *Geology*, 47(11), 1083–1087. https://doi.org/10.1130/G46624.1
- Dean, C. D., Mannion, P. D., & Butler, R. J. (2016). Preservational bias controls the fossil record of pterosaurs. *Palaeontology*, 59(2), 225–247. https://doi.org/10.1111/pala.12225
- Delsuc, F., Gibb, G. C., Kuch, M., Billet, G., Hautier, L., Southon, J., Rouillard, J. M., Fernicola, J. C., Vizcaíno, S. F., MacPhee, R. D. E. E., Poinar, H. N., Fernícola, J. C., Vizcaíno, S. F., MacPhee, R. D. E. E., & Poinar, H. N. (2016). The phylogenetic affinities of the extinct glyptodonts. *Current Biology*, 26(4), R155–R156. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2016.01.039
- DeSantis, L. R. G., Feranec, R. S., & Macfadden, B. J. (2009). Effects of global warming on ancient mammalian communities and their environments. *PLoS ONE*, *4*(6), e5750. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0005750
- Diester-Haass, L., & Zahn, R. (1996). Eocene-Oligocene transition in the Southern Ocean: History of water mass circulation and biological productivity. *Geology*, *24*(2), 163–166. https://doi.org/10.1130/0091-7613(1996)024<0163:EOTITS>2.3.CO;2

- Dingle, R. v., Marenssi, S. A., & Lavelle, M. (1998). High latitude Eocene climate deterioration: Evidence from the northern Antarctic Peninsula. *Journal of South American Earth Sciences*, *11*(6), 571–579. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0895-9811(98)00035-2
- Domingo, L., Tomassini, R. L., Montalvo, C. I., Sanz-Pérez, D., & Alberdi, M. T. (2020). The Great American Biotic Interchange revisited: a new perspective from the stable isotope record of Argentine Pampas fossil mammals. *Scientific Reports*, *10*(1608), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-58575-6
- dos Reis, M., Inoue, J., Hasegawa, M., Asher, R. J., Donoghue, P. C. J., & Yang, Z. (2012). Phylogenomic datasets provide both precision and accuracy in estimating the timescale of placental mammal phylogeny. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 279, 3491– 3500. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2012.0683
- Dunhill, A. M., Benton, M. J., Twitchett, R. J., & Newell, A. J. (2012). Completeness of the fossil record and the validity of sampling proxies at outcrop level. *Palaeontology*, 55(6), 1155–1175. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1475-4983.2012.01149.x
- Dunhill, A. M., Hannisdal, B., & Benton, M. J. (2014). Disentangling rock record bias and common-cause from redundancy in the British fossil record. *Nature Communications*, 5, 4818. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms5818
- Dunn, R. E., Strömberg, C. A. E., Madden, R. H., Kohn, M. J., & Carlini, A. A. (2015). Linked canopy, climate, and faunal change in the Cenozoic of Patagonia. *Science*, *347*(6219), 258–261. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1260947
- Dunne, E. M., Close, R. A., Button, D. J., Brocklehurst, N., Cashmore, D. D., Lloyd, G. T., & Butler, R. J. (2018). Diversity change during the rise of tetrapods and the impact of the 'carboniferous rainforest collapse.' *Proceedings of the Royal Society: Biological Sciences*, 285, 20172730. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2017.2730

- Dunne, E. M., Farnsworth, A., Greene, S. E., Lunt, D. J., & Butler, R. J. (2020). Climatic drivers of latitudinal variation in Late Triassic tetrapod diversity. *Palaeontology*, 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1111/pala.12514
- Dutton, A. L., Lohmann, K. C., & Zinsmeister, W. J. (2002). Stable isotope and minor element proxies for Eocene climate of Seymour Island, Antarctica. *Paleoceanography*, *17*(2), 6.1-13. https://doi.org/10.1029/2000pa000593
- Ehrmann, W. U., & Mackensen, A. (1992). Sedimentological evidence for the formation of an East Antarctic ice sheet in Eocene/Oligocene time. *Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology*, 93(1–2), 85– 112. https://doi.org/10.1016/0031-0182(92)90185-8
- Elgar, A. M. A., & Harvey, P. H. (1987). Basal metabolic rates in mammals: allometry, phylogeny and ecology. *Functional Ecology*, 1(1), 25–36. https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2015.12.007
- Emerling, C. A., Delsuc, F., & Nachman, M. W. (2018). Chitinase genes (CHIAs) provide genomic footprints of a post-Cretaceous dietary radiation in placental mammals. *Science Advances*, *4*, eaar6478. https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.aar6478
- Engelmann, G. (1985). The phylogeny of Xenarthra. In G. G. Montgomery (Ed.), *the evolution and ecology of armadillos, sloths and vermilinguas* (pp. 51–64). Smithsonian Institution Press. https://ci.nii.ac.jp/naid/20001686472/
- Farnsworth, A., Lunt, D. J., O'Brien, C. L., Foster, G. L., Inglis, G. N., Markwick, P., Pancost, R. D., & Robinson, S. A. (2019). Climate Sensitivity on Geological Timescales Controlled by Nonlinear Feedbacks and Ocean Circulation. *Geophysical Research Letters*, 46(16), 9880–9889. https://doi.org/10.1029/2019GL083574
- Farnsworth, A., Lunt, D. J., Robinson, S. A., Valdes, P. J., Roberts, W. H.
 G., Clift, P. D., Markwick, P., Su, T., Wrobel, N., Bragg, F., Kelland, S.J., & Pancost, R. D. (2019). Past East Asian monsoon evolution controlled by paleogeography, not CO2. *Sciences Advances*, *5*, eaax169. https://www.science.org

- Farris, D. W., Jaramillo, C., Bayona, G., Restrepo-Moreno, S. A., Montes, C., Cardona, A., Mora, A., Speakman, R. J., Glascock, M. D., & Valencia, V. (2011). Fracturing of the Panamanian Isthmus during initial collision with South America. *Geology*, *39*(11), 1007–1010. https://doi.org/10.1130/G32237.1
- Fastovsky, D. E., Huang, Y., Hsu, J., Martin-Mcnaughton, J., Sheehan, P.
 M., & Weishampel, D. B. (2004). Shape of Mesozoic dinosaur richness. *Geology*, 877(10), 877–880. https://doi.org/10.1130/G20695.1
- Faurby, S., & Svenning, J. C. (2016). The asymmetry in the Great American Biotic Interchange in mammals is consistent with differential susceptibility to mammalian predation. *Global Ecology and Biogeography*, 25(12), 1443–1453. https://doi.org/10.1111/GEB.12504
- Fergnani, P. N., & Ruggiero, A. (2015). Ecological diversity in South American mammals: their geographical distribution shows variable associations with phylogenetic diversity and does not follow the latitudinal richness gradient. *PLoS ONE*, *10*(6), e0128264. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0128264
- Fernicola, J. C., & Porpino, K. O. (2012). Exoskeleton and systematics: a historical problem in the classification of glyptodonts. *Journal of Mammalian Evolution*, 19(3), 171–183. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10914-012-9186-1
- Fernicola, J. C., Zimicz, A. N., Chornogubsky, L., Ducea, M., Cruz, L. E., Bond, M., Arnal, M., Cárdenas, M., & Fernández, M. (2021). The Early Eocene Climatic Optimum at the lower section of the Lumbrera Formation (Ypresian, Salta Province, northwestern Argentina): origin and early diversification of the Cingulata. *Journal of Mammalian Evolution*, 28(3), 621–633. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10914-021-09545w
- Ferreira, G. S., Bronzati, M., Langer, M. C., & Sterli, J. (2018). Phylogeny, biogeography and diversification patterns of side-necked turtles (Testudines: Pleurodira). *Royal Society Open Science*, *5*, 171773. https://doi.org/10.1098/rsos.171773

- Ferrusquía-Villafranca, I. (2003). *Mexico's Middle Miocene mammalian* assemblages: an overview (Vol. 279, pp. 321–347).
- Figueiredo, J., Hoorn, C., van der Ven, P., & Soares, E. (2009). Late Miocene onset of the Amazon River and the Amazon deep-sea fan: Evidence from the Foz do Amazonas Basin. *Geology*, *37*(7), 619–622. https://doi.org/10.1130/G25567A.1
- Figueiredo, J., Hoorn, C., van der Ven, P., & Soares, E. (2010). Late Miocene onset of the Amazon River and the Amazon deep-sea fan: Evidence from the Foz do Amazonas Basin: Reply. *Geology*, 38(7), e213. https://doi.org/10.1130/G31057Y.1
- Figueirido, B., Janis, C. M., Perez-Claros, J. A., de Renzi, M., & Palmqvist,
 P. (2012). Cenozoic climate change influences mammalian evolutionary dynamics. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 109(3), 722–727. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1110246108
- Finarelli, J. A., & Badgley, C. (2010). Diversity dynamics of Miocene mammals in relation to the history of tectonism and climate. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 277(1694), 2721–2726. https://doi.org/10.1098/RSPB.2010.0348
- Flannery-Sutherland, J. T., Silvestro, D., & Benton, M. J. (2022). Global diversity dynamics in the fossil record are regionally heterogeneous. *Nature Communications*, 13, 2751. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-022-30507-0
- Flower, B. P., & Kennett, J. P. (1994). The middle Miocene climatic transition: East Antarctic ice sheet development, deep ocean circulation and global carbon cycling. *Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology, 108*(3–4), 537–555. https://doi.org/10.1016/0031-0182(94)90251-8
- Flynn, J. J. J., Kowallis, B. J. J., Nuñez, C., Castañeda, O. C., Miller, W. E.
 E., Swisher III, C. C., Lindsay, E., & Carranza-Castañeda, O. (2005).
 Geochronology of Hemphillian-Blancan aged strata, Guanajuato, Mexico, and implications for timing of the Great American Biotic

Interchange. *Journal of Geology*, *113*(3), 287–307. https://doi.org/10.1086/428806

- Flynn, J. J., & Swisher III, C. C. (1995). Cenozoic South American Land Mammal ages: correlation to global geochronologies. In *Geochronological time scales and global stratigraphic correlation* (pp. 317–333). Peligran. http://archives.datapages.com/data/sepm_sp/SP54/Cenozoic_South_ American_Land_Mammal_Ages.pdf
- Flynn, J. J., Wyss, A. R., Croft, D. A., & Charrier, R. (2003). The Tinguiririca Fauna, Chile: Biochronology, paleoecology, biogeography, and a new earliest Oligocene South American Land Mammal "Age." *Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology*, *195*(3–4), 229– 259. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0031-0182(03)00360-2
- Foote, M. (2000). Origination and extinction components of taxonomic diversity: general problems. *Paleobiology*, 26(sp4), 74–102. https://doi.org/10.1666/0094-8373(2000)26[74:oaecot]2.0.co;2
- Foote, M., & Sepkoski, J. J. (1999). Absolute measures of the completeness of the fossil record. *Nature*, *398*(6726), 415–417. https://doi.org/10.1038/18872
- Forasiepi, A. M., MacPhee, R. D. E., Hernandez del Pino, S., Schmidt, G. I., Amson, E., & Grohé, C. (2016). Exceptional skull of Huayqueriana (Mammalia, Litopterna, Macraucheniidae) from the late Miocene of Argentina: anatomy, systematics, and paleobiological. *Bulletin of the American Museum of Natural History*, 404, 1–76. http://bioone.org/doi/abs/10.1206/0003-0090-404.1.1
- Forcino, F. L., & Stafford, E. S. (2020). The influence of collection method on paleoecological datasets: in-place versus surface-collected fossil samples in the Pennsylvanian Finis Shale, Texas, USA. *PLoS ONE*, *15*(2), e0228944. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0228944
- Forey, P. L., Fortey, R. A., Kenrick, P., & Smith, A. B. (2004). Taxonomy and fossils: a critical appraisal. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal*

Society B: Biological Sciences, 359(1444), 639–653. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2003.1453

- Fortelius, M., Eronen, J. T., Liu, L., Pushkina, D., Tesakov, A., Vislobokova,
 I., & Zhang, Z. (2006). Late Miocene and Pliocene large land mammals and climatic changes in Eurasia. *Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology*, 238(1–4), 219–227. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.palaeo.2006.03.042
- Francis, J. E., Ashworth, A., Cantrill, D. J., Crame, J. A., Howe, J., Stephens, R., Tosolini, A.-M., & Thorn, V. (2007). 100 million years of Antarctic climate evolution: evidence from fossil plants. *Antarctica: A Keystone in a Changing World: 10th International Symposium on Antarctic Earth Sciences; Santa Barbara, California*, 19–27. https://doi.org/10.3133/of2007-1047
- Fraser, D., Hassall, C., Gorelick, R., & Rybczynski, N. (2014). Mean annual precipitation explains spatiotemporal patterns of Cenozoic mammal beta diversity and latitudinal diversity gradients in North America. *PLoS ONE*, *9*(9), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0106499
- Freeman, B. G., Scholer, M. N., Ruiz-Gutierrez, V., & Fitzpatrick, J. W. (2018). Climate change causes upslope shifts and mountaintop extirpations in a tropical bird community. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, *115*(47), 11982– 11987. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1804224115
- Fricke, H. C., & Wing, S. L. (2004). Oxygen isotope and paleobotanical estimates of temperature and δ 18 O-latitude gradients over North America during the Early Eocene. *American Journal of Science*, 304(7), 612–635. https://doi.org/10.2475/ajs.304.7.612
- Gaetano, L. C., & Rougier, G. W. (2012). First amphilestid from South America: a molariform from the Jurassic Cañadón Asfalto formation, Patagonia, Argentina. *Journal of Mammalian Evolution*, 19(4), 235– 248. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10914-012-9194-1

- Gagnon, M., & Chew, A. E. (2000). Dietary Preferences in Extant African Bovidae, Journal of Mammalogy, Volume 81(2), 490–511. https://doi.org/10.1644/1545-1542(2000)081<0490:DPIEAB>2.0.CO;2
- García-Alix, A., Minwer-Barakat, R., Martín Suárez, E., Freudenthal, M., Aguirre, J., & Kaya, F. (2016). Updating the Europe–Africa small mammal exchange during the late Messinian. In *Journal of Biogeography* (Vol. 43, Issue 7, pp. 1336–1348). Blackwell Publishing Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1111/jbi.12732
- Gaudin, T. J. (2003). Phylogeny of the Xenarthra. Senckenbergiana Biologica, 83(1), 27–40.
- Gearty, W. (2020). deeptime: Plotting Tools for Anyone Working in Deep Time. R package version 0.0.5.0.
- Gelfo, J. N., Goin, F. J., Woodburne, M. O., & de Muizon, C. (2009). Biochronological relationships of the earliest South American Paleogene mammalian faunas. *Palaeontology*, 52(1), 251–269. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1475-4983.2008.00835.x
- Gelfo, J. N., Mörs, T., Lorente, M., López, G. M., & Reguero, M. (2015). The oldest mammals from Antarctica, early Eocene of the La Meseta Formation, Seymour Island. *Palaeontology*, 58(1), 101–110. https://doi.org/10.1111/pala.12121
- Gianni, G. M., Pesce, A., & Soler, S. R. (2018). Transient plate contraction between two simultaneous slab windows: Insights from Paleogene tectonics of the Patagonian Andes. *Journal of Geodynamics*, *121*, 64– 75. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JOG.2018.07.008
- Gibb, G. C., Condamine, F. L., Kuch, M., Enk, J., Moraes-Barros, N., Superina, M., Poinar, H. N., & Delsuc, F. (2016). Shotgun mitogenomics provides a reference phylogenetic framework and timescale for living xenarthrans. *Molecular Biology and Evolution*, 33(3), 621–642. https://doi.org/10.1093/MOLBEV/MSV250
- Gingerich, P. D. (2006). Environment and evolution through the Paleocene-Eocene Thermal Maximum. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, *21*(5), 246– 253. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2006.03.006

- Goillot, C. C., Antoine, P.-O. P.-O., Tejada-Lara, J. V., Pujos, F., Gismondi, R.-S. S., Tejada, J., Pujos, F., & Gismondi, R.-S. S. (2011). Middle Miocene Uruguaytheriinae (Mammalia, Astrapotheria) from Peruvian Amazonia and a review of the astrapotheriid fossil record in northern South America. *Geodiversitas*, 33(2), 331–345. https://doi.org/10.5252/g2011n2a8
- Goin, F. J., Abello, M. A., & Chornogubsky, L. (2010). Middle Tertiary marsupials from central Patagonia (early Oligocene of Gran Barranca): understanding South America's Grande Coupure. In R. H. Madden, A. A. Carlini, M. G. Vucetich, & R. F. Kay (Eds.), *The paleontology of Gran Barranca: evolution and environmental change through the Middle Cenozoic of Patagonia* (pp. 69–105). Cambridge University Press.
- Goin, F. J., Gelfo, J. N., Chornogubsky, L., Woodburne, M. O., & Martin, T. (2012a). Origins, radiations, and distribution of South American mammals: from greenhouse to icehouse worlds. In B. D. Patterson & L. P. Costa (Eds.), *Bones, Clones, and Biomes: the history and geography of Recent Neotropical mammals* (pp. 20–50). University of Chicago Press. https://doi.org/10.7208/chicago/9780226649214.003.0003
- Goin, F. J., Tejedor, M. F., Chornogubsky, L., López, G. M., Gelfo, J. N., Bond, M., Woodburne, M. O., Gurovich, Y., & Reguero, M. (2012b).
 Persistence of a Mesozoic, non-therian mammalian lineage (Gondwanatheria) in the mid-Paleogene of Patagonia. *Naturwissenschaften*, 99(6), 449–463. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00114-012-0919-z
- Goin, F. J., Woodburne, M. O., Martin, G. M., & Chornogubsky, L. (2016).
 South American Living Metatherians: Physiological Ecology and Constraints. In *A brief history of South American metatherians: evolutionary contexts and intercontinental dispersals* (pp. 37–76).
 Springer.
- Goin, F., Woodburne, M., Zimicz, A. N., Martin, G. M., & Chornogubsky, L.
 (2016). A Brief History of South American Metatherians. Springer Netherlands. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-017-7420-8

- Gomez Rodrigues, H., Herrel, A., & Billet, G. (2016). Ontogenetic and life history trait changes associated with convergent ecological specializations in extinct ungulate mammals. *PNAS*, 114(5), 1069-1074. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1614029114
- Goswami, A., Randau, M., Polly, P. D., Weisbecker, V., Bennett, C. V., Hautier, L., & Sánchez-Villagra, M. R. (2016). Do developmental constraints and high integration limit the evolution of the marsupial oral apparatus? *Integrative and Comparative Biology*, *56*(3), 404–415. https://doi.org/10.1093/icb/icw039
- Graham, A., & Dilcher, D. L. (1998). Studies in Neotropical paleobotany. XII. A palynoflora from the Pliocene Rio Banano Formation of Costa Rica and the Neogene vegetation of Mesoamerica. *American Journal of Botany*, 85(10), 1426–1438. https://doi.org/10.2307/2446400
- Green, B. Y. P. J. (1995). Reversible jump Markov chain Monte Carlo computation and Bayesian model determination. *Biometrika*, *8*2(4), 711–732.
- Grossnickle, D. M., & Newham, E. (2016). Therian mammals experience an ecomorphological radiation during the Late Cretaceous and selective extinction at the K–Pg boundary. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 283(1832), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2016.0256
- Grossnickle, D. M., & Polly, P. D. (2013). Mammal disparity decreases during the Cretaceous angiosperm radiation. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 280, 20132110. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2013.2110
- Gunnell, G. F. (1998). Creodonta. In Evolution of tertiary mammals of North America: Volume 1, terrestrial carnivores, ungulates, and ungulate like mammals (pp. 91–109). Cambridge University Press. https://books.google.com/books?hl=en&Ir=&id=I-RgojcDyWYC&oi=fnd&pg=PP15&dq=Gunnell,+Gregg+F.+(1998).+%2 2Creodonta%22.+In+Janis,+Christine+M.%3B+Scott,+Kathleen+M.% 3B+Jacobs,+Louis+L.+(eds.).+Terrestrial+Carnivores,+Ungulates,+an d+Ungulatelike+Mammals.+Evo

- Halliday, T. J. D., dos Reis, M., Tamuri, A. U., Ferguson-Gow, H., Yang, Z.,
 & Goswami, A. (2019). Rapid morphological evolution in placental mammals post-dates the origin of the crown group. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 286, 20182418. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2018.2418
- Halliday, T. J. D., & Goswami, A. (2016). Eutherian morphological disparity across the end-Cretaceous mass extinction. *Biological Journal of the Linnean Society*, *118*(1), 152–168. https://doi.org/10.1111/bij.12731
- Halliday, T. J. D., Upchurch, P., & Goswami, A. (2016). Eutherians experienced elevated evolutionary rates in the immediate aftermath of the Cretaceous-Palaeogene mass extinction. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 283, 20153026. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2015.3026
- Halliday, T. J. D., Upchurch, P., & Goswami, A. (2017). Resolving the relationships of Paleocene placental mammals. *Biological Reviews*, 92(1), 521–550. https://doi.org/10.1111/brv.12242
- Hepp, D. A., Mörz, T., & Grützner, J. (2006). Pliocene glacial cyclicity in a deep-sea sediment drift (Antarctic Peninsula Pacific Margin). *Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology*, 231(1–2), 181–198. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.palaeo.2005.07.030
- Hernández, R. M., Jordan, T. E., Dalenz Farjat, A., Echavarría, L., Idleman,
 B. D., & Reynolds, J. H. (2005). Age, distribution, tectonics, and eustatic controls of the Paranense and Caribbean marine transgressions in southern Bolivia and Argentina. *Journal of South American Earth Sciences*, 19(4), 495–512. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JSAMES.2005.06.007
- Hill, R. v. (2005). Integration of morphological data sets for phylogenetic analysis of amniota: The importance of integumentary characters and increased taxonomic sampling. *Systematic Biology*, *54*(4), 530–547. https://doi.org/10.1080/10635150590950326
- Hoorn, C., Perrigo, A., & Antonelli, A. (2018). Mountains, Climate and Biodiversity: An Introduction. In C. Hoorn, A. Perrigo, & A. Antonelli

(Eds.), *Mountains, Climate and Biodiversity* (pp. 1–14). John Wiley & Sons.

https://books.google.co.uk/books?hl=en&lr=&id=GWxODwAAQBAJ&o i=fnd&pg=PA217&dq=info:dgN-

N3FJYWcJ:scholar.google.com&ots=tasOB2f2gl&sig=GzjqrqgjxeLN9 eST8WKjJuowOdw&redir_esc=y#v=onepage&q&f=false

- Hoorn, C., Wesselingh, F. P., Hovikoski, J., & Guerrero, J. (2010). The development of the Amazonian mega-wetland (Miocene; Brazil, Colombia, Peru, Bolivia). In C. Hoorn & F. P. Wesselingh (Eds.), *Amazonia, Landscape and Species Evolution: A Look into the Past* (1st ed., pp. 123–142). Blackwell Publishing. https://s3.amazonaws.com/academia.edu.documents/45543674/The_Development_of_the_Amazonian_Mega-We20160511-9623-1mc1ktj.pdf?AWSAccessKeyId=AKIAIWOWYYGZ2Y53UL3A&Expire s=1554994714&Signature=HEvD5ceSqOTyq4nmokLTN4sJR8Y%253 D&response-content-disposition=inlin
- Hoorn, C., Wesselingh, F. P., ter Steege, H., Bermudez, M. A., Mora, A., Sevink, J., Sanmartín, I., Sanchez-Meseguer, A., Anderson, C. L., Figueiredo, J. P., Jaramillo, C., Riff, D., Negri, F. R., Hooghiemstra, H., Lundberg, J., Stadler, T., Särkinen, T., & Antonelli, A. (2010). Amazonia through time: Andean uplift, climate change, landscape evolution, and biodiversity. *Science*, *330*(6006), 927–931. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1194585
- Hopkins, S. S. B. (2007). Causes of lineage decline in the Aplodontidae: testing for the influence of physical and biological change. *Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology, 246*(2–4), 331– 353. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.palaeo.2006.10.006
- Houssaye, A., Fernandez, V., & Billet, G. (2016). Hyperspecialization in some South American endemic ungulates revealed by long bone microstructure. *Journal of Mammalian Evolution*, 23(3), 221–235. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10914-015-9312-y
- Hovikoski, J., Gingras, M., Räsänen, M., Rebata, L. A., Guerrero, J., Ranzi, A., Melo, J., Romero, L., del Prado, H. N., Jaimes, F., & Lopez, S.

(2007). The nature of Miocene Amazonian epicontinental embayment: high-frequency shifts of the low-gradient coastline. *Bulletin of the Geological Society of America*, *119*(11–12), 1506–1520. https://doi.org/10.1130/0016-7606(2007)119[1506:TNOMAE]2.0.CO;2

- Hren, M. T., Sheldon, N. D., Grimes, S. T., Collinson, M. E., Hooker, J. J., Bugler, M., & Lohmann, K. C. (2013). Terrestrial cooling in Northern Europe during the Eocene-Oligocene transition. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 110(19), 7562–7567. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1210930110
- Hsieh, T. C., Ma, K. H., & Chao, A. (2016). A Quick Introduction to iNEXT via Examples. *Cran*, 2014, 11. https://cran.rproject.org/web/packages/iNEXT/vignettes/Introduction.html
- Hsieh, T., Ma, K., & Chao, A. (2020). *iNEXT: Interpolation and Extrapolation for Species Diversity. R package version 2.0.20.* http://chao.stat.nthu.edu.tw/wordpress/software_download/
- Hsü, K. J., Montadert, L., Bernoulli, D., Cita, M. B., Erickson, A., Garrison,
 R. E., Kidd, R. B., Mèlierés, F., Müller, C., & Wright, R. (1977). History of the mediterranean salinity crisis. *Nature*, 267(5610), 399–403. https://doi.org/10.1038/267399a0
- Hsü, K. J., Ryan, W. B. F., & Cita, M. B. (1973). Late Miocene desiccation of the Mediterranean. *Nature*, *242*(5395), 240–244. https://doi.org/10.1038/242240a0
- Hu, Y., Meng, J., Li, C., & Wang, Y. (2010). New basal eutherian mammal from the Early Cretaceous Jehol biota, Liaoning, China. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 277(1679), 229–236. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2009.0203
- Huang, S., Eronen, J. T., Janis, C. M., Saarinen, J. J., Silvestro, D., & Fritz, S. A. (2017). Mammal body size evolution in North America and Europe over 20 Myr: Similar trends generated by different processes. *Proceedings of the Royal Society: Biological Sciences*, *284*, 20162361. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2016.2361
- Huber, B. T., Norris, R. D., & Macleod, K. G. (2002). Deep-sea paleotemperature record of extreme warmth during the Cretaceous. In *Geology* (Issue 2). www.geosociety.org/pubs/ft2002.htm.
- Hughes, C. E., & Atchison, G. W. (2015). The ubiquity of alpine plant radiations: from the Andes to the Hengduan mountains. *New Phytologist*, 207(2), 275–282. https://doi.org/10.1111/nph.13230
- Hulbert, R. C., & Pratt, A. E. (1998). New Pleistocene (rancholabrean) vertebrate faunas from coastal Georgia. *Journal of Vertebrate Paleontology*, 18(2), 412–429. https://doi.org/10.1080/02724634.1998.10011069
- Hunter, A., & Donovan, S. (2005). Field sampling bias, museum collections and completeness of the fossil record. *Lethaia*, *38*(4), 305–314. https://doi.org/10.1080/00241160500289559
- Inglis, G. N., Farnsworth, A., Lunt, D. J., Foster, G. L., Hollis, C. J., Pagani, M., Jardine, P. E., Pearson, P. N., Markwick, P., & Galsworthy, A. M. J. (2015). Descent toward the Icehouse: Eocene sea surface cooling inferred from GDGT distributions. *Paleoceanography*, 30(7), 1000– 1020. https://doi.org/10.1002/2014PA002723.Received
- Insel, N., Poulsen, C. J., & Ehlers, T. A. (2010). Influence of the Andes Mountains on South American moisture transport, convection, and precipitation. *Climate Dynamics*, 35(7), 1477–1492. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00382-009-0637-1
- IPCC (Intergovernmental Panel Climate Change) Core Writing Team. (2021). AR6 Climate Change 2021: The Physical Science Basis.
- Isacks, B. L. (1988). Uplift of the central Andean Plateau and bending of the Bolivian Orocline. *Journal of Geophysical Research*, 93(B4), 3211– 3231. https://doi.org/10.1029/JB093iB04p03211
- IUCN. (2020). The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species (http://www.iucnredlist.org).
- Jablonski, D. (2008). Extinction and the spatial dynamics of biodiversity. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States

of America, 105(SUPPL. 1), 11528–11535. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0801919105

- Jablonski, D., Belanger, C. L., Berke, S. K., Huang, S., Krug, A. Z., Roy, K., Tomasovych, A., & Valentine, J. W. (2013). Out of the tropics, but how? Fossils, bridge species, and thermal ranges in the dynamics of the marine latitudinal diversity gradient. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, *110*(26), 10487– 10494. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1308997110
- Jablonski, D., Roy, K., & Valentine, J. W. (2006). Out of the tropics: evolutionary dynamics of the latitudinal diversity gradient. *Science*, 314(5796), 102–106. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1130880
- Jackson, J. B., & O'Dea, A. (2013). Timing of the oceanographic and biological isolation of the Caribbean sea from the tropical eastern pacific ocean. *Bulletin of Marine Science*, 89(4), 779–800. https://doi.org/10.5343/bms.2012.1096
- Janis, C. M. (1993). Tertiary mammal evolution in the context of changing climates, vegetation, and tectonic events. *Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics*, 24(1), 467–500. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.es.24.110193.002343
- Janis, C. M., Damuth, J., & Theodor, J. M. (2004). The species richness of Miocene browsers, and implications for habitat type and primary productivity in the North American grassland biome. *Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology, 207*(3–4), 371–398. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.palaeo.2003.09.032
- Jaramillo, C. A. (2017). Evolution of the isthmus of Panama: biological, paleoceanographic and paleoclimatological implications. In Carina Hoorn, Allison Perrigo, & Alexandre Antonelli (Eds.), *Mountains, Climate and Biodiversity* (pp. 323–338). Wiley-Blackwell. www.wiley.com
- Jaramillo, C. A., Montes, C., Cardona, A., Silvestro, D., Antonelli, A., & Bacon, C. D. (2017). Comment (1) on "Formation of the Isthmus of

Panama" by O'Dea et al. *Science Advances*, *3*(6), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.1602321

- Jaramillo, C. A., Ochoa, D., Contreras, L., Pagani, M., Carvajal-Ortiz, H., Pratt, L. M., Krishnan, S., Cardona, A. A., Romero, M., Quiroz, L. I., Rodriguez, G., Rueda, M. J., Parra, F. de la F., Morón, S., Green, W., Bayona, G., Montes, C., Quintero, O., Ramirez, R., ... Vervoort, J. (2010). Effects of rapid global warming at the Paleocene-Eocene boundary on neotropical vegetation. *Science*, *330*(6006), 957–961. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1193833
- Jardine, P. E., Janis, C. M., Sahney, S., & Benton, M. J. (2012). Grit not grass: Concordant pattern sof early origin of hypsodonty in Great Plains ungulates and Glires. Palaeogeography Palaeoclimatology Palaeoecology 365–366, 1–10.
- Jernvall, J., & Fortelius, M. (2002). Common mammals drive the evolutionary increase of hypsodonty in the Neogene. *Nature*, *417*(6888), 538–540. https://doi.org/10.1038/417538a
- Jetz, W., & Fine, P. V. A. (2012). Global gradients in vertebrate diversity predicted by historical area-productivity dynamics and contemporary environment. *PLoS Biology*, *10*(3). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.1001292
- Ji, Q., Luo, Z. X., Yuan, C. X., Wible, J. R., Zhang, J. P., & Georgi, J. A. (2002). The earliest known eutherian mammal. *Nature*, *416*(6883), 816–822. https://doi.org/10.1038/416816a
- Johnson, S. C. (1984). Astrapotheres from the Miocene of Colombia, South America. University of California.
- Johnson, S. C., & Madden, R. H. (1997). Uruguaytheriine astrapotheres of tropical South America. In Vertebrate Paleontology in the Neotropics: The Miocene Fauna of La Ventra, Colombia (pp. 355–381). Colombia.
 Smithsonian Institution Press.
- Jones, L. A. (2020). On the detectability of latitudinal biodiversity gradients in deep time (Issue July). Imperial College London.

- Jones, L. A., Dean, C. D., Mannion, P. D., Farnsworth, A., & Allison, P. A. (2021). Spatial sampling heterogeneity limits the detectability of deep time latitudinal biodiversity gradients. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 288, 20202762. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2020.2762
- Jones, L. A., Mannion, P. D., Farnsworth, A., Valdes, P. J., Kelland, S. J., & Allison, P. A. (2019). Coupling of palaeontological and neontological reef coral data improves forecasts of biodiversity responses under global climatic change. *Royal Society Open Science*, 6, 182111. https://doi.org/10.1098/rsos.182111
- Jürgens, K. D. (2002). Etruscan shrew muscle: the consequences of being small. *The Journal of Experimental Biology*, *205*(Pt 15), 2161–2166. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12110649
- Kalmar, A., & Currie, D. J. (2010). The completeness of the continental fossil record and its impact on patterns of diversification. *Paleobiology*, 36(1), 51–60. https://doi.org/10.1666/0094-8373-36.1.51
- Kannan, R., & James, D. A. (2009). Effects of climate change on global biodiversity: a review of key literature. *Tropical Ecology*, *50*(1), 31–39.
- Kass, R. E., & Raftery, A. E. (1995). Bayes factors. *Journal of the American Statistical Association*, *90*(430), 773–795. https://doi.org/10.1080/01621459.1995.10476572
- Kaufman, D. M. (1995). Diversity of New World mammals: universality of the Latitudinal Gradients of species and bauplans. *Journal of Mammalogy*, 76(2), 322–334.
- Kay, R. F. (2015). Biogeography in deep time What do phylogenetics, geology, and paleoclimate tell us about early platyrrhine evolution? *Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution*, 82(PB), 358–374. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ympev.2013.12.002
- Keigwin, L. D. (1978). Pliocene closing of the Isthmus of Panama, based on biostratigraphic evidence from nearby Pacific Ocean and Caribbean Sea cores. *Geology*, 6(10), 630–634. https://doi.org/10.1130/0091-7613(1978)6<630:PCOTIO>2.0.CO;2

- Kemp, T. S. (2005). *The Origin and Evolution of Mammals*. Oxford University Press. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13398-014-0173-7.2
- Kennett, J. P., & Stott, L. D. (1991). Abrupt deep-sea warming, palaeoceanographic changes and benthic extinctions at the end of the Palaeocene. *Nature*, 353(6341), 225–229. https://doi.org/10.1038/353225a0
- Kiessling, W., Simpson, C., & Foote, M. (2010). Reefs as cradles of evolution and sources of biodiversity in the phanerozoic. *Science*, 327(5962), 196–198. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1182241
- Kiessling, W., Simpson, G. G., Beck, R. M. D., Mewis, H., & Pandolfi, J. M. (2012). Equatorial decline of reef corals during the last Pleistocene interglacial. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 109(52), 21378–21383. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1214037110
- Kinlock, N. L., Prowant, L., Herstoff, E. M., Foley, C. M., Akin-Fajiye, M., Bender, N., Umarani, M., Ryu, H. Y., Şen, B., & Gurevitch, J. (2018).
 Explaining global variation in the latitudinal diversity gradient: metaanalysis confirms known patterns and uncovers new ones. *Global Ecology and Biogeography*, 27(1), 125–141. https://doi.org/10.1111/geb.12665
- Kirby, M. X., & Macfadden, B. J. (2005). Was southern Central America an archipelago or a peninsula in the middle Miocene? A test using land-mammal body size. *Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology, 228*(3–4), 193–202. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.PALAEO.2005.06.002
- Kirsch, J. A. W., Dickerman, A. W., Reigt, O. A., & Springer, M. S. (1991). DNA hybridization evidence for the Australasian affinity of the American marsupial *Dromiciops australis*. In *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* (Vol. 88).
- Kitazoe, Y., Kishino, H., Waddell, P. J., Nakajima, N., & Okabayashi, T. (2007). Robust time estimation reconciles views of the antiquity of

placental mammals. *PLoS ONE*, 2(4), 384. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0000384

- Koch, C. F. (1978). Bias in the published fossil record. *Palaeobiology*, *4*(3), 367–372.
- Kohn, M. J., Stromberg, C. A. E., Madden, R. H., Dunn, R. E., Evans, S., Palacios, A. & Carlini, A. A. (2015). Quasi-static Eocene–Oligocene climate in Patagonia promotes slow faunal evolution and mid-Cenozoic global cooling. Palaeogeography Palaeoclimatology Palaeoecology 435, 24–37.
- Kramarz, A., & Bond, M. (2013). On the status of *Isolophodon* Roth, 1903 (Mammalia , Astrapotheria) and other little-known Paleogene astrapotheres from central Patagonia. *Geobios*, 46(3), 203–211. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geobios.2012.10.015
- Kramarz, A. G., Bond, M., & Rougier, G. W. (2017). Re-description of the auditory region of the putative basal astrapothere (Mammalia) *Eoastrapostylops riolorense* Soria and Powell, 1981: systematic and phylogenetic considerations. *Annals of Carnegie Museum*, 84(2), 95– 164. https://doi.org/10.2992/007.084.0204
- Krijgsman, W., Hilgen, F. J., Raffi, I., Sierro, F. J., & Wilson, D. S. (1999). Chronology, causes and progression of the Messinian salinity crisis. *Nature*, 400(6745), 652–655. https://doi.org/10.1038/23231
- Kröger, B. (2017). Changes in the latitudinal diversity gradient during the Great Ordovician Biodiversification Event. *Geology*, 46(2), 127–130. https://doi.org/10.1130/G39587.1
- Krug, A. Z., Jablonski, D., Roy, K., & Beu, A. G. (2010). Differential Extinction and the Contrasting Structure of Polar Marine Faunas. *PLoS ONE*, *5*(12), e15362. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0015362
- Krug, A. Z., Jablonski, D., & Valentine, J. W. (2007). Contrarian clade confirms the ubiquity of spatial origination patterns in the production of latitudinal diversity gradients. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 104(46), 18129–18134. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0709202104

- Krug, A. Z., Jablonski, D., Valentine, J. W., & Roy, K. (2009). Generation of earth's first-order biodiversity pattern. In *Astrobiology* (Vol. 9, Issue 1, pp. 113–124). https://doi.org/10.1089/ast.2008.0253
- Krug, A. Z., Patzkowsky, M. E., Krug, A. Z., & Patzkowsky, M. E. (2007). Geographic variation in turnover and recovery from the late Ordovician mass extinction. *Paleobiology*, 33(3), 435–454.
- Kuhnt, W., Holbourn, A., Hall, R., Zuvela, M., & Käse, R. (2004). Neogene history of the indonesian throughflow. *Geophysical Monograph Series*, 149, 299–320. https://doi.org/10.1029/149GM16
- Kumar, S., & Hedges, S. B. (1998). A molecular timescale for vertebrate evolution. *Nature*, 392(6679), 917–920. https://doi.org/10.1038/31927
- Labandeira, C. C., Johnson, K. R., & Wilf, P. (2002). Impact of the terminal Cretaceous event on plant-insect associations. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 99(4), 2061–2066. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.042492999
- Latrubesse, E. M., Cozzuol, M., da Silva-Caminha, S. A. F., Rigsby, C. A., Absy, M. L., & Jaramillo, C. (2010). The Late Miocene paleogeography of the Amazon Basin and the evolution of the Amazon River system. *Earth-Science Reviews*, *99*(3–4), 99–124. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.earscirev.2010.02.005
- Lawver, L. A., Gahagan, L. M., & Coffin, M. F. (1992). The development of paleoseaways around Antarctica. Antarctic Research Series -American Geophysical Union, 56, 7–30. https://doi.org/10.1029/ar056p0007
- Lear, C. H., Rosenthal, Y., Coxall, H. K., & Wilson, P. A. (2004). Late Eocene to early Miocene ice sheet dynamics and the global carbon cycle. *Paleoceanography*, 19(4), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1029/2004PA001039
- Lee, H. L., & Stenseth, N. C. (2007). The rise and fall of species: Implications for macroevolutionary and macroecological studies. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 274(1626), 2745–2752. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2007.1006

- Legendre, S., Montuire, S., Maridet, O., & Escarguel, G. (2005). Rodents and climate: a new model for estimating past temperatures. *Earth and Planetary Science Letters*, 235(1–2), 408–420. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.epsl.2005.04.018
- Leyden, B. W. (1984). Guatemalan forest synthesis after Pleistocene aridity. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *81*(15), 4856–4859. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.81.15.4856
- Livermore, R., Eagles, G., Morris, P., & Maldonado, A. (2004). Shackleton Fracture Zone: No barrier to early circumpolar ocean circulation. *Geology*, 32(9), 797–800. https://doi.org/10.1130/G20537.1
- Livermore, R., Nankivell, A., Eagles, G., & Morris, P. (2005). Paleogene opening of Drake Passage. *Earth and Planetary Science Letters*, 236(1–2), 459–470. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.epsl.2005.03.027
- Longrich, N. R., Bhullar, B. A. S., & Gauthier, J. A. (2012). Mass extinction of lizards and snakes at the Cretaceous-Paleogene boundary. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States* of America, 109(52), 21396–21401. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1211526110
- Longrich, N. R., Martill, D. M., & Andres, B. (2018). Late Maastrichtian pterosaurs from North Africa and mass extinction of Pterosauria at the Cretaceous-Paleogene boundary. *PLoS Biology*, *16*(3), e2001663. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.2001663
- Longrich, N. R., Scriberas, J., & Wills, M. A. (2016). Severe extinction and rapid recovery of mammals across the Cretaceous-Palaeogene boundary, and the effects of rarity on patterns of extinction and recovery. *Journal of Evolutionary Biology*, *29*(8), 1495–1512. https://doi.org/10.1111/jeb.12882
- López, G. M., Reguero, M. A., & Lizuain, A. (2001). El registro más antiguo de mastodontes (Plioceno tardío) de América del Sur. *Reunión de Comunicaciones de La Asociación Paleontológica Argentina*.
- Lourens, L., Hilgen, F., Shackleton, N., Laskar, J., & Wilson, D. (2004). The Neogene period. In F. Gradsteni, J. Ogg, & A. Smith (Eds.), *A geologic*

time scale (pp. 409–440). Cambridge University Press. https://ci.nii.ac.jp/naid/20001260192/

- Lovegrove, B. G. (2000). The zoogeography of mammalian basal metabolic rate. *The American Naturalist*, *156*(2), 201–219. https://doi.org/10.1086/303383
- Lunt, D. J., Farnsworth, A., Loptson, C., L Foster, G., Markwick, P., O'Brien,
 C. L., Pancost, R. D., Robinson, S. A., & Wrobel, N. (1981). Solar interior structure and luminosity variations. *Solar Physics*, *74*, 21.
- Lunt, D. J., Farnsworth, A., Loptson, C., L Foster, G., Markwick, P., O'Brien,
 C. L., Pancost, R. D., Robinson, S. A., & Wrobel, N. (2016).
 Palaeogeographic controls on climate and proxy interpretation. *Climate* of the Past, 12(5), 1181–1198. https://doi.org/10.5194/cp-12-1181-2016
- Luo, Z. X. (2007). Transformation and diversification in early mammal evolution. *Nature*, *450*(7172), 1011–1019. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature06277
- Luo, Z. X., Yuan, C. X., Meng, Q. J., & Ji, Q. (2011). A Jurassic eutherian mammal and divergence of marsupials and placentals. *Nature*, 476(7361), 442–445. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature10291
- Lyle, M., Barron, J., Bralower, T. J., Huber, M., Lyle, A. O., Ravelo, A. C., Rea, D. K., & Wilson, P. A. (2008). Pacific ocean and Cenozoic evolution of climate. In *Reviews of Geophysics* (Vol. 46, Issue 2, p. RG2002). John Wiley & Sons, Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1029/2005RG000190
- Lyson, T. R., Joyce, W. G., Knauss, G. E., & Pearson, D. A. (2011). Boremys (Testudines, Baenidae) from the latest Cretaceous and early Paleocene of North Dakota: an 11-million-year range extension and an additional K/T survivor. Journal of Vertebrate Paleontology, 31(4), 729– 737. https://doi.org/10.1080/02724634.2011.576731
- Lyster, S. J., Whittaker, A. C., Allison, P. A., Lunt, D. J., & Farnsworth, A. (2020). Predicting sediment discharges and erosion rates in deep

time—examples from the late Cretaceous North American continent. *Basin Research*, *32*(6), 1547–1573. https://doi.org/10.1111/bre.12442

- MacFadden, B. J. (2000). Middle Pleistocene climate change recorded in fossil mammal teeth from Tarija, Bolivia, and upper limit of the Ensenadan land-mammal age. *Quaternary Research*, 54(1), 121–131. https://doi.org/10.1006/qres.2000.2146
- MacFadden, B. J. (2000). Cenozoic mammalian herbivores from the Americas: Re-constructing ancient diets and terrestrial communities. Annual Review of Ecological Systems 3133–5923.
- MacFadden, B. J. (2006). North American Miocene land mammals from Panama. Journal of Vertebrate Paleontology, 26(3), 720–734. https://doi.org/10.1671/0272-4634(2006)26[720:NAMLMF]2.0.CO;2
- MacFadden, B. J., Bloch, J. I., Evans, H., Foster, D. A., Morgan, G. S., Rincón, A. F., Wood, A. R., Rincon, A., & Wood, A. R. (2014). Temporal calibration and biochronology of the Centenario fauna, early Miocene of Panama. *The Journal of Geology*, *122*(2), 113–135. https://doi.org/10.1086/675244
- MacFadden, B. J., & Ceding, T. E. (1994). Fossil horses, carbon isotopes and global change. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution*, 9(12), 481–486. https://doi.org/10.1016/0169-5347(94)90313-1
- MacFadden, B. J., Cerling, T. E., & Prado, J. L. (1992). Cenozoic terrestrial ecosystem evolution in Argentina: evidence from Carbon isotopes of fossil mammal teeth. In A. K. Behrensmeyer, J. D. Damuth, W. A. DiMichele, R. Potts, H.-D. Sues, & S. L. Wing (Eds.), *Terrestrial ecosystems through time* (Vol. 11, Issue 4, pp. 419–541). Chicago University Press. https://www.jstor.org/stable/3515242
- MacFadden, B. J., Labs-Hochstein, J., Hulbert, R. C., & Baskin, J. A. (2007). Revised age of the late Neogene terror bird (*Titanis*) in North America during the Great American Interchange. *Geology*, 35(2), 123–126. https://doi.org/10.1130/G23186A.1
- Macleod, N., Rawson, P. F., Forey, P. L., Banner, F. T., Boudagher-Fadel, M. K., Bown, P. R., Burnett, J. A., Chambers, P., Culver, S., Evans, S.

E., Jeffery, C., Kaminski, M. A., Lord, A. R., Milner, A. C., Milner, A. R., Morris, N., Owen, E., Rosen, B. R., Smith, A. B., ... Young, J. R. (1997). The Cretaceous-Tertiary biotic transition. *Journal of the Geological Society*, *154*, 265–292. http://jgs.lyellcollection.org/

- Madden, R. H. (1995). Variation, phylogeny and adaptations of *Miocochilius* (Interatheriidae, Notoungulata) from the Miocene of Colombia. *Journal of Paleontology*, 15, 43A. https://scholar.google.com/scholar?cluster=5260881468022750860&h l=en&oi=scholarr
- Madden, R. H. (2015). Hypsodonty in Mammals: Evolution, Geomorphology, and the Role of Earth Surface Processes (Cambridge University Press, Cambridge), 423.
- Madden, R. H., Kay, R. F., Vucetich, M. G., & Carlini, A. A. (2010). Gran Barranca: a 23-million-year record of middle Cenozoic faunal evolution in Patagonia. *The Paleontology of Gran Barranca: Evolution and Environmental Change through the Middle Cenozoic of Patagonia*, *January*, 423–439. http://books.google.com/books?hl=en&lr=&id=oY7wkK6lV4cC&oi=fnd &pg=PA423&dq=Gran+Barranca:+A+23-millionyear+record+of+middle+Cenozoic+faunal+evolution+in+Patagonia&ot s=2YePSP1nLL&sig=vbm25ZDRqL GwD JOVHTdlCX1ik
- Mannion, P. D., Benson, R. B. J., Carrano, M. T., Tennant, J. P., Judd, J., & Butler, R. J. (2015). Climate constrains the evolutionary history and biodiversity of crocodylians. *Nature Communications*, *6*, 8438. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms9438
- Mannion, P. D., Benson, R. B. J., Upchurch, P., Butler, R. J., Carrano, M. T., & Barrett, P. M. (2012). A temperate palaeodiversity peak in Mesozoic dinosaurs and evidence for Late Cretaceous geographical partitioning. *Global Ecology and Biogeography*, 21(9), 898–908. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1466-8238.2011.00735.x
- Mannion, P. D., Chiarenza, A. A., Godoy, P. L., & Cheah, Y. N. (2019). Spatiotemporal sampling patterns in the 230 million year fossil record

of terrestrial crocodylomorphs and their impact on diversity. *Palaeontology*, *62*(4), 615–637. https://doi.org/10.1111/pala.12419

- Mannion, P. D., & Upchurch, P. (2010). Completeness metrics and the quality of the sauropodomorph fossil record through geological and historical time. *Paleobiology*, 36(2), 283–302. https://doi.org/10.1666/09008.1
- Mannion, P. D., Upchurch, P., Benson, R. B. J., & Goswami, A. (2014). The latitudinal biodiversity gradient through deep time. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 29(1), 42–50. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2013.09.012
- Mannion, P. D., Upchurch, P., Carrano, M. T., & Barrett, P. M. (2011). Testing the effect of the rock record on diversity: A multidisciplinary approach to elucidating the generic richness of sauropodomorph dinosaurs through time. *Biological Reviews*, *86*(1), 157–181. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-185X.2010.00139.x
- Mapes, R. W. (2009). Past and present provenance of the Amazon River. In Department of Geological Sciences: Vol. Ph.D.
- Marcot, J. D., Fox, D. L., & Niebuhr, S. R. (2016). Late Cenozoic onset of the latitudinal diversity gradient of North American mammals. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, *113*(26), 7189–7194. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1524750113
- Markwick, P. J. (2019). Palaeogeography in exploration. *Geological Magazine*, 156(2), 366–407. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0016756818000468
- Markwick, P. J., & Valdes, P. J. (2004). Palaeo-digital elevation models for use as boundary conditions in coupled ocean – atmosphere GCM experiments: a Maastrichtian (Late Cretaceous) example. *Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology, 213*, 37–63. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.palaeo.2004.06.015
- Marquet, P. A., & Cofre, H. (1999). Large temporal and spatial scales in the structure of mammalian assemblages in South America: A macroecological approach. *Oikos*, 299–309.

- Marshall, L. G. (1979). A model for paleobiogeography of South American cricetine rodents. *Paleobiology*, 2, 126–132. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0094837300006412
- Marshall, L. G. (1982). Calibration of the age of mammals in South America. *Geobios*, *15*, 427–437. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0016-6995(82)80131-9
- Marshall, L. G. (1985). Geochronology and Land-Mammal biochronology of the Transamerican Faunal Interchange. In *The Great American Biotic Interchange* (pp. 49–85). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4684-9181-4_3
- Marshall, L. G. (1988). Land Mammals and the Great American Interchange. *American Scientist*, *76*(4), 380–388.
- Marshall, L. G., Butler, R. F., Drake, R. E., Curtis, G. H., & Tedford, R. H. (1979). Calibration of the Great American interchange. In *Science* (Vol. 204, Issue 4390, pp. 272–279). https://doi.org/10.1126/science.204.4390.272
- Marshall, L. G., Webb, S. D., Sepkoski, J. J., & Raup, D. M. (1982). Mammalian evolution and the great American interchange. *Science*, *215*(4538), 1351–1357. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.215.4538.1351
- Martin, T., & Rauhut, O. W. M. (2005). Mandible and dentition of Asfaltomylos patagonicus (Australosphenida, Mammalia) and the evolution of tribosphenic teeth. Source: Journal of Vertebrate Paleontology, 25(2), 414–425.
- Martínez, C., Jaramillo, C., Correa-Metrío, A., Crepet, W., Moreno, J. E., Aliaga, A., Moreno, F., Ibañez-Mejia, M., & Bush, M. B. (2020).
 Neogene precipitation, vegetation, and elevation history of the Central Andean Plateau. *Science Advances*, *6*, eaaz4724. http://advances.sciencemag.org/
- Marx, F. G., & Uhen, M. D. (2010). Climate, critters, and cetaceans: cenozoic drivers of the evolution of modern whales. *Science*, 327(5968), 993–996. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1185581

- Maslin, M. A., Li, X. S., Loutre, M. F., & Berger, A. (1998). The contribution of orbital forcing to the progressive intensification of Northern Hemisphere glaciation. *Quaternary Science Reviews*, 17(4–5), 411– 426. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0277-3791(97)00047-4
- McCulloch, R. D., Bentley, M. J., Purves, R. S., Hulton, N. R., Sugden, D. E., & Clapperton, C. M. (2000). Climatic inferences from glacial and palaeoecological evidence at the last glacial termination, Southern South America. *Journal of Quaternary Science*, *15*(4), 409–417. https://doi.org/10.1002/jqs.608
- McDonald, H. G. (2005). Paleoecology of extinct xenarthrans and the Great American Biotic Interchange. *Bull. Fla. Mus. Nat. Hist.*, *45*(4), 313–333.
- McDonald, H. G., & Naples, V. L. (2008). Xenarthra. In C. M. Janis, G. E. Gunnell, & M. D. Uhen (Eds.), *Evolution of Tertiary Mammals of North America, vol 2* (pp. 147–160). Cambridge University Press.
- McDonald, H. G., Vizcaíno, S. F., & Bargo, M. S. (2008). Skeletal anatomy and the fossil history of the Vermilingua. In S. F. Vizcaíno & W. J. Loughry (Eds.), *The Biology of the Xenarthra* (pp. 64–78). University Press of Florida.
- McInerney, F. A., & Wing, S. L. (2011). The Paleocene-Eocene Thermal Maximum: a perturbation of Carbon cycle, climate, and biosphere with implications for the future. *Annual Review of Earth and Planetary Sciences*, 39(1), 489–516. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-earth-040610-133431
- McKenna, D. D., & Farrell, B. D. (2006). Tropical forests are both evolutionary cradles and museums of leaf beetle diversity. *Proceedings* of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 103(29), 10947–10951. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0602712103
- McKenna, M. C. (1975). Towards a Phylogenetic Classification of the Mammalia. In W. P. Luckett & F. S. Szalay (Eds.), *Phylogeny of Primates: A Multidisciplinary Approach* (pp. 21–46). Plenum Press.
- McKenna, M. C., & Bell, S. K. (1997). *Classification of Mammals above the Species Level by* (Vol. 19, Issue 1). Columbia University Press.

- McKenna, M. C., Wyss, A. R., & Flynn, J. J. (2006). Paleogene *Pseudoglyptodont* xenarthrans from central Chile and Argentine Patagonia. *American Museum Novitates*, 3536, 1–19. https://doi.org/10.1206/0003-0082(2006)3536[1:ppxfcc]2.0.co;2
- McNab, B. K. (1985). Energetics, population biology, and distribution of xenarthrans, living and extinct. In R. M. Wetzel & G. Montgomery (Eds.), *The evolution and ecology of armadillos, sloths and vermilinguas* (pp. 219–232). Smithsonian Institution.
- Medeanic, S. (2002). The Sarmatian (Middle-late Miocene) paleoflora evolution in the eastern Paratethys. *Acta Palaeontologica Sinica*, *41*(4), 592–600.
- Meng, J., & McKenna, M. C. (1998). Faunal turnovers of Paleogene mammals from the Mongolian Plateau. *Nature*, *394*(July), 364–367.
- Mercer, J. H. (1983). Cenozoic glaciation in the southern hemisphere. Annual Review of Earth and Planetary Sciences, 11, 99–132. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.ea.11.050183.000531
- Meredith, R. W., Janečka, J. E., Gatesy, J., Ryder, O. A., Fisher, C. A., Teeling, E. C., Goodbla, A., Eizirik, E., Simão, T. L. L., Stadler, T., Rabosky, D. L., Honeycutt, R. L., Flynn, J. J., Ingram, C. M., Steiner, C., Williams, T. L., Robinson, T. J., Burk-Herrick, A., Westerman, M., ... Murphy, W. J. (2011). Impacts of the Cretaceous terrestrial revolution and K/Pg extinction on mammal diversification. *Science*, 334(6055), 521–524. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1211028
- Meredith, R. W., Westerman, M., Case, J. A., & Springer, M. S. (2008). A phylogeny and timescale for marsupial evolution based on sequences for five nuclear genes. *Journal of Mammalian Evolution*, *15*(1), 1–36. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10914-007-9062-6
- Meseguer, A. S., & Condamine, F. L. (2020). Ancient tropical extinctions at high latitudes contributed to the latitudinal diversity gradient. *Evolutionary Biology*. https://doi.org/10.1111/evo.13967

- Miller, A. I., & Foote, M. (1996). Calibrating the Ordovician radiation of marine life: Implications for Phanerozoic diversity trends. *Paleobiology*, 22(2), 304–309. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0094837300016237
- Miller, K. G., Fairbanks, R. G., & Mountain, G. S. (1987). Tertiary oxygen isotope synthesis, sea level history, and continental margin erosion. *Paleoceanography*, 2(1), 1–19.
- Miller, K. G., Wright, J. D., & Fairbanks, R. G. (1991). Unlocking the ice house: Oligocene-Miocene oxygen isotopes, eustasy, and margin erosion. *Journal of Geophysical Research*, 96(B4), 6829–6848. https://doi.org/10.1029/90JB02015
- Mittelbach, G. G., Schemske, D. W., Cornell, H. v., Allen, A. P., Brown, J. M., Bush, M. B., Harrison, S. P., Hurlbert, A. H., Knowlton, N., Lessios, H. A., McCain, C. M., McCune, A. R., McDade, L. A., McPeek, M. A., Near, T. J., Price, T. D., Ricklefs, R. E., Roy, K., Sax, D. F., ... Turelli, M. (2007). Evolution and the latitudinal diversity gradient: speciation, extinction and biogeography. *Ecology Letters*, *10*(4), 315–331. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2007.01020.x
- Molnar, P. (2008). Closing of the Central American Seaway and the ice age: A critical review. *Paleoceanography*, 23(2), 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1029/2007PA001574
- Montalvo, C. I., & Verzi, D. H. (2004). El registro de roedores Octodontoidea (Caviomorpha) de la formación Cerro Azul (Mioceno tardío, La Pampa, Argentina): sistemática, biocronología, evolución y paleoclimas. *Ameghiniana*, *41*(4), 56R.
- Montes, C., Cardona, A., Jaramillo, C., Pardo, A., Silva, J. C., Valencia, V., Ayala, C., Pérez-Angel, L. C., Rodriguez-Parra, L. A., Ramirez, V., & Niño, H. (2015). Middle Miocene closure of the Central American Seaway. *Science*, *348*(6231), 226–229. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aaa2815
- Montes, C., Cardona, A., McFadden, R., Morón, S. E., Silva, C. A., Restrepo-Moreno, S., Ramírez, D. A., Hoyos, N., Wilson, J., Farris, D., Bayona, G. A., Jaramillo, C. A., Valencia, V., Bryan, J., & Flores, J. A.

(2012). Evidence for middle Eocene and younger land emergence in central Panama: Implications for Isthmus closure. *Bulletin of the Geological Society of America*, *124*(5–6), 780–799. https://doi.org/10.1130/B30528.1

- Mora, A. A., Baby, P., Roddaz, M., Parra, M., Brusset, S., Hermoza, W., & Espurt, N. (2010). Tectonic history of the Andes and sub-Andean zones: implications for the development of the Amazon drainage basin.
 In C. Hoorn & F. P. Wesselingh (Eds.), *Amazonia: Landscape and Species Evolution: A Look into the Past* (pp. 38–60). Blackwell Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781444306408.ch4
- Moran, K., Backman, J., Brinkhuis, H., Clemens, S. C., Cronin, T. M., Dickens, G. R., Eynaud, F., Gattacceca, J., Jakobsson, M., Jordan, R. W., Kaminski, M., King, J., Koc, N., Krylov, A., Martinez, N., Matthiessen, J., McInroy, D., Moore, T. C., Onodera, J., ... Kristoffersen, Y. (2006). The Cenozoic palaeoenvironment of the Arctic Ocean. *Nature*, *441*(7093), 601–605. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature04800
- Morgan, G. S. (2005). The Great American Biotic Interchange in Florida. Bulletin of the Florida Museum of Natural History, 45(4), 271311.
- Morgan, G. S. (2008). Vertebrate fauna and geochronology of the Great American Biotic Interchange in North America. *New Mexico Museum of Natural History and Science Bulletin, 44,* 1–93. https://books.google.co.uk/books?hl=en&lr=&id=vW_aBwAAQBAJ&oi =fnd&pg=PA93&dq=Morgan+GR+(2008)+Vertebrate+fauna+and+geo chronology+of+the+Great+American+Biotic+Interchange+in+North+A merica.+In:+Lucas+SG,+Mogan+GS,+Spielmann+JA,+Prothero+DR+ (eds).+Neogene+Ma
- Morgan, G. S., & Hulbert, R. C. Jr. (1995). Overview of the geology and vertebrate biochronology of the Leisey Shell Pit local fauna, Hillsborough County, Florida. *Bulletin of the Florida Museum of Natural History 37, Pt, 1 (1),* 1–92.
- Morlo, M., Gunnell, G. F., & Nagel, D. (2013). Ecomorphological analysis of carnivore guilds in the Eocene through Miocene of Laurasia. In

Carnivoran Evolution: New Views on Phylogeny, Form, and Function (pp. 269–310). https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9781139193436.011

- Mudelsee, M., Bickert, T., Lear, C. H., & Lohmann, G. (2014). Cenozoic climate changes: A review based on time series analysis of marine benthic δ18O records. *Reviews of Geophysics*, *52*, 333–374. https://doi.org/10.1002/2013RG000440
- Mudelsee, M., & Raymo, M. E. (2005). Slow dynamics of the Northern Hemisphere glaciation. *Paleoceanography*, 20, PA4022. https://doi.org/10.1029/2005PA001153
- Murphy, D. W., Eizirik, E., O'Brien, S. J., Madsen, O., Scally, M., Douady,
 C. J., Teeling, E. C., Ryder, O. A., Stanhope, M. J., de Jong, W. W., &
 Springer, M. S. (2001). Resolution of the early placental mammal radiation using Bayesian phylogenetics. *Science*, *294*, 2348–2351.
- Myers, N., Mittermeier, R. A., Mittermeier, C. G., da Fonseca, G. A. B., & Kent, J. (2000). Biodiversity hotspots for conservation priorities. *Nature*, *403*, 853–858.
- Nicholson, D. B., Holroyd, P. A., Benson, R. B. J., & Barrett, P. M. (2015). Climate-mediated diversification of turtles in the Cretaceous. *Nature Communications*, *6*, 7848. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms8848
- Nicholson, D. B., Holroyd, P. A., Valdes, P., & Barrett, P. M. (2016). Latitudinal diversity gradients in Mesozoic non-marine turtles. *Royal Society Open Science*, *3*, 160581. https://doi.org/10.1098/rsos.160581
- Novacek, M. J. (1992). Mammalian phytogeny: shaking the tree. *Nature*, *356*(6365), 121–125. https://doi.org/10.1038/356121a0
- Novacek, M. J. (1999). 100 million years of land vertebrate evolution: the Cretaceous-early Tertiary transition. *Annals of the Missouri Botanical Garden*, *86*(2), 230–258.
- O'Dea, A., Lessios, H. A., Coates, A. G., Eytan, R. I., Collins, L. S., Cione,
 A. L., de Queiroz, A., Farris, D. W., Norris, R. D., Restrepo-moreno, S.
 A., Stallard, R. F., Woodburne, M. O., Aguilera, O. A., Aubry, M.,
 Berggren, W. A., Budd, A. F., Cozzuol, M. A., Coppard, S. E., Finnegan,

S., ... Jackson, J. B. C. (2018). Formation of the Isthmus of Panama: Response to Jaramillo et al. *Science Advances ELetter*, 1–5.

- O'Dea, A., Lessios, H. A., Coates, A. G., Eytan, R. I., Restrepo-moreno, S. A., Cione, A. L., Collins, L. S., de Queiroz, A., Farris, D. W., Norris, R. D., Stallard, R. F., Woodburne, M. O., Aguilera, O. A., Aubry, M., Berggren, W. A., Budd, A. F., Cozzuol, M. A., Coppard, S. E., Duque-Caro, H., ... Jackson, J. B. C. (2016). Formation of the Isthmus of Panama. *Science Advances*, *2*, e1600883.
- O'Leary, M. A., Bloch, J. I., Flynn, J. J., Gaudin, T. J., Giallombardo, A., Giannini, N. P., Goldberg, S. L., Kraatz, B. P., Luo, Z. X., Meng, J., Ni, X.-J., Novacek, M. J., Perini, F. A., Randall, Z. S., Rougier, G. W., Sargis, E. J., Silcox, M. T., Simmons, N. B., Spaulding, M., ... Cirranello, A. L. (2013). The placental mammal ancestor and the Post-K-Pg radiation of placentals. *Science*, *339*(6120), 662–667. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1229237
- Oliveira, E., & Bergqvist, L. P. (1998). A new Paleocene armadillo (Mammalia, Dasypodoidea) from the Itaboraí basin, Brazil. *Paleógeno de América Del Sur y de La Península Antártica*, 5, 35–40. http://scholar.google.com/scholar?hl=en&btnG=Search&q=intitle:A+N EW+PALEOCENE+ARMADILLO+(MAMMALIA,+DASYPODOIDEA)+ FROM+THE+ITABORAí+BASIN,+BRAZIL#0
- Olivero, E. B., Gasparini, Z. B. de, Rinaldi, C. A., & Scasso, R. A. (1991).
 First record of dinosaurs in Antarctica (upper Cretaceous, James Ross Island): palaeogeographical implications. In *Geological evolution of Antarctica* (pp. 617–622). https://pascalfrancis.inist.fr/vibad/index.php?action=getRecordDetail&idt=19574252
- Ortiz-Jaureguizar, E. (1998). Paleoecología y evolución de la fauna de mamíferos de América del Sur durante la "Edad de las Planicies Australes" (Mioceno superior-Plioceno superior). *Estudios Geologicos*, 54, 161–169.
- Ortiz-Jaureguizar, E., & Cladera, G. A. (2006). Paleoenvironmental evolution of southern South America during the Cenozoic. *Journal of*

 Arid
 Environments,
 66(3),
 498–532.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JARIDENV.2006.01.007
 66(3),
 66(3),
 66(3),
 66(3),
 66(3),
 66(3),
 66(3),
 66(3),
 66(3),
 66(3),
 66(3),
 66(3),
 66(3),
 66(3),
 66(3),
 66(3),
 66(3),
 66(3),
 66(3),
 66(3),
 66(3),
 66(3),
 66(3),
 66(3),
 66(3),
 66(3),
 66(3),
 66(3),
 66(3),
 66(3),
 66(3),
 66(3),
 66(3),
 66(3),
 66(3),
 66(3),
 66(3),
 66(3),
 66(3),
 66(3),
 66(3),
 66(3),
 66(3),
 66(3),
 66(3),
 66(3),
 66(3),
 66(3),
 66(3),
 66(3),
 66(3),
 66(3),
 66(3),
 66(3),
 66(3),
 66(3),
 66(3),
 66(3),
 66(3),
 66(3),
 66(3),
 66(3),
 66(3),
 66(3),
 66(3),
 66(3),
 66(3),
 66(3),
 66(3),
 66(3),
 66(3),
 66(3),
 66(3),
 66(3),
 66(3),
 66(3),
 66(3),

- Palazzesi, L., & Barreda, V. (2012). Fossil pollen records reveal a late rise of open-habitat ecosystems in Patagonia. *Nature Communications*, *3*, 1294. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms2299
- Palazzesi, L., Barreda, V. D., Cuitiño, J. I., Guler, M. v, Tellería, M. C., & Santos, & R. V. (2014). Fossil pollen records indicate that Patagonian desertification was not solely a consequence of Andean uplift. *Nature Communications*, *5*, 3558. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms4558
- Parmesan, C. (2006). Ecological and evolutionary responses to recent climate change. Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics, 37(1), 637–669. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.ecolsys.37.091305.110100
- Parmesan, C., & Yohe, G. (2003). A globally coherent fingerprint of climate change impacts across natural systems. *Nature*, *421*(6918), 37–42. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature01286
- Pascual, R. (2006). Evolution and Geography : The Biogeographic History of South American Land Mammals. *Annals of the Missouri Botanical Garden*, 93(2), 209–230. https://doi.org/10.3417/0026-6493(2006)93
- Pascual, R., & Odreman-Rivas, O. E. (1973). Las unidades estratigraficas del terciario portadoras de mamiferos. su distribucion y sus relaciones con los acontecimientos diastroficos. Actas Del V Congreso Argentino de Geologia, 293–338. https://pascal-francis.inist.fr/vibad/index.php?action=getRecordDetail&idt=PASCAL GEODEBRGM7520108884
- Pascual, R., & Ortiz-Jaureguizar, E. (1990). Evolving climates and mammal faunas in Cenozoic South America. *Journal of Human Evolution*, 19-24.
- Pascual, R., & Ortiz-Jaureguizar, E. (2007). The Gondwanan and South American episodes: two major and unrelated moments in the history of the South American mammals. *Journal of Mammalian Evolution*, 14(2), 75–137. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10914-007-9039-5

- Passchier, S. P., Bohaty, S. M., Jimenez Espejo, F. J., Pross, J., Röhl, U., van de Flierdt, T., Escutia, C., & Brinkhuis, H. (2013). Early Eocene to middle Miocene cooling and aridification of east Antarctica. *Geochemistry, Geophysics, Geosystems, 14*(5), 1399–1410. https://doi.org/10.1002/ggge.20106
- Patterson, B. D., Costa, L. P., Vizcaíno, S. F., Cassini, G. H., Toledo, N., & Bargo, M. S. (2013). On the evolution of large size in mammalian herbivores of Cenozoic faunas of southern South America. In B. D. Patterson & L. P. Costa (Eds.), *Bones, Clones, and Biomes: the history and geography of Recent Neotropical mammals* (Issue October 2014, pp. 76–101). The University of Chicago Press. https://doi.org/10.7208/chicago/9780226649214.003.0005
- Patterson, B. D., Solari, S., & Velazco, P. M. (2012). Introduction to the history and geography of Neotropical mammals. In B. Patterson & L. P. Costa (Eds.), *Bones, Clones, and Biomes: The history and geography* of *Recent Neotropical mammals* (pp. 351–378). The University of Chicago Press.
- Patterson, B., & Pascual, R. (1968). The Fossil Mammal Fauna of South America. *The Quarterly Review of Biology*, 43(4), 409–451. https://www.jstor.org.lib-ezproxy-

live.nhm.ac.uk/stable/pdf/2819014.pdf?refreqid=excelsior%3Ab2fcb2f 4d7f9d2581b6d6cb7003edf25

- Paulson, D. R. (2001). Recent Odonata records from southern Floridaeffects of global warming? *International Journal of Odonatology*, 4(1), 57–69. https://doi.org/10.1080/13887890.2001.9748159
- Pease, C. M. (1985). Biases in the durations and diversities of fossil taxa. *Paleobiology*, *11*(3), 272–292. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0094837300011593
- Pérez, M. E. (2010). Sistemática, ecología y bioestratigrafía de Eocardiidae (Rodentia: hystricognathi: cavioidea) del Mioceno temprano y medio de Patagonia. http://sedici.unlp.edu.ar/handle/10915/4300

- Pérez-Escobar, O. A., Zizka, A., Bermúdez, M. A., Meseguer, A. S., Condamine, F. L., Hoorn, C., Hooghiemstra, H., Pu, Y., Bogarín, D., Boschman, L. M., Pennington, R. T., Antonelli, A., & Chomicki, G. (2022). The Andes through time: evolution and distribution of Andean floras. *Trends in Plant Science*, 27(4), 364–378. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tplants.2021.09.010
- Perrigo, A., Hoorn, C., & Antonelli, A. (2020). Why mountains matter for biodiversity. *Journal of Biogeography*, 47(2), 315–325. https://doi.org/10.1111/jbi.13731
- Peters, S. E. (2005). Geologic constraints on the macroevolutionary history of marine animals. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* of the United States of America, 102(35), 12326–12331. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0502616102
- Peters, S. E., & Foote, M. (2001). Biodiversity in the Phanerozoic: a reinterpretation. *Paleobiology*, 27(4), 583–601. https://doi.org/10.1666/0094-8373(2001)027<0583:BITPAR>2.0.CO;2
- Pimiento, C., Griffin, J. N., Clements, C. F., Silvestro, D., Varela, S., Uhen,
 M. D., & Jaramillo, C. (2017). The Pliocene marine megafauna extinction and its impact on functional diversity. *Nature Ecology and Evolution*, *1*(8), 1100–1106. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41559-017-0223-6
- Pimm, S. L., Jenkins, C. N., Abell, R., Brooks, T. M., Gittleman, J. L., Joppa, L. N., Raven, P. H., Roberts, C. M., & Sexton, J. O. (2014). The biodiversity of species and their rates of extinction, distribution, and protection. *Science*, 344(6187), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1246752
- Pino, K., Vallejos-Garrido, P., Espinoza-Aravena, N., Cooper, R. B., Silvestro, D., Hernández, C. E., & Rodríguez-Serrano, E. (2022).
 Regional landscape change triggered by Andean uplift: the extinction of Sparassodonta (Mammalia, Metatheria) in South America. *Global* and *Planetary Change*, 210, 103758. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloplacha.2022.103758

- Piperno, D. R. (2006). Quaternary Environmental History and Agricultural Impact on Vegetation in Central America. Annals of the Missouri Botanical Garden, 93(2), 274–296. https://doi.org/10.3417/0026-6493(2006)93[274:qehaai]2.0.co;2
- Piperno, D. R., & Jones, J. G. (2003). Paleoecological and archaeological implications of a Late Pleistocene/Early Holocene record of vegetation and climate from the Pacific coastal plain of Panama. *Quaternary Research*, 59(1), 79–87. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0033-5894(02)00021-2
- Pomi, L. H., & Prevosti, F. J. (2005). Sobre el status sistemático de Felis longifrons Burmeister, 1866 (Carnivora: Felidae). Ameghiniana, 42(2), 489–494.
- Pontarp, M., Bunnefeld, L., Cabral, J. S., Etienne, R. S., Fritz, S. A., Gillespie, R., Graham, C. H., Hagen, O., Hartig, F., Huang, S., Jansson, R., Maliet, O., Münkemüller, T., Pellissier, L., Rangel, T. F., Storch, D., Wiegand, T., & Hurlbert, A. H. (2019). The Latitudinal Diversity Gradient: Novel Understanding through Mechanistic Eco-evolutionary Models. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution*, *34*(3), 211–223. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2018.11.009
- Poore, R., & Sloan, L. (1996). Climates and climate variability of the Pliocene. *Marine Micropaleontology*, *27*, 1–26.
- Potter, P. E., & Szatmari, P. (2009). Global Miocene tectonics and the modern world. *Earth-Science Reviews*, 96(4), 279–295. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.earscirev.2009.07.003
- Poulsen, C. J., Ehlers, T. A., & Insel, N. (2010). Onset of convective rainfall during gradual late Miocene rise of the Central Andes. *Science*, 328(5977), 490–493. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1185078
- Poux, C., Chevret, P., Huchon, D., de Jong, W. W., & Douzery, E. J. P. (2006). Arrival and diversification of caviomorph rodents and platyrrhine primates in South America. *Systematic Biology*, 55(2), 228– 244. https://doi.org/10.1080/10635150500481390

- Prado, J. L., Martinez-Maza, C., & Alberdi, M. T. (2015). Megafauna extinction in South America: a new chronology for the Argentine Pampas. *Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology, 425*, 41–49. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.palaeo.2015.02.026
- Prevosti, F. J. (2006). New material of Pleistocene cats (Carnivora, Felidae) from southern South America, with comments on biogeography and the fossil record. *Geobios*, *39*(5), 679–694. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geobios.2005.01.004
- Prevosti, F. J., & Forasiepi, A. M. (2018). Evolution of South American mammalian predators during the Cenozoic: paleobiogeographic and paleoenvironmental contingencies. *Evolution of South American Mammalian Predators During the Cenozoic: Paleobiogeographic and Paleoenvironmental Contingencies*. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-03701-1
- Prevosti, F. J., & Pardiñas, U. F. J. F. J. (2009). Comment on "The oldest South American Cricetidae (Rodentia) and Mustelidae (Carnivora): Late Miocene faunal turnover in central Argentina and the Great American Biotic Interchange" by D.H. Verzi and C.I. Montalvo. *Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology*, 280(3–4), 543– 547. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.palaeo.2009.05.021
- Prothero, D. R. (1994). *The Eocene-Oligocene transition: paradise lost*. Columbia University Press.
- Prothero, D. R., Ivany, L. C., & Nesbitt, E. A. (2003). A brief account of the evolution of the Caribbean Seaway: Jurassic to present. In D. R. Prothero, L. C. Ivany, & E. A. Nesbitt (Eds.), *From Greenhouse to Icehouse: The Marine Eocene-Oligocene Transition*. Columbia University Press. https://doi.org/10.2110/palo.2003.p03-42
- Pujos, F. (2006). Megatherium celendinense sp. nov. from the Pleistocene of the Peruvian Andes and the Phylogenetic relationships of megatheriines. Palaeontology, 49(2), 285–306. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1475-4983.2006.00522.x

- Pujos, F., & Salas, R. (2004). A new species of *Megatherium* (Mammalia: Xenarthra: Megatheriidae) from the Pleistocene of Sacaco and Tres Ventanas, Peru. *Palaeontology*, *47*(3), 579–604. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0031-0239.2004.00376.x
- Python Software Foundation. (2021). *Python language version 3.9* (p. Available at http://www.python.org).
- Quattrocchio, M., Deschamps, C., Martinez, D., Grill, S., & Zavala, C. (1988). Caracterizacion palinologica y paleoambiental de sedimentos cuaternarios, arroyo Naposta Grande, provincia de Buenos Aires. Acta 2° Jornadas de Geología Bonaerenses, 37–46.
- Quattrocchio, M., Durango de Cabrera, J., & Galli, C. (2003). Formación Anta (Mioceno Temprano/Medio), Subgrupo Metán (Grupo Orán), en el río Piedras, Pcia de Salta: datos palinologicos. *Revista de La Asociacion Geologica Argentina*, *1*, 117–127.
- R Core Team. (2021). *R: A language and environment for statistical computing.* R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria.
- Rabosky, D. L., Chang, J., Title, P. O., Cowman, P. F., Sallan, L., Friedman,
 M., Kaschner, K., Garilao, C., Near, T. J., Coll, M., & Alfaro, M. E.
 (2018). An inverse latitudinal gradient in speciation rate for marine fishes. *Nature*, *559*, 392–412. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-018-0273-1
- Rajaud, A., & Noblet-Ducoudré, N. de. (2017). Tropical semi-arid regions expanding over temperate latitudes under climate change. *Climatic Change*, 144(4), 703–719. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10584-017-2052-7
- Ramos, V. A. (1999). Plate tectonic setting of the Andean Cordillera. *Episodes*, 22(3), 183–190. https://doi.org/10.18814/epiiugs/1999/v22i3/005
- Rauhut, O. W. M., Martin, T., Ortiz-Jaureguizar, E., & Puerta, P. (2002). A Jurassic mammal from South America. *Nature*, *416*, 165–168.
- Raup, D. M. (1972). Taxonomic diversity during the Phanerozoic. *Science*, *177*(4054), 1065–1071. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.146.3642.347

- Raup, D. M. (1975). Taxonomic diversity estimation using rarefaction. *Paleobiology*, 1(4), 333–342. https://doi.org/10.1017/s0094837300002633
- Raup, D. M. (1976). Species diversity in the Phanerozoic: an Interpretation. Paleobiology, 2, 289–297.
- Raup, D. M. (1979). Bias in the fossil record of species and genera. Bulletin of the Carnegie Museum of Natural History, 13, 85–91. https://pascalfrancis.inist.fr/vibad/index.php?action=getRecordDetail&idt=PASCAL GEODEBRGM8020346739
- Raup, D. M., & Sepkoski, J. J. (1982). Mass extinctions in the marine fossil record. *Science*, *215*(4539), 1501–1503. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.215.4539.1501
- Rech, J. A., Currie, B. S., Michalski, G., & Cowan, A. M. (2006). Neogene climate change and uplift in the Atacama Desert, Chile. *Geology*, 34, 761–764. https://doi.org/10.1130/G22444.1
- Reguero, M. A., Candela, A. M., & Alonso, R. N. (2007). Biochronology and biostratigraphy of the Uquía Formation (Pliocene-early Pleistocene, NW Argentina) and its significance in the Great American Biotic Interchange. *Journal of South American Earth Sciences*, 23, 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsames.2006.09.005
- Reguero, M. A., Gelfo, J. N., López, G. M., Bond, M., Abello, M. A., Santillana, S. N., & Marenssi, S. A. (2014). Final Gondwana breakup: The Paleogene South American native ungulates and the demise of the South America-Antarctica land connection. *Global and Planetary Change*, 123, 400–413. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloplacha.2014.07.016
- Reguero, M. A., & Marenssi, S. A. (2010). Paleogene climatic and biotic events in the terrestrial record of the Antarctic Peninsula : an overview. *The Paleontology of Gran Barranca: Evolution and Environmental Change through the Middle Cenozoic of Patagonia*, 383–397. https://books.google.co.uk/books?hl=en&lr=&id=oY7wkK6lV4cC&oi=f nd&pg=PA383&dq=Reguero+MA,+Marenssi+SA+(2010)+Paleogene+

climatic+and+biotic+events+in+the+terrestrial+record+of+the+Antarcti c+Peninsula:+an+overview.+In:+Madden+R,+Carlini+AA,+Vucetich+ MG,+Kay

- Reguero, M. A., Marenssi, S. A., & Santillana, S. N. (2002). Antarctic Peninsula and South America (Patagonia) Paleogene terrestrial faunas and environments: biogeographic relationships. *Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology, 179*(3–4), 189–210. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0031-0182(01)00417-5
- Renne, P. R., Sprain, C. J., Richards, M. A., Self, S., Vanderkluysen, L., & Pande, K. (2015). State shift in Deccan volcanism at the Cretaceous-Paleogene boundary, possibly induced by impact. *Science*, *350*(6256), 76–78. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aac7549
- Retallack, G. J. (2001). Cenozoic expansion of grasslands and climatic cooling. *Journal of Geology*, *109*(4), 407–426. https://doi.org/10.1086/320791
- Riddle, B. R., & Jezkova, T. (2019). How is phylogeography shaping our understanding of the geography of diversity, diversification, and range dynamics in mammals? *Journal of Mammalogy*, *100*(3), 872–893. https://doi.org/10.1093/jmammal/gyz027
- Rincón, A. D., Valerio, A. L., & Laurito, C. (2020). First fossil record of a Megatheriidae-Megatheriinae in the early Hemphillian (late Miocene) from San Gerardo de Limoncito, Curre Formation, Costa Rica. *Revista Geológica de América Central*, 62, 1–24. https://doi.org/10.15517/rgac.v62i0.41278
- Roddaz, I., Hermoza, W., Mora, A., Baby, P., Parra, M., Christophoul, F., Brusset, S., & Espurt, N. (2010). Cenozoic sedimentary evolution of the Amazonian foreland basin system. In C. Hoorn & F. P. Wesselingh (Eds.), *Amazonia: Landscape and Species Evolution: A Look into the Past.* John Wiley & Sons.
- Rogl, F. (1999). Mediterranean and Paratethys: facts and hypotheses of an Oligocene to Miocene paleogeography. *Geologica Carpathica*, *50*(4), 339–349.

- Rose, K. D. (2006). The beginning of the age of mammals. In K. D. Rose (Ed.), *Biological Reviews*. The Johns Hopkins University Press.
- Rose, K. D., Chew, A. E., Dunn, R. H., Kraus, M. J., Fricke, H. C., & Zack,
 S. P. (2012). Earliest Eocene mammalian fauna from the PaleoceneEocene Thermal Maximum at sand creek divide, southern Bighorn
 basin, Wyoming. *Papers on Paleontology, University of Michigan, 36*.
- Rose, P. J., Fox, D. L., Marcot, J. D., & Badgley, C. (2011). Flat latitudinal gradient in Paleocene mammal richness suggests decoupling of climate and biodiversity. *Geology*, 39(2), 163–166. https://doi.org/10.1130/G31099.1
- Rosenzweig, M. L. (1995). Species diversity in space and time (Rosenzweig. M. L, Ed.). Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK. https://scholar.google.com/scholar?hl=en&as_sdt=0%2C5&q=undefin edRosenzweig%2C+M.L.+%28ed.%29+%281995%29+Species+Dive rsity+in+Space+and+Time%2C+Cambridge+University+Press&btnG=
- Rougier, G. W., Martinelli, A., Forasiepi, A. M., & Novacek, M. J. (2007). New Jurassic mammals from Patagonia, Argentina: a reappraisal of australosphenidan morphology and interrelationships. *American Museum Novitates*, 3566, 1–54.
- Rougier, G. W., Martinelli, A. G., & Forasiepi, A. M. (2021). Mesozoic mammals from South America and their forerunners. Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-63862-7
- Rougier, G. W., Wible, J. R., Beck, R. M. D., & Apesteguía, S. (2012). The Miocene mammal *Necrolestes* demonstrates the survival of a Mesozoic nontherian lineage into the late Cenozoic of South America. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, *109*(49), 20053–20058. https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.1212997109/-/DCSUPPLEMENTAL/PNAS.201212997SI.PDF
- Rougier, G. W., Wible, J. R., & Novacek, M. J. (1998). Implications of Deltatheridiun specimens for early marsupial history. *Nature*, *396*, 459– 463. www.nature.com

- Royer, D. L. (2006). CO2-forced climate thresholds during the Phanerozoic. *Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta*, *70*(23 SPEC. ISS.), 5665–5675. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gca.2005.11.031
- Sacek, V. (2014). Drainage reversal of the Amazon River due to the coupling of surface and lithospheric processes. *Earth and Planetary Science Letters*, *401*, 301–312. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.epsl.2014.06.022
- Saint-André, P.-A., & de Iuliis, G. (2001). The smallest and most ancient representative of the genus *Megatherium* Cuvier, 1796 (Xenarthra, Tardigrada, Megatheriidae), from the Pliocene of the Bolivian Altiplano. *Geofiversitas*, 23(4), 625–645. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/242658148
- Salas-Gismondi, R., Flynn, J. J., Baby, P., Tejada-Lara, J. v., Wesselingh,
 F. P., & Antoine, P.-O. (2015). A Miocene hyperdiverse crocodilian community reveals peculiar trophic dynamics in proto-Amazonian mega-wetlands. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 282(1804), 20142490. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2014.2490
- Sanders, A. E. (2002). Additions to the Pleistocene mammal faunas of South Carolina, North Carolina, and Georgia. American Philosophical Society.
- Saupe, E. E., Farnsworth, A., Lunt, D. J., Sagoo, N., Pham, K. v., & Field, D. J. (2019). Climatic shifts drove major contractions in avian latitudinal distributions throughout the Cenozoic. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, *116*(26), 12895– 12900. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1903866116
- Saupe, E. E., Myers, C. E., Townsend Peterson, A., Soberón, J., Singarayer, J., Valdes, P., & Qiao, H. (2019). Spatio-temporal climate change contributes to latitudinal diversity gradients. *Nature Ecology and Evolution*, *3*(10), 1419–1429. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41559-019-0962-7

- Saupe, E. E., Qiao, H., Donnadieu, Y., Farnsworth, A., Kennedy-Asser, A. T., Ladant, J. B., Lunt, D. J., Pohl, A., Valdes, P., & Finnegan, S. (2020). Extinction intensity during Ordovician and Cenozoic glaciations explained by cooling and palaeogeography. *Nature Geoscience*, *13*(1), 65–70. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41561-019-0504-6
- Scasso, R. A., Aberhan, M., Ruiz, L., Weidemeyer, S., Medina, F. A., & Kiessling, W. (2012). Integrated bio- and lithofacies analysis of coarsegrained, tide-dominated deltaic environments across the Cretaceous/Paleogene boundary in Patagonia, Argentina. *Cretaceous Research*, *36*, 37–57. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cretres.2012.02.002
- Schepers, G., van Hinsbergen, D. J. J., Spakman, W., Kosters, M. E., Boschman, L. M., & Mcquarrie, N. (2017). South American plate advance and forced Andean trench retreat as drivers for transient flat subduction episodes. *Nature Communications*, *8*, 15249. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms15249
- Scher, H. D., & Martin, E. E. (2006a). Timing and climatic consequences of the opening of drake passage. *Science*, *312*(5772), 428–430. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1120044
- Scher, H. D., & Martin, E. E. (2006b). Timing and climatic consequences of the opening of Drake Passage. *Paleoceanography*, 312(2), 428–430. https://doi.org/10.1029/2000pa000606
- Scheyer, T. M., Aguilera, O. A., Delfino, M., Fortier, D. C., Carlini, A. A., Sánchez, R., Carrillo-Briceño, J. D., Quiroz, L., Sánchez-Villagra, M. R., Bolivariana, A., Urumaco, D. M., Bolívar, C., Urumaco, E., & Falcón, V. (2013). Crocodylian diversity peak and extinction in the late Cenozoic of the northern Neotropics. *Nature Communications*, *4*, 1907. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms2940
- Schmidt, G. I. (2015). Actualización sistemática y filogenia de los Proterotheriidae (Mammalia, Litopterna) del "Mesopotamiense" (Mioceno Tardío) de Entre Ríos, Argentina. *Revista Brasileira de Paleontologia*, 18(3), 521–546. https://doi.org/10.4072/rbp.2015.3.14

- Schouten, S., Eldrett, J. S., Greenwood, D. R., Harding, I. C., Baas, M., & Damsté, J. S. S. (2008). Onset of long-term cooling of Greenland near the Eocene-Oligocene boundary as revealed by branched tetraether lipids. *Geology*, *36*(2), 147–150. https://doi.org/10.1130/G24332A.1
- Schulte, P., Alegret, L., Arenillas, I., Arz, J. A., Barton, P. J., Bown, P. R., Bralower, T. J., Christeson, G. L., Claeys, P., Cockell, C. S., Collins, G. S., Deutsch, A., Goldin, T. J., Goto, K., Grajales-Nishimura, J. M., Grieve, R. A. F., Gulick, S. P. S., Johnson, K. R., Kiessling, W., ... Willumsen, P. S. (2010). The Chicxulub asteroid impact and mass extinction at the Cretaceous-Paleogene boundary. In *Science* (Vol. 327, Issue 5970, pp. 1214–1218). https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1177265
- Schultz, P. H., Zárate, M. A., Hames, W. E., & Camilión, C. (1998). A 3.3Ma impact in Argentina and possible consequences. *Science*, 282(5396), 2061–2063.
 https://doi.org/10.1126/science.282.5396.2061
- Schumm, M., Edie, S. M., Collins, K. S., Gómez-Bahamón, V., Supriya, K., White, A. E., Price, T. D., & Jablonski, D. (2019). Common latitudinal gradients in functional richness and functional evenness across marine and terrestrial systems. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 286, 20190745. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2019.0745
- Scillato-Yané, G. J., Carlini, A. A., & Vizcaíno, S. F. (1993). Los Xenarthra (Mammalia, Edentata) del Mioceno medio de Argentina. *Ameghiniana*, 30(3), 352.
- Scotese, C. R. (2001). PALEOMAP website <http://www.scotese.com>. Atlas of Earth History, Vol. 1, Paleogeography, PALEOMAP Project, Arlington, Texas.
- Sears, R., & Calambokidis, J. (2002). COSEWIC assessment and update status report on the blue whale *Balaenoptera musculus*. In *Committee on the Status of Endangered Wildlife in Canada. Ottawa*.
- Seiffert, E. R., Tejedor, M. F., Fleagle, J. G., Novo, N. M., Cornejo, F. M., Bond, M., de Vries, D., & Campbell, K. E. (2020). A parapithecid stem

anthropoid of African origin in the Paleogene of South America. *Science*, 368(6487), 194–197. https://doi.org/10.1126/SCIENCE.ABA1135/SUPPL_FILE/ABA1135_ SEIFFERT_SM.PDF

- Sellwood, B. W., & Valdes, P. J. (2006). Mesozoic climates: general circulation models and the rock record. Sedimentary Geology, 190(1–4), 269–287. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sedgeo.2006.05.013
- Sena Costa, J. B., Bemerguy, R. L., Hasui, Y., & da Silva Borges, M. (2000). Tectonics and paleogeography along the Amazon river. *Journal of South American Earth Sciences*, *14*(2001), 335–347. www.elsevier.nl/locate/jsames
- Sepkoski, J. J. (1997). Biodiversity: past, present and future. *Journal of Paleontology*, *71*(4), 533–539. https://doi.org/10.1098/rsbl.2011.0595
- Sepkoski, J. J., Bambach, R. K., Raup, D. M., & Valentine, J. W. (1981). Phanerozoic marine diversity and the fossil record. *Nature*, *293*, 435–437.
- Seton, M., Müller, R. D., Zahirovic, S., Gaina, C., Torsvik, T., Shephard, G., Talsma, A., Gurnis, M., Turner, M., Maus, S., & Chandler, M. (2012).
 Global continental and ocean basin reconstructions since 200 Ma. *Earth-Science Reviews*, *113*(3–4), 212–270. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.earscirev.2012.03.002
- Shackleton, N. J., Imbrie, J. I., & Pisias, N. G. (1988). The evolution of oceanic oxygen-isotope variability in the North Atlantic over the past three million years. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London. B, Biological Sciences*, 318(1191), 679–688. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.1988.0030
- Shaw, C. A., & McDonald, H. G. (1987). First record of giant anteater (Xenarthra, Myrmecophagidae) in North America. Science, 236(4798), 186–188. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.236.4798.186
- Shevenell, A. E., & Kennett, J. P. (2007). Cenozoic Antarctic cryosphere evolution: tales from deep-sea sedimentary records. *Deep-Sea*

Research Part II: Topical Studies in Oceanography, 54(21–22), 2308– 2324. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dsr2.2007.07.018

Signor, P. W., & Lipps, J. H. (1982). Sampling bias, gradual extinction patterns and catastrophes in the fossil record. In L. T. Silver & P. H. Schultz (Eds.), *Geological Implications of Impacts of Large Asteroids* and Comets on the Earth (pp. 291–296). Geological Society of America.

https://books.google.co.uk/books?hl=en&lr=&id=efz87W88HawC&oi=f nd&pg=PA291&dq=fossil+bias&ots=9MP6Ndf2M3&sig=etvpL zYXjXfYyaE5ZNuJHGnXs#v=onepage&g=fossil bias&f=false

- Silvestro, D., Castiglione, S., Mondanaro, A., Serio, C., Melchionna, M., Piras, P., di Febbraro, M., Carotenuto, F., Rook, L., & Raia, P. (2019).
 A 450 million years long latitudinal gradient in age-dependent extinction. *Ecology Letters*, 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1111/ele.13441
- Silvestro, D., Salamin, N., & Schnitzler, J. (2014). PyRate: A new program to estimate speciation and extinction rates from incomplete fossil data. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*, *5*(10), 1126–1131. https://doi.org/10.1111/2041-210X.12263
- Silvestro, D., Tejedor, M. F., Serrano-Serrano, M. L., Loiseau, O., Rossier, V., Rolland, J., Zizka, A., Höhna, S., Antonelli, A., & Salamin, N. (2019).
 Early arrival and climatically-linked geographic expansion of New World monkeys from tiny African ancestors. *Systematic Biology*, *68*(1), 78–92. https://doi.org/10.1093/sysbio/syy046
- Simpson, A. (2005). Latin American Palaeontology conference review. In Ameghiniana (Vol. 42, Issue 4, p. 732).
- Simpson, G. G. (1935). Descriptions of the oldest known South American mammals, from the Río Chico Formation. *American Museum Novitates*, 793, 1–26.
- Simpson, G. G. (1937). The beginning of the age of mammals. *Biological Reviews*, *12*(1), 1–46. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-185X.1937.tb01220.x

- Simpson, G. G. (1950). History of the fauna of Latin America. *American Scientist*, *38*(3), 361–389. https://doi.org/10.2307/27826322
- Simpson, G. G. (1953). *Evolution and geography; an essay on Historical Biogeography with special reference to mammals*. State System of Higher Education.
- Simpson, G. G. (1980). Splendid Isolation: The Curious History of South American Mammals. Yale University Press. https://doi.org/10.1086/412128
- Singer, B., Laurie, L., Rabassa, J., ... H. G. X. C. G. A., & 2005, U. (2005). Glaciaciones, cronología 40Ar/39Ar y paleomagnetismo del Plioceno tardío y Pleistoceno temprano, Cerro del Fraile, provincia de Santa Cruz, Argentina. Actas Del XVIcongreso Geologico Argentino, 199– 206.
- Sluijs, A., Schouten, S., Pagani, M., Woltering, M., Brinkhuis, H., Damsté, J. S. S., Dickens, G. R., Huber, M., Reichart, G. J., Stein, R., Matthiessen, J., Lourens, L. J., Pedentchouk, N., Backman, J., & Moran, K. (2006). Subtropical Arctic ocean temperatures during the Palaeocene/Eocene thermal maximum. *Nature*, 441(7093), 610–613. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature04668
- Smith, A. B. (2001). Large-scale heterogeneity of the fossil record: Implications for Phanerozoic biodiversity studies. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 356(1407), 351–367. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2000.0768
- Smith, A. B., & Benson, R. B. J. (2013). Marine diversity in the geological record and its relationship to surviving bedrock area, lithofacies diversity, and original marine shelf area. *Geology*, 41(2), 171–174. https://doi.org/10.1130/G33773.1
- Smith, A. B., & McGowan, A. J. (2007). The shape of the Phanerozoic marine palaeodiversity curve: how much can be predicted from the sedimentary rock record of western Europe? *Palaeontology*, *50*(4), 765–774. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1475-4983.2007.00693.x

- Smith, A. B., & McGowan, A. J. (2011). The ties linking rock and fossil records and why they are important for palaeobiodiversity studies. *Geological Society, London, Special Publications*, 358, 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1144/SP358.1
- Smith, R. Y., Basinger, J. F., & Greenwood, D. R. (2012). Early Eocene plant diversity and dynamics in the Falkland flora, Okanagan Highlands, British Columbia, Canada. *Palaeobiodiversity and Palaeoenvironments*, 92(3), 309–328. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12549-011-0061-5
- Soibelzon, L. H., Rinderknecht, A. S., Tarquini, J., & Ugalde, R. (2019). First record of fossil procyonid (Mammalia, Carnivora) from Uruguay. *Journal of South American Earth Sciences*, 92(March), 368–373. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsames.2019.03.024
- Soibelzon, L. H., Tonni, E. P., & Bond, M. (2005). The fossil record of South American short-faced bears (Ursidae, Tremarctinae). *Journal of South American Earth Sciences*, 20(1–2), 105–113. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JSAMES.2005.07.005
- Soria, M. F. (1987). Estudios sobre los Astrapotheria (Mammalia) del Paleoceno y Eoceno. Ameghiniana, 24(1–2), 21–34. http://www.ameghiniana.org.ar/index.php/ameghiniana/article/view/18 97
- Soria, M. F., & Powell, J. E. (1981). Un primitivo Astrapotheria (Mammalia) y la edad de la Formación Río Loro, provincia de Tucumán, República Argentina. Ameghiniana, 18(3–4), 155–168.
- Soria-Carrasco, V., & Castresana, J. (2012). Diversification rates and the latitudinal gradient of diversity in mammals. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 279(1745), 4148–4155. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2012.1393
- Spalletti, L. A., & Franzese, J. R. (2007). Mesozoic paleogeography and paleoenvironmental evolution of Patagonia (southern South America).
 In *Patagonian Mesozoic Reptiles* (pp. 29–49).

- Springer, M. S., Murphy, W. J., Eizirik, E., & O'Brien, S. J. (2003). Placental mammal diversification and the Cretaceous-Tertiary boundary. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States* of America, 100(3), 1056–1061. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0334222100
- Stebbins, G. L. (1981). Coevolution of grasses and herbivores. *Annual Report of Missouri Botanical Gardens*, 68, 75–86.
- Stehli, F. G., & Webb, S. D. (1985). The Great American Biotic Interchange. In *Topics in Geology* (Issue 4). Topics in geobiology, Plenum Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9781107415324.004
- Stevens, R. D., Rowe, R. J., & Badgley, C. (2019). Gradients of mammalian biodiversity through space and time. *Journal of Mammalogy*, *100*(3), 1069–1086. https://doi.org/10.1093/jmammal/gyz024
- Stigall, A. L., Bauer, J. E., Lam, A. R., & Wright, D. F. (2017). Biotic immigration events, speciation, and the accumulation of biodiversity in the fossil record. *Global and Planetary Change*, 148, 242–257. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloplacha.2016.12.008
- Stott, L. D., Kennett, J. P., Shackleton, N. J., & Corfield, R. M. (1990). The evolution of Antarctic surface waters during the Paleogene: inferences from the stable isotopic composition of planktonic foraminifers, ODP Leg 113. Proceedings of the Ocean Drilling Program, Scientific Results, 113, 849–863. https://doi.org/10.2973/odp.proc.sr.113.187.1990
- Strömberg, C. A. E. (2006). Evolution of hypsodonty in equids: testing a hypothesis of adaptation. *Paleobiology*, 32(2), 236–258. https://doi.org/10.1666/0094-8373(2006)32[236:eohiet]2.0.co;2
- Strömberg, C. A. E., Dunn, R. E., Madden, R. H., Kohn, M. J., & Carlini, A. A. (2013). Decoupling the spread of grasslands from the evolution of grazer-type herbivores in South America. *Nature Communications*, *4*(1), 1478. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms2508
- Tarquini, S. D., Ladevèze, S., & Prevosti, F. J. (2022). The multicausal twilight of South American native mammalian predators (Metatheria,
Sparassodonta). Scientific Reports, 12(1), 1224. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-022-05266-z

- Tarver, J. E., Donoghue, P. C. J., & Benton, M. J. (2011). Is evolutionary history repeatedly rewritten in light of new fossil discoveries? *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 278(1705), 599–604. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2010.0663
- Tedford, R. H., Albright, L. B., Barnosky, A. D., Ferrusquia-Villafranca, I., Hunt, R. M., Storer, J. E., Swisher III, C. C., Voorhies, M. R., Webb, S. D., & Whistler, D. P. (2004).
 6. Mammalian biochronology of the Arikareean through Hemphillian interval (late Oligocene through early Pliocene epochs). In *Late Cretaceous and Cenozoic Mammals of North America* (pp. 169-). https://doi.org/10.7312/wood13040-008
- Tennant, J. P., Chiarenza, A. A., & Baron, M. (2018). How has our knowledge of dinosaur diversity through geologic time changed through research history? *PeerJ*, 6, e4417. https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.4417
- Theodoridis, S., Fordham, D. A., Brown, S. C., Li, S., Rahbek, C., & Nogues-Bravo, D. (2020). Evolutionary history and past climate change shape the distribution of genetic diversity in terrestrial mammals. *Nature Communications*, *11*(1), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-020-16449-5
- Thiede, J., Winkler, A., Wolf-Welling, T., Eldholm, O., Myhre, A. M., Baumann, K. H., Henrich, R., & Stein, R. (1998). Late Cenozoic history of the polar North Atlantic: results from ocean drilling. *Quaternary Science Reviews*, *17*(1–3), 185–208. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0277-3791(97)00076-0
- Thomas, E. (2008). Descent into the Icehouse. *Geology*, *36*(2), 191–192. https://doi.org/10.1130/focus022008
- Tilman, D., Clark, M., Williams, D. R., Kimmel, K., Polasky, S., & Packer, C. (2017). Future threats to biodiversity and pathways to their prevention. *Nature*, 546(7656), 73–81. https://doi.org/10.1038/NATURE22900
- Ting, S. (1998). Paleocene and early Eocene land mammal ages of Asia. Bulletin of Carnegie Museum of Natural History, 34, 124–147.

- Tonni, E. P., Carlini, A. A., & Rabassa, J. (2008). Neogene vertebrates from Argentine Patagonia: their relationship with the most significant climatic changes. *Developments in Quaternary Science*, *11*, 269–283. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1571-0866(07)10013-0
- Tonni, E. P., Carlini, A. A., Yané, G. J. S., & Figini, A. J. (2003). Cronología radiocarbónica y condiciones climáticas en la "Cueva del Milodón" (sur de Chile) durante el Pleistoceno Tardío. *Ameghiniana*, 40(4), 609–615.
- Toumoulin, A., Donnadieu, Y., Ladant, J. B., Batenburg, S. J., Poblete, F., & Dupont-Nivet, G. (2020). Quantifying the Effect of the Drake Passage Opening on the Eocene Ocean. *Paleoceanography and Paleoclimatology*, 35(8), e2020PA003889. https://doi.org/10.1029/2020PA003889
- Tournier, M., Goulet, P., Fonvieille, N., Nerini, D., & Johnson, M. (2020).
 Mountain radiations are not only rapid and recent: ancient diversification of South American frog and lizard families related to Paleogene Andean orogeny and Cenozoic climate variations. *Journal of Marine Systems*, 208, 103704. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloplacha.2021.103704
- Tripati, A., Backman, J., Elderfield, H., & Ferretti, P. (2005). Eocene bipolar glaciation associated with global carbon cycle changes. *Nature*, 436(7049), 341–346. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature03874
- Tripati, A., & Elderfield, H. (2005). Deep-sea temperature and circulation changes at the Paleocene-Eocene Thermal Maximum. *Science*, 308(5730), 1894–1898. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1111724
- Uhen, M. D., & Pyenson, N. D. (2007). Diversity estimates, biases, and historiographic effects: resolving cetacean diversity in the Tertiary. *Palaeontologia Electronica*, *10*(2), 11A:22p. https://doi.org/Artn 11a
- Upchurch, P., Mannion, P. D., Benson, R. B. J., Butler, R. J., & Carrano, M. T. (2011). Geological and anthropogenic controls on the sampling of the terrestrial fossil record: a case study from the Dinosauria. *Geological Society Special Publication*, 358(1), 209–240. https://doi.org/10.1144/SP358.14

- Upham, N. S., Esselstyn, J. A., & Jetz, W. (2019). Inferring the mammal tree: species-level sets of phylogenies for questions in ecology, evolution, and conservation. In *PLoS Biology* (Vol. 17, Issue 12). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.3000494
- Vajda, V., & Bercovici, A. (2014). The global vegetation pattern across the Cretaceous-Paleogene mass extinction interval: a template for other extinction events. *Global and Planetary Change*, 122, 29–49. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloplacha.2014.07.014
- Valdes, P. J., Armstrong, E., Badger, M. P. S., Bradshaw, C. D., Bragg, F., Crucifix, M., Davies-Barnard, T., Day, J. J., Farnsworth, A., Gordon, C., Hopcroft, P. O., Kennedy, A. T., Lord, N. S., Lunt, D. J., Marzocchi, A., Parry, L. M., Pope, V., Roberts, W. H. G., Stone, E. J., ... Williams, J. H. T. (2017). The BRIDGE HadCM3 family of climate models: HadCM3@Bristol v1.0. *Geoscientific Model Development*, *10*, 3715– 3743. https://doi.org/10.5194/gmd-10-3715-2017
- Vallejo-Pareja, M. C., Carrillo, J. D., Moreno-Bernal, J. W., Pardo-Jaramillo, M., Rodriguez-Gonzalez, D. F., Muñoz-Duran, J., & Mu E Noz-Duran, J. (2015). *Hilarcotherium castanedaii*, gen. et sp. nov., a new Miocene astrapothere (Mammalia, Astrapotheriidae) from the Upper Magdalena Valley, Colombia. *Journal of Vertebrate Paleontology*, *35*(2), e903960. https://doi.org/10.1080/02724634.2014.903960
- van Dam, J. A. (2006). Geographic and temporal patterns in the late Neogene (12-3 Ma) aridification of Europe: The use of small mammals as paleoprecipitation proxies. *Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology,* 238(1–4), 190–218. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.palaeo.2006.03.025
- van der Made, J., Morales, J., & Montoya, P. (2006). Late Miocene turnover in the Spanish mammal record in relation to palaeoclimate and the Messinian Salinity Crisis. *Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology,* 238(1–4), 228–246. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.palaeo.2006.03.030
- van Rheede, T., Bastiaans, T., Boone, D. N., Hedges, S. B., de Jong, W. W., & Madsen, O. (2006). The platypus is in its place: nuclear genes

and indels confirm the sister group relation of monotremes and therians. *Molecular Biology and Evolution*, 23(3), 587–597. https://doi.org/10.1093/molbev/msj064

- van Valkenburgh, B. (1999). Major patterns in the history of carnivorous mammals. *Annual Review of Earth and Planetary Sciences*, *27*(1), 463–493. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.earth.27.1.463
- Veevers, J. J. (1991). Phanerozoic Australia in the changing configuration of proto-Pangea through Gondwanaland and Pangea to the present dispersed continents. *Australian Systematic Botany*, *4*(1), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1071/SB9910001
- Velichko, A. (2005). Cenozoic evolution of landscapes and climate—a synthesis. Geological Society of America Special Papers, 382, 203– 207.
- Verzi, D. H., & Montalvo, C. I. (2008). The oldest South American Cricetidae (Rodentia) and Mustelidae (Carnivora): late Miocene faunal turnover in central Argentina and the Great American Biotic Interchange. *Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology*, 267(3–4), 284– 291. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.palaeo.2008.07.003
- Villaroel, C. (1987). Edades y correlaciones de algunas unidades litoestratigráficas del altiplano Boliviano y estudio de algunos representantes mesotheriinos. *Revista de La Academía Nacional de Ciencias de Bolivia*, 1(1), 159–170.
- Villarroel, A. C. (1987). Características y afinidades de *Etayoa* n. gen., tipo de una nueva familia de Xenungulata. *Comunicaciones Paleontologicas Del Museo de Historia Natural de Montevideo*, 1(19), 1–13. https://pascal-

francis.inist.fr/vibad/index.php?action=getRecordDetail&idt=19779317

Vizcaíno, S. F. (2009). The teeth of the "toothless": novelties and key innovations in the evolution of xenarthrans (Mammalia, Xenarthra). *Paleobiology*, 35(3), 343–366. https://doi.org/10.1666/0094-8373-35.3.343

- Vizcaíno, S. F., Bond, M., Reguero, M. A., & Pascual, R. (1997). The youngest record of fossil land mammals from Antarctica; its significance on the evolution of the terrestrial environment of the Antarctic Peninsula during the late Eocene. *Journal of Paleontology*, *71*(2), 348–350. https://doi.org/10.1017/s0022336000039263
- Vizcaíno, S. F., Fariña, R. A., Zárate, M. A., Bargo, M. S., & Schultz, P. H. (2004). Palaeoecological implications of the mid-Pliocene faunal turnover in the Pampean Region (Argentina). *Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology, 213*(1–2), 101–113. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.palaeo.2004.07.004
- Vizcaíno, S. F., Pascual, R., Reguero, M. A., & Goin, F. J. (1998). Antarctica as background for mammalian evolution. *Asociacion Paleontologica Argentina. Publicacion Especial* 5, 199–209. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/291797264
- Vlachos, E., Randolfe, E., Sterli, J., & Leardi, J. M. (2018). Changes in the diversity of turtles (Testudinata) in South America from the Late Triassic to the Present. *Ameghiniana*, 55(6), 619–643. https://doi.org/10.5710/AMGH.18.09.2018.3226
- Vrba, E. S. (1992). Mammals as a key to evolutionary theory. *Journal of Mammalogy*, 73(1), 1–28. https://doi.org/10.2307/1381862
- Vrba, E. S. (1993). Mammal evolution in the African Neogene and a new look at the Great American Interchange. In *Biological relationships between Africa and South America* (pp. 393–432). Yale University Press. https://doi.org/10.2307/j.ctt22726mc.17
- Vrba, E. S. (1995). On the connections between paleoclimate and evolution.
 In E. S. Vrba, G. H. Denton, T. C. Partridge, & L. H. Burckle (Eds.), Paleoclimate and evolution with emphasis on human origins (pp. 24– 45). Yale University Press. https://ci.nii.ac.jp/naid/10017458116/
- Vucetich, M. G., Arnal, M., Deschamps, C. M., Pérez, M. E., & Vieytes, E.
 C. (2015). A brief history of caviomorph rodents as told by the fossil record. In A. I. Vassallo & D. Antenucci (Eds.), *Biology of caviomorph*

rodents: diversity and evolution (Issue January, pp. 11–62). Sociedad Argentina para el Estudio de los Mamíferos.

- Wang, X., Lim, B. K., Ting, N., Hu, J., Liang, Y., Roos, C., & Yu, L. (2019).
 Reconstructing the phylogeny of new world monkeys (platyrrhini): evidence from multiple non-coding loci. *Current Zoology*, *65*(5), 579– 588. https://doi.org/10.1093/cz/zoy072
- Waterson, A. M., Schmidt, D. N., Valdes, P. J., Holroyd, P. A., Nicholson, D. B., Farnsworth, A., & Barrett, P. M. (2016). Modelling the climatic niche of turtles: A deep-time perspective. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 283(1839), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2016.1408
- Webb, S. D. (1976). Mammalian Faunal Dynamics of the Great American Interchange. *Paleobiology*, *2*(3), 220–234.
- Webb, S. D. (1978). A history of savanna vertebrates in the New World, Part
 II: South America and the Great Interchange. In Ann. Rev. Ecol. Syst (Vol. 9). www.annualreviews.org
- Webb, S. D. (1985). Late Cenozoic mammal dispersals between the Americas. In F. G. Stehli & D. Webb (Eds.), *The great American biotic interchange* (pp. 357–386). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4684-9181-4_14
- Webb, S. D. (1991). Ecogeography and the Great American Interchange. *Paleobiology*, *17*(3), 266–280.
- Webb, S. D. (2006). The Great American Biotic Interchange: patterns and processes. Annals of the Missouri Botanical Garden, 93(2), 245–257. https://doi.org/10.3417/0026-6493(2006)93[245:TGABIP]2.0.CO;2
- Webb, S. D., & Marshall, L. G. (1982). Historical biogeography of recent South American land mammals. *Mammalian Biology in South America*, 6, 39–52.
- Webb, S. D., & Perrigo, S. C. (1984). Late Cenozoic vertebrates from Honduras and El Salvador. *Journal of Vertebrate Paleontology*, 4(2), 237–254. https://doi.org/10.1080/02724634.1984.10012006

- Weijers, J. W. H., Schouten, S., Sluijs, A., Brinkhuis, H., & Sinninghe Damsté, J. S. (2007). Warm arctic continents during the Palaeocene-Eocene Thermal Maximum. *Earth and Planetary Science Letters*, 261(1–2), 230–238. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.epsl.2007.06.033
- Weir, J. T., & Schluter, D. (2007). The latitudinal gradient in recent speciation and extinction rates of birds and mammals. *Science*, *315*(5818), 1574–1576. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1135590
- Welker, F., Collins, M. J., Thomas, J. A., Wadsley, M., Brace, S., Cappellini,
 E., Turvey, S. T., Reguero, M., Gelfo, J. N., Kramarz, A., Burger, J.,
 Thomas-Oates, J., Ashford, D. A., Ashton, P. D., Rowsell, K., Porter,
 D. M., Kessler, B., Fischer, R., Baessmann, C., ... Macphee, R. D. E.
 (2015). Ancient proteins resolve the evolutionary history of Darwin's
 South American ungulates. *Nature*, *522*(7554), 81–84.
 https://doi.org/10.1038/nature14249
- Wesselingh, F., & Hoorn, C. (2011). Geological development of Amazon and Orinoco Basins. In F. Wesselingh & C. Hoorn (Eds.), *Historical biogeography of Neotropical freshwater fishes* (pp. 59–68). University of California Press.
- Wesselman, H. B. (1995). Of mice and almost-men: regional paleoecology and human evolution in the Turkana basin. In E. S. Vrba, G. H. Denton, T. C. Partridge, & L. H. Burckle (Eds.), *Paleoclimate and evolution with emphasis on human origins* (pp. 356–368). Yale University Press.
- Westerhold, T., Marwan, N., Drury, A. J., Liebrand, D., Agnini, C., Anagnostou, E., Barnet, J. S. K., Bohaty, S. M., de Vleeschouwer, D., Florindo, F., Frederichs, T., Hodell, D. A., Holbourn, A. E., Kroon, D., Lauretano, V., Littler, K., Lourens, L. J., Lyle, M., Pälike, H., ... Zachos, J. C. (2020). An astronomically dated record of Earth's climate and its predictability over the last 66 million years. *Science*, *369*(6509), 1383– 1388. https://doi.org/10.1126/SCIENCE.ABA6853
- Westerhold, T., Röhl, U., McCarren, H. K., & Zachos, J. C. (2009). Latest on the absolute age of the Paleocene-Eocene Thermal Maximum (PETM): new insights from exact stratigraphic position of key ash layers

+ 19 and - 17. *Earth and Planetary Science Letters*, 287(3–4), 412– 419. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.epsl.2009.08.027

- Wible, J. R., Rougier, G. W., Novacek, M. J., & Asher, R. J. (2007). Cretaceous eutherians and Laurasian origin for placental mammals near the K/T boundary. *Nature*, 447(7147), 1003–1006. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature05854
- Wickham, H. (2016). ggplot2: elegant graphics for data analysis. In *Journal* of the Royal Statistical Society: Series A (Statistics in Society) (Vol. 174, Issue 1, pp. 245–246). Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-24277-4
- Wickham, H., Averick, M., Bryan, J., Chang, W., D', L., Mcgowan, A., François, R., Grolemund, G., Hayes, A., Henry, L., Hester, J., Kuhn, M., Lin Pedersen, T., Miller, E., Bache, S. M., Müller, K., Ooms, J., Robinson, D., Seidel, D. P., ... Yutani, H. (2019). Welcome to the Tidyverse. *Journal of Open Source Software*, *4*(43), 1686. https://doi.org/10.21105/joss.01686
- Wiens, J. J. (2016). Climate-related local extinctions are already widespread among plant and animal species. *PLoS Biology*, *14*(12), 1–18. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.2001104
- Wiens, J. J., & Donoghue, M. J. (2004). Historical biogeography, ecology and species richness. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution*, 19(12), 639– 644. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2004.09.011
- Wiens, J. J., Graham, C. H., Moen, D. S., Smith, S. A., & Reeder, T. W. (2006). Evolutionary and ecological causes of the latitudinal diversity gradient in hylid frogs: treefrog trees unearth the roots of high tropical diversity. *American Naturalist*, 168(5), 579–596. https://doi.org/10.1086/507882
- Wilf, P., Cúneo, N. R., Escapa, I. H., Pol, D., & Woodburne, M. O. (2013). Splendid and seldom isolated: the paleobiogeography of Patagonia. Annual Review of Earth and Planetary Sciences, 41(1), 561–603. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-earth-050212-124217

- Wilf, P., & Johnson, K. R. (2004). Land plant extinction at the end of the Cretaceous: a quantitative analysis of the North Dakota megafloral record. In *Paleobiology* (Vol. 30, Issue 3).
- Williamson, T. E., Brusatte, S. L., & Wilson, G. P. (2014). The origin and early evolution of metatherian mammals: The Cretaceous record. In *ZooKeys* (Vol. 465, pp. 1–76). https://doi.org/10.3897/zookeys.465.8178
- Willig, M. R., Kaufman, D. M., & Stevens, R. D. (2003). Latitudinal Gradients of Biodiversity: Pattern, Process, Scale, and Synthesis. *Annual Review* of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics, 34(1), 273–309. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.ecolsys.34.012103.144032
- Wilson, E. O. (1992). *The diversity of life*. Norton, New York. https://doi.org/10.1177/027614679301300111
- Wilson, G. P. (2013). Mammals across the K/Pg boundary in northeastern Montana, U.S.A.: dental morphology and body-size patterns reveal extinction selectivity and immigrant-fueled ecospace filling. *Paleobiology*, 39(03), 429–469. https://doi.org/10.1666/12041
- Wilson, G. P., Evans, A. R., Corfe, I. J., Smits, P. D., Fortelius, M., & Jernvall, J. (2012). Adaptive radiation of multituberculate mammals before the extinction of dinosaurs. *Nature*, 483(7390), 457–460. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature10880
- Wing, S. L., Harrington, G. J., Smith, F. A., Bloch, J. I., Boyer, D. M., & Freeman, K. H. (2005). Transient floral change and rapid global warming at the Paleocene-Eocene boundary. *Science*, *310*(5750), 993–996. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1116913
- Wolfe, J. A., & Upchurch, G. R. (1987). North American nonmarine climates and vegetation during the Late Cretaceous. *Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology, 61*(C), 33–77. https://doi.org/10.1016/0031-0182(87)90040-X
- Woodburne, M. O. (2010). The Great American Biotic Interchange: dispersals, tectonics, climate, sea level and holding Pens. *Journal of*

Mammalian Evolution, 17, 245–264. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10914-010-9144-8

- Woodburne, M. O., & Case, J. A. (1996). Dispersal, vicariance, and the late cretaceous to early tertiary land mammal biogeography from South America to Australia. *Journal of Mammalian Evolution*, *3*(2), 121–161. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01454359
- Woodburne, M. O., Cione, A. L., & Tonni, E. P. (2006). Central American provincialism and the Great American Biotic Interchange. In O. Carranza-Castañeda & E. H. Lindsay (Eds.), Advances in late Tertiary vertebrate paleontology in Mexico and the Great American Biotic Interchange (pp. 73–101). Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México, Instituto de Geología and Centro de Geociencias, Publicación Especial.
- Woodburne, M. O., Goin, F. J., Bond, M., Carlini, A. A., Gelfo, J. N., López, G. M., Iglesias, A., & Zimicz, A. N. (2014). Paleogene land mammal faunas of South America; a response to global climatic changes and indigenous floral diversity. In *Journal of Mammalian Evolution* (Vol. 21, Issue 1). https://doi.org/10.1007/s10914-012-9222-1
- Woodburne, M. O., Goin, F. J., Raigemborn, M. S. M. S., Heizler, M. T., Gelfo, J. N., & Oliveira, E. v. (2014). Revised timing of the South American early Paleogene land mammal ages. *Journal of South American Earth Sciences*, 54, 109–119. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsames.2014.05.003
- Woodburne, M. O., & Swisher III, C. C. (1995). Land mammal high-resolution geochronology, intercontinental overland dispersals, sea level, climate, and vicariance. *Geochronology, Time Scales and Global Stratigraphic* Correlation, 335–364. https://doi.org/10.2110/pec.95.04.0335
- Woodburne, M. O., & Zinsmeister, W. J. (1984). The first land mammal from Antarctica and its biogeographic implications. *Sedimentary Geology*, *58*(4), 913–948.

- Wright, J. D., & Miller, K. G. (1992). Miocene stable isotope stratigraphy, Site 747, Kerguelen Plateau. Proceedings of the Ocean Drilling Program, Scientific Results, 120(45), 855–866. https://doi.org/10.2973/odp.proc.sr.120.193.1992
- Yasuhara, M., Hunt, G., Dowsett, H. J., Robinson, M. M., & Stoll, D. K. (2012). Latitudinal species diversity gradient of marine zooplankton for the last three million years. *Ecology Letters*, *15*(10), 1174–1179. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2012.01828.x
- Zachos, J. C., Dickens, G. R., & Zeebe, R. E. (2008). An early Cenozoic perspective on greenhouse warming and carbon-cycle dynamics. *Nature*, *451*(7176), 279–283. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature06588
- Zachos, J. C., Pagani, M., Sloan, L., Thomas, E., & Billups, K. (2001). Trends, rhythms, and aberrations in global climate 65 Ma to present. *Science*, 292, 686–693. http://science.sciencemag.org/
- Zachos, J. C., Quinn, T. M., & Salamy, K. A. (1996). High-resolution deapsea foraminiferal stable isotope records of the Eocene-Oligocene transition. *Paleoceanography*, *11*(3), 251–266.
- Zachos, J. C., Schouten, S., Bohaty, S., Quattlebaum, T., Sluijs, A., Brinkhuis, H., Gibbs, S. J., & Bralower, T. J. (2006). Extreme warming of mid-latitude coastal ocean during the Paleocene-Eocene Thermal Maximum: inferences from TEX 86 and isotope data. *Geology*, *9*, 737– 740. https://doi.org/10.1130/G22522.1
- Zachos, J. C., Wara, M. W., Bohaty, S., Delaney, M. L., Petrizzo, M. R., Brill, A., Bralower, T. J., & Premoli-Silva, I. (2003). A transient rise in tropical sea surface temperature during the Paleocene-Eocene Thermal Maximum. *Science*, 302(4), 1551–1554. https://doi.org/10.1029/2001gc000200
- Zack, S. P., Penkrot, T. A., Krause, D. W., & Maas, M. C. (2005). A new apheliscine "condylarth" mammal from the late Paleocene of Montana and Alberta and the phylogeny of "hyopsodontis." *Acta Palaeontologica Polonica*, *50*(4), 809–830.

- Zhang, L., Hay, W. W., Wang, C., & Gu, X. (2019). The evolution of latitudinal temperature gradients from the latest Cretaceous through the Present. *Earth-Science Reviews*, 189(April 2018), 147–158. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.earscirev.2019.01.025
- Zizka, A., Silvestro, D., Andermann, T., Azevedo, J., Duarte Ritter, C., Edler, D., Farooq, H., Herdean, A., Ariza, M., Scharn, R., Svantesson, S., Wengström, N., Zizka, V., & Antonelli, A. (2019). CoordinateCleaner: standardized cleaning of occurrence records from biological collection databases. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*, *10*(5), 744–751. https://doi.org/10.1111/2041-210X.13152

Supplementary Information

1. Updating the SALMAs

The International stages (International Commission of Stratigraphy or ICS, 2020) are compared to the out-of-date SALMAs from the PBDB and the updated SALMA from this study.



For the latter, I have performed a literature review to extract the most recent information on the SALMAs age limits. The first column has the SALMA names currently used in the literature. The next two columns have the updated lower (max Ma) and upper (min Ma) boundaries for each SALMA. The fourth column shows the references used for each SALMA. Finally, the last column presents the SALMA names used in the PBDB – some are outdated and replaced (example the Uquian) and those are indicated in bold.

Current SALMAs	max (Ma)	min (Ma)	Notes & references	Old-PBDB SALMAs
Lujanian	0.13	0.08	(Cione & Tonni, 1999; Pardiñas et al., 2004; Tonni et al., 2003)	Lujanian
Bonaerian	0.78	0.13	(Cione & Tonni, 1999; Verzi et al., 2004)	Lujanian
Ensenadan	2	0.78	Upper Ensenadan ~ 0.78Ma (MacFadden et al., 1983) for upper limit of Ensenadan age: Ensenadan/ Marplanan ~2Ma (Cione & Tonni, 1995, 1999)	Ensenadan
Marplatan	3.27	2	Ensenadan/ Marplanan ~2Ma (Cione & Tonni, 1995, 1999) Marplatan/ Chapadmalalan 3.27Ma (Schultz et al., 1998; Tomassini et al., 2013; Zárate, 2005)	Uquian
Chapadmalalan	4.5-5	3.27	Marplatan/ Chapadmalalan 3.27Ma Chapadmalalan/ Montehermosan 4.5/5Ma (Tomassini et al., 2013; Zárate, 2005)	Chapadmalalan
Montehermosan	5.2-8	4.5-5	Chapadmalalan/ Montehermosan 4.5/5Ma (Tomassini et al., 2013; Zárate, 2005) Montehermosan/ Huayquerian: base of Montehermosan at 7.1Ma (Reguero & Candela, 2011) but new findings do not support the 6.8/7Ma extension, but a 5.28Ma age (Tomassini et al., 2013)	Montehermosan
Huayquerian	8.5	5.28	(Tomassini et al., 2013) 8.5 Ma (Cione & Tonni, 2001; Reguero & Candela, 2011)	Huayquerian
Chasicoan	10	8.7	Upper limit <9.02 (8.7) Ma (Zárate et al., 2007) and lower limit ~10Ma (>10Ma) (Cione et al., 2000; Cione & Tonni, 2005; Zárate et al., 2007)	Chasicoan
Mayoan	11.8	10	11.8–10Ma (Flynn & Swisher III, 1995)	Mayoan
Laventan	13.5	11.8	13.5–11.8Ma (Madden et al., 1997)	Laventan
Colloncuran	15.7	14	15.7–14Ma (Bondesio et al., 1980; Madden et al., 1997; Marshall et al., 1977)	Colloncuran
Santacrucian	18	15.6	18–15.6 Ma (Cuitiño et al., 2016; Fleagle et al., 2013; Perkins et al., 2012)	Friasian Santacrucian
Pinturan?	19.0 4	17.5	19.04 to 17.5 Ma (Dunn et al., 2013)	Colhuehuapian
Colhuehuapian	21	20.1	21.0– 20.1 Ma (Dunn et al., 2013)	Colhuehuapian
Deseadan	29.4	24.2	29.4–24.2 (Dunn et al., 2013)	Deseadan
Tinguirirican	33.6	31.6	33.6–31.3 Ma (Dunn et al., 2013)	Tinguirirican
Mustersan	38.2	38	38.2– 38 (Dunn et al., 2013)	Divisaderan
Barrancan (Casamayoran subage)	41.7	39	41.7 to 39.0 Ma (Dunn et al., 2013)	Casamayoran
Vacan (Casamayoran subage)	46	44	46-44 Ma (Woodburne, Goin, Bond, et al., 2014)	Casamayoran
"Sapoan"	48.5	47	48.5 – 47 Ma (Tejedor et al., 2009; Woodburne, Goin, Raigemborn, et al., 2014)	Mustersan?
Riochican	49	48.5	49 Ma – 48.5 Ma (Woodburne, Goin, Raigemborn, et al., 2014)	Riochican
Itaboraian	49.5 12	53	49.512 Ma – 53 Ma (Woodburne, Goin, Raigemborn, et al., 2014)	Itaboraian

Peligran	63.2	63.8	63.2 – 63.8 Ma (Clyde et al., 2014; Woodburne, Goin, Raigemborn, et al., 2014)	Peligran
Tiupampan	64	65.6	64Ma – 65.6 Ma (Woodburne, Goin, Bond, et al., 2014)	Tiupampan

2. Alpha diversity

I calculated alpha diversity or local richness by counting the number of unique species in each collection (or fossil locality).

I also incorporated "cryptic diversity" by looking at occurrences indeterminate at species level in each collection and counting potentially distinct species using the occurrence's higher taxonomic classification in the PBDB. Thus, we used the identified name of occurrences classified in all levels (species to order) to calculate cryptic alpha diversity.

Cryptic diversity, while it can be very informative, has often been overlooked in the fossil record, with a few exceptions (Close et al., 2019; Dunne et al., 2018; Mannion et al., 2011).

Here, I calculate cryptic alpha diversity in two ways. The relaxed approach was performed similarly to that in other papers (Close et al., 2019; Dunne et al., 2018). These authors also refer to it as indeterminate richness. It is a less conservative approach, where diversity equals the number of unique occurrence names, with vaguely classified occurrences (i.e. not in species level, example Genus sp. or Family indet.) counting as separate species.

I also calculate cryptic alpha diversity in a more conservative approach (resembling that of Mannion et al., (2011)). Occurrences that are not classified at species level are considered distinct only if they belong to an order not already represented in the collection. Counts per collection are expected to be lower than the previous approach.

Note that both approaches consider occurrences with cf. aff. ? etc. as the same species (for example *Macrauchenia cf. patagonica* is considered the same species as *Macrauchenia patagonica*). In both approaches, informal species (e.g. <sp. A>, <sp. B> etc.) are also not considered distinct species.

In the following example on a fossil collection, alpha diversity (excluding cryptic diversity) would be equal to 1, as the only recognised species for this collection would be *Macrauchenia patagonica*. However, the conservative cryptic alpha diversity for the same collection would be equal to 2, recognising the additional distinct species Toxodontia indet. Finally, the relaxed cryptic alpha diversity would equal 4, in addition recognising *Macrauchenia sp.* and Macrauchenidae indet. as distinct species.

Order	Occurrence
Litopterna	Macrauchenia patagonica
Litopterna	Macrauchenia cf. patagonica
Litopterna	Macrauchenia sp.
Litopterna	<i>Macrauchenia</i> <sp. a=""></sp.>
Litopterna	<i>Macrauchenia</i> <sp. b=""></sp.>
Litopterna	Macrauchenidae indet.
Toxodontia	Toxodontia indet.

Alpha diversity, as well as "relaxed" cryptic alpha diversity is calculated and plotted in the following graphs.



In the following graph is shown the relation between the "relaxed" cryptic alpha diversity versus the "conservative" cryptic alpha diversity. The points are collections, and this graph shown an obvious correlation, especially in collections with less diversity.



3. Raw counts

In the following table are shown raw counts of cells, collections, references, genera and species per time bin. Cell counts are correlated with genera counts (Rho = 0.967, p < 0.001). Same for collection counts vs genera (Rho = 0.881, p < 0.001) and for reference counts vs genera (Rho = 0.947, p < 0.001). Spearman's test showed very positive (Rho = 0.931) and statistically significant (p < 0.001) correlation between accepted genera mean counts and accepted species mean counts. Therefore, it would be redundant to do all analyses for both genera and species level. I run them only in genus level because I believe that species counts are more prone to taxonomic bias.

name	max_age	min_age	mid_age	bin	genus_mean	collections_mean	species_mean	references_mean	cells_mean
Pleistocene	2.588	0.0117	1.29985	18	198	516	279	300	236
Piacenzian	3.6	2.588	3.094	17	98	150	80	93	66
Zanclean	5.332	3.6	4.466	16	127	199	135	135	85
Messinian	7.246	5.332	6.289	15	101	149	105	113	76

Tortonian	11.62	7.246	9.433	14	132	190	139	150	77
Serravallian	13.82	11.608	12.714	13	70	235	83	97	37
Langhian	15.97	13.82	14.895	12	76	104	99	77	47
Burdigalian	20.44	15.97	18.205	11	123	216	214	162	94
Aquitanian	23.03	20.44	21.735	10	51	50	57	55	26
Chattian	28.1	23.03	25.565	9	98	89	109	91	49
Rupelian	33.9	28.1	31	8	83	69	92	66	44
Priabonian	38	33.9	35.95	7	8	7	8	4	7
Bartonian	41.3	38	39.65	6	85	85	144	55	36
Lutetian	47.8	41.3	44.55	5	37	35	47	22	16
Ypresian	56	47.8	51.9	4	36	14	35	25	11
Thanetian	59.2	56	57.6	3	2	2	2	2	3
Selandian	61.6	59.2	60.4	2	3	4	4	4	3
Danian	66	61.6	63.8	1	8	5	11	4	2

4. Diversity (SQS with grid-cell rarefaction)

This is the sqs (q=0.4) diversity with grid-cell rarefaction (GCR) applied. The curve shows similarity to that of the diversity without GCR, except in the Piacenzian (late Pliocene) where this curve shows a diversity dip.



5. Preservation rates

In the following graph I show preservation rates calculated per time bin, using PyRate.



6. Diversification rates with PyRate

The histograms (frequencies) show the calculated times of rate shifts and calculate Bayes Factors in order to determine if the time of a rate shift is supported by a significant posterior probability. Positive evidence of rate shift is when logBF > 2 (lower dashed line) and strong evidence of rate shift is when logBF > 6 (higher dashed line).



7. Westerhold mean-per-timebin global curve

Palaeotemperature curve, based on the δ^{18} O data from Westerhold et al., (2020). The grey area shows the maximum and minimum mean temperature range of each time bin.



I tested the correlation of these palaeotemperature data with (non-GCR) eutherian diversity. There is not a statistically significant correlation between the global palaeotemperature d18O proxy (Westerhold et al., 2020) and eutherian diversity in South America (slope = 0.670, p = 0.429). This could suggest more local/regional environmental drivers exist.

	Slope (Estimate)
δ ¹⁸ Ο	0.670 (p = 0.429)
Intercept Estimate	Adjusted R squared
12.702 (p > 0.001)	-0.024 (p = 0.429)

8. Andean uplift

The following graph shows the mean values (in m) of Andean uplift per time bin.



9. South American continent palaeoclimatic variable curves (Getech stage-level from HadCM3)

Mean temperature, precipitation, topography (altitude in m), and number of land cells per time bin, for South America. These data come from the HadCM3 models.



I calculated the regression between South American continent palaeoenvironmental variables & SQS diversity without GCR. There is no statistically significant correlation between temperature, precipitation and topography on eutherian diversity in South America.

	Slope (Estimate)
Temperature	-0.973 (p = 0.095)
Precipitation	0.714 (p = 0.871)
Topography	0.018 (p = 0.217)
Intercept Estimate	Adjusted R squared
25.709 (p = 0.126)	0.052 (p = 0.337)

10.Individual eutherian group diversity curves & regression with wholeeutherian curve (non GCR)

Performed a general least-square regression (GLS) to test the effect of caviomorph, xenarthran and SANU diversity curves on full eutherian curve (non GCR).

	Number of unique genera
caviomorphs	336
xenarthrans	390
SANU	386

All groups were found to significantly and positively drive the all-eutherian diversity curve. Xenarthrans have the biggest effect (slope = 1.026) followed by caviomorphs (slope = 0.944) and SANU (slope = 0.868).

	Slope (Estimate)
caviomorphs	0.944 (p = 0.036)
xenarthrans	1.025 (p > 0.002)
SANUs	0.868 (p = 0.008)
Intercept Estimate	Adjusted R squared
4.097 (p = 0.267)	0.879 (p = 0.001)

11.Metatherian diversity (without GCR) I calculated the SQS diversity of metatherians, in the same way as in eutherians in this thesis.



12. Latitudinal SQS diversity for specific time periods

The following graphs were produced, for periods with enough data that could produce more than one point.



13. Palaeoenvironmental variables in latitude

I also calculated the HadCM3 modelled palaeoenvironmental variables mean (faded area consists of maximum and minimum values for each bin).



I calculated a regression of spatial palaeoenvironmental variables and eutherian diversity (non GCR). Analyses either didn't have a large enough sample size, or showed a non-significant effect of palaeoenvironmental variables on eutherian diversity latitudinally. The exception is the Pleistocene, where latitudinal distribution of temperature (slope = 0.765, p = 0.015) and most importantly precipitation (slope = -4.329, p = 0.027) significantly drive eutherian diversity.

	Slope (Estimate)
Temperature	0.765 (p = 0.015)
Precipitation	-4.329 (p = 0.027)
Topography	0.004 (p = 0.0.152)
Intercept Estimate	Adjusted R squared
15.592 (p = 0.037)	0.998 (p = 0.025)

14. Raw counts of modern South American placentals per latitude

I calculated the raw counts of unique general of extant South American placentals for each latitudinal bin, based on data from GBIF.



15. Diversification rates (SQS without GCR)

I calculated sampled-in-bin (SIB) and corrected SIB (CSIB) diversification rates by time bin (Alroy, 2008) using the divDyn package in R.



Similarly, I calculated the following origination and extinction rates per time bin: second-for-third (2f3) rates (Alroy, 2015) and corrected three-timer (C3t) rates (Alroy, 2008).



16.Occurrence-based palaeoclimatic variable curves

I have calculated palaeoenvironmental variables per time bin. These are the mean values (faded area is restricted by the maximum and minimum value in each time bin) of each variable, calculated taking into account only cells that contain fossil occurrences used in this thesis.



I performed a regression between these occurrence-based palaeoenvironmental variables & SQS diversity without GCR. The regression results show that temperature (slope = 1.166, p < 0.001) and humidity (slope = -2.45, p < 0.001) drive South American eutherian diversity.

	Slope (Estimate)
Temperature	0.804 (p = 0.432
Precipitation	0.994 (p = 0.755)
Topography	-1.584 (p = 0.336)
Intercept Estimate	Adjusted R squared
12.115 (p = 0.434)	-0.228 (p = 0.770)

Supplementary Information References

- Alroy, J. (2008). Dynamics of origination and extinction in the marine fossil record. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, *105*(suppl. 1), 11536–11542.
- Alroy, J. (2015). A more precise speciation and extinction rate estimator. *Paleobiology*, *41*(04), 633–639. https://doi.org/10.1017/pab.2015.26
- Bondesio, P., Rabassa, J., Pascual, R., Vucetich, M. G., & Scillato-Yané, G. J. (1980). La formación Collon-Cura del Pilcaniyeu viejo y sus alrededores [Río Negro, República Argentina]. Su antiguedad y las condiciones ambientales según su distribución, su litogénesis sus vertebrados. 2º Congreso Argentino de Paleontología y Bioestratigrafía y 1º Congreso Latinoamericano de Paleontología, 2º Congres, 85–99.
- Cione, A. L., Azpelicueta, M. de las M., Bond, M., Carlini, A. A., Casciotta, J. R., Cozzuol, M. A., de la Fuente, M. S., Gasparini, Z., Goin, F. J., Noriega, J. I., Scillato-Yané, G. J., Soibelzon, L. H., Tonni, E. P., Verzi, D. H., Vucetich, M. G., & de Las, M. (2000). Miocene vertebrates from Entre Ríos province, eastern Argentina. In F. Aceñolaza & R. Herbst (Eds.), *El Neógeno de Argentina* (Vol. 14, Issue January, pp. 191–237). Serie Correlación Geológica. http://sedici.unlp.edu.ar/bitstream/handle/10915/5357/Documento_completo.pdf?sequence=1& isAllowed=y
- Cione, A. L., & Tonni, E. P. (1995). Chronostratigraphy and "Land-Mammal Ages" in the Cenozoic of southern South America: principles, practices, and the "Uquian" problem. *Journal of Paleontology*, *69*(01), 135–159. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0022336000026998
- Cione, A. L., & Tonni, E. P. (1999). Biostratigraphy and chronological scale of upper-most Cenozoic in the Pampean Area, Argentina. *Quaternary of South America and Antarctic Peninsula, January*, 23–51.
- Cione, A. L., & Tonni, E. P. (2001). Correlation of Pliocene to Holocene southern South American and European vertebrate-bearing units. *Bolletino CONSIGLIO NAZIONALE DELLE ..., 40*(2), 167–173.
- Cione, A. L., & Tonni, E. P. (2005). Bioestratigrafía basada en mamíferos del Cenozoico superior de la provincia de Buenos Aires, Argentina. *Geología y Recursos Minerales de La Provincia de Buenos Aires, 11*(JANUARY), 183–200. https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Alberto_Cione/publication/261358257_Bioestratigrafia_ba sada_en_mamiferos_del_Cenozoico_superior_de_la_region_pampeana/links/0c96053486260 4bfa3000000.pdf
- Close, R. A., Benson, R. B. J., Alroy, J., Behrensmeyer, A. K., Benito, J., Carrano, M. T., Cleary, T. J., Dunne, E. M., Mannion, P. D., Uhen, M. D., & Butler, R. J. (2019). Diversity dynamics of Phanerozoic terrestrial tetrapods at the local-community scale. *Nature Ecology and Evolution*, 3(4), 590–597. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41559-019-0811-8
- Clyde, W. C., Wilf, P., Iglesias, A., Slingerland, R. L., Barnum, T., Bijl, P. K., Bralower, T. J., Brinkhuis, H., Comer, E. E., Huber, B. T., Ibañez-Mejia, M., Jicha, B. R., Krause, J. M., Schueth, J. D., Singer, B. S., Raigemborn, M. S., Schmitz, M. D., Sluijs, A., & Zamaloa, M. del C. (2014). New age constraints for the Salamanca Formation and lower Río Chico Group in the western San Jorge Basin, Patagonia, Argentina: Implications for cretaceous-paleogene extinction recovery and land mammal age correlations. *Bulletin of the Geological Society of America*, *126*(3–4), 289–306. https://doi.org/10.1130/B30915.1

- Cuitiño, J. I., Fernícola, J. C., Kohn, M. J., Trayler, R., Naipauer, M., Bargo, M. S., Kay, R. F., & Vizcaíno, S. F. (2016). U-Pb geochronology of the Santa Cruz Formation (early Miocene) at the Río Bote and Río Santa Cruz (southernmost Patagonia, Argentina): Implications for the correlation of fossil vertebrate localities. *Journal of South American Earth Sciences*, 70, 198– 210. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsames.2016.05.007
- Dunn, R. E., Madden, R. H., Kohn, M. J., Schmitz, M. D., Strömberg, C. A. E., Carlini, A. A., Re, G., Crowley, J. L., & Ré, G. H. (2013). A new chronology for middle Eocene-early Miocene South American Land Mammal Ages. *Bulletin of the Geological Society of America*, 125(3–4), 539– 555. https://doi.org/10.1130/B30660.1
- Dunne, E. M., Close, R. A., Button, D. J., Brocklehurst, N., Cashmore, D. D., Lloyd, G. T., & Butler, R. J. (2018). Diversity change during the rise of tetrapods and the impact of the 'carboniferous rainforest collapse.' *Proceedings of the Royal Society: Biological Sciences*, 285, 20172730. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2017.2730
- Fleagle, J. G., Perkins, M. E., Heizler, M. T., Nash, B., Bown, T. M., Tauber, A. A., Dozo, M. T., & Tejedor, M. F. (2013). Absolute and relative ages of fossil localities in the Santa Cruz and Pinturas Formations. *Early Miocene Paleobiology in Patagonia: High-Latitude Paleocommunities* of the Santa Cruz Formation, May, 41–58. https://doi.org/10.1017/cbo9780511667381.004
- Flynn, J. J., & Swisher III, C. C. (1995). Cenozoic South American Land Mammal ages: correlation to global geochronologies. In *Geochronological time scales and global stratigraphic correlation* (pp. 317–333). http://archives.datapages.com/data/sepm_sp/SP54/Cenozoic_South_American_Land_Mamma I_Ages.pdf
- MacFadden, B. J., Siles, O., Zeitler, P., Johnson, N. M., & Campbell, K. E. (1983). Magnetic polarity stratigraphy of the middle Pleistocene (Ensenadan) Tarija Formation of southern Bolivia. *Quaternary Research*, *19*(2), 172–187. https://doi.org/10.1016/0033-5894(83)90003-0
- Madden, R. H., Guerrero, J., Kay, R. F., Flynn, J. J., Swisher III, C. C., & Walton, A. H. (1997). The Laventan Stage and Laventan Age; New Chronostratigraphic and geochronologic units for the Miocene of South America. Vertebrate Paleontology in the Neotropics: The Miocene Fauna of La Ventra, Colombia, June 2015, 499–519.
- Mannion, P. D., Upchurch, P., Carrano, M. T., & Barrett, P. M. (2011). Testing the effect of the rock record on diversity: A multidisciplinary approach to elucidating the generic richness of sauropodomorph dinosaurs through time. *Biological Reviews*, *86*(1), 157–181. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-185X.2010.00139.x
- Marshall, L. G., Pascual, R., Curtis, G. H., & Drake, R. E. (1977). South American Geochronology: Radiometric Time Scale for Middle to Late Tertiary Mammal-Bearing Horizons in Patagonia. *Science*, *195*(4284), 1325–1328. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.195.4284.1325
- Pardiñas, U. F. J., Cione, A. L., Cristóbal, J. S., Verzi, D. H., & Tonni, E. P. (2004). A New Last Interglacial Continental Vertebrate Assemblage in Central-Eastern Argentina. *Revista Brasileira De Biologia, January*, 111–112.
- Perkins, M. E., Fleagle, J. G., Heizler, M. T., Nash, B., Bown, T. M., Tauber, A. A., & Dozo, M. T. (2012). Tephrochronology of the Miocene Santa Cruz and Pinturas Formations, Argentina. In S. F. Vizcaino, R. F. Kay, & M. S. Bargo (Eds.), *Early Miocene Paleobiology in Patagonia: High-Latitude Paleocommunities of the Santa Cruz Formation* (pp. 23–40). Cambridge University Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9780511667381.003

- Reguero, M. A., & Candela, A. M. (2011). Late Cenozoic mammals from the northwest of Argentina. *Cenozoic Geology of the Central Andes of Argentina*, 411–426.
- Schultz, P. H., Zárate, M. A., Hames, W. E., & Camilión, C. (1998). A 3.3-Ma impact in Argentina and possible consequences. *Science*, 282(5396), 2061–2063. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.282.5396.2061
- Tejedor, M. F., Goin, F. J., Gelfo, J. N., López, G., Bond, M., Carlini, A. A., Scillato-Yané, G. J., Woodburne, M. O., Chornogubsky, L., Aragón, E., Reguero, M. A., Czaplewski, N. J., Vincon, S., Martin, G. M., & Ciancio, M. R. (2009). New Early Eocene Mammalian Fauna from Western Patagonia, Argentina. *American Museum Novitates*, 3638(3638), 1–43. https://doi.org/10.1206/577.1
- Tomassini, R. L., Montalvo, C. I., Deschamps, C. M., & Manera, T. (2013). Biostratigraphy and biochronology of the Monte Hermoso Formation (early Pliocene) at its type locality, Buenos Aires Province, Argentina. *Journal of South American Earth Sciences*, 48, 31–42. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsames.2013.08.002
- Tonni, E. P., Huarte, R. A., Carbonari, J. E., & Figini, A. J. (2003). New radiocarbon chronology for the Guerrero Member of the Luján Formation (Buenos Aires, Argentina): palaeoclimatic significance. Quaternary International, 109–110, 45–48. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1040-6182(02)00201-X
- Verzi, D. H., Deschamps, C. M., & Tonni, E. P. (2004). Biostratigraphic and palaeoclimatic meaning of the Middle Pleistocene South American rodent Ctenomys kraglievichi (Caviomorpha, Octodontidae). *Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology*, 212(3–4), 315–329. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.palaeo.2004.06.010
- Westerhold, T., Marwan, N., Drury, A. J., Liebrand, D., Agnini, C., Anagnostou, E., Barnet, J. S. K., Bohaty, S. M., de Vleeschouwer, D., Florindo, F., Frederichs, T., Hodell, D. A., Holbourn, A. E., Kroon, D., Lauretano, V., Littler, K., Lourens, L. J., Lyle, M., Pälike, H., ... Zachos, J. C. (2020). An astronomically dated record of Earth's climate and its predictability over the last 66 million years. *Science*, *369*(6509), 1383–1388. https://doi.org/10.1126/SCIENCE.ABA6853
- Woodburne, M. O., Goin, F. J., Bond, M., Carlini, A. A., Gelfo, J. N., López, G. M., Iglesias, A., & Zimicz, A. N. (2014). Paleogene land mammal faunas of South America; a response to global climatic changes and indigenous floral diversity. In *Journal of Mammalian Evolution* (Vol. 21, Issue 1). https://doi.org/10.1007/s10914-012-9222-1
- Woodburne, M. O., Goin, F. J., Raigemborn, M. S. M. S., Heizler, M. T., Gelfo, J. N., & Oliveira, E. v. (2014). Revised timing of the South American early Paleogene land mammal ages. *Journal of South American Earth Sciences*, 54, 109–119. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsames.2014.05.003
- Zárate, M. A. (2005). El Cenozoico tardío continental de la provincia de Buenos Aires. *Relatorio Del XVI Congreso Geológico Argentino*, 139–158.
- Zárate, M. A., Schultz, P. H., Blasi, A., Heil, C., King, J., & Hames, W. (2007). Geology and geochronology of type Chasicoan (late Miocene) mammal-bearing deposits of Buenos Aires (Argentina). *Journal of South American Earth Sciences*, 23(1), 81–90. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsames.2006.09.018